
 
 
 

 
James Whiteman 

Managing Director 
 

 

 

Guildford Borough Council 

Millmead House, Millmead, Guildford, Surrey  GU2 4BB 

www.guildford.gov.uk 

Contact: Andrea Carr  

Committee Services 5 October 2018 

01483 444058  

 
Dear Councillor 
 
Your attendance is requested at a meeting of the PLACE-MAKING AND INNOVATION 
EXECUTIVE ADVISORY BOARD to be held in Council Chamber, Millmead House, 
Millmead, Guildford, Surrey GU2 4BB on MONDAY 15 OCTOBER 2018 at 7.00 pm. 
 
Yours faithfully 

 
James Whiteman 
Managing Director 
 

MEMBERS OF THE EXECUTIVE ADVISORY BOARD 
 

Chairman: Councillor Nils Christiansen 
Vice-Chairman: Councillor Angela Goodwin 

 
Councillor Alexandra Chesterfield 
Councillor David Elms 
Councillor Andrew Gomm 
Councillor Liz Hogger 
Councillor Jennifer Jordan 
 

Councillor Julia McShane 
Councillor Dennis Paul 
Councillor Mike Piper 
Councillor David Quelch 
Councillor Jenny Wicks 
 

Authorised Substitute Members: 
 
Councillor Adrian Chandler 
Councillor Colin Cross 
Councillor David Goodwin 
Councillor Gillian Harwood 
Councillor Christian Holliday 
Councillor Liz Hooper 
Councillor Nigel Kearse 
 

Councillor Sheila Kirkland 
Councillor Bob McShee 
Councillor Tony Phillips 
Councillor Caroline Reeves 
Councillor Tony Rooth 
Councillor Pauline Searle 
 

 
WEBCASTING NOTICE 

This meeting will be recorded for live and/or subsequent broadcast on the Council’s 
website in accordance with the Council’s capacity in performing a task in the public 
interest and in line with the Openness of Local Government Bodies Regulations 2014.  
The whole of the meeting will be recorded, except where there are confidential or 
exempt items, and the footage will be on the website for six months. 
 
If you have any queries regarding webcasting of meetings, please contact Committee 
Services. 

 
QUORUM: 4 

 



  
 

 

THE COUNCIL’S STRATEGIC FRAMEWORK  
 

Vision – for the borough 
 
For Guildford to be a town and rural borough that is the most desirable place to live, work 
and visit in South East England. A centre for education, healthcare, innovative cutting-
edge businesses, high quality retail and wellbeing. A county town set in a vibrant rural 
environment, which balances the needs of urban and rural communities alike. Known for 
our outstanding urban planning and design, and with infrastructure that will properly cope 
with our needs. 
 
 
Three fundamental themes and nine strategic priorities that support our vision: 
 

Place-making   Delivering the Guildford Borough Local Plan and providing the 
range of housing that people need, particularly affordable homes 

 
  Making travel in Guildford and across the borough easier  
 
  Regenerating and improving Guildford town centre and other 

urban areas 
 
 
Community   Supporting older, more vulnerable and less advantaged people in 

our community 
 
  Protecting our environment 
 
  Enhancing sporting, cultural, community, and recreational 

facilities 
 
 
Innovation   Encouraging sustainable and proportionate economic growth to 

help provide the prosperity and employment that people need 
 
  Creating smart places infrastructure across Guildford 
 
  Using innovation, technology and new ways of working to 

improve value for money and efficiency in Council services 
 
 
Values for our residents 
 

 We will strive to be the best Council. 

 We will deliver quality and value for money services. 

 We will help the vulnerable members of our community. 

 We will be open and accountable.  

 We will deliver improvements and enable change across the borough. 
 



 

A G E N D A 
ITEM 
NO. 
 

1   APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE AND NOTIFICATION OF SUBSTITUTE 
MEMBERS 
  

2   LOCAL CODE OF CONDUCT AND DECLARATION OF DISCLOSABLE 
PECUNIARY INTERESTS  

 In accordance with the local Code of Conduct, a councillor is required to 
disclose at the meeting any Disclosable Pecuniary Interest (DPI) that they may 
have in respect of any matter for consideration on this agenda.  Any councillor 
with a DPI must not participate in any discussion or vote regarding that matter 
and they must withdraw from the meeting immediately before consideration of 
the matter. 
  
If that DPI has not been registered, the councillor must notify the Monitoring 
Officer of the details of the DPI within 28 days of the date of the meeting.  

Councillors are further invited to disclose any non-pecuniary interest 
which may be relevant to any matter on this agenda, in the interests of 
transparency, and to confirm that it will not affect their objectivity in 
relation to that matter. 
 

3   MINUTES (Pages 1 - 6) 

 To confirm the minutes of the Executive Advisory Board meeting held on  
 

4   TO REPORT ON THE FINDINGS OF THE PLANNING POLICY AND 
HOUSING DELIVERY BOARD SUB GROUP (Pages 7 - 24) 
 

5   STOKE PARK MASTERPLAN (Pages 25 – 196) 
 

6   PROGRESS WITH ITEMS PREVIOUSLY CONSIDERED BY THE EAB (Pages 
197 - 206) 
 

7   EAB WORK PROGRAMME (Pages 207 - 210) 

 To consider and approve the EAB’s draft work programme.  Details of future 
Executive decisions are included.   
 

 
 

Please contact us to request this document in an  
alternative format 



This page is intentionally left blank



PLACE MAKING AND INNOVATION EXECUTIVE ADVISORY BOARD 
 

10 SEPTEMBER 2018 

 
 

 
PLACE-MAKING AND INNOVATION EXECUTIVE ADVISORY BOARD 

10 September 2018 
 * Councillor Nils Christiansen (Chairman) 

* Councillor Angela Goodwin (Vice-Chairman) 
 

* Councillor Alexandra Chesterfield 
* Councillor David Elms 
* Councillor Andrew Gomm 
* Councillor Liz Hogger 
* Councillor Jennifer Jordan 
 

  Councillor Julia McShane 
  Councillor Dennis Paul 
* Councillor Mike Piper 
* Councillor David Quelch 
* Councillor Jenny Wicks 

 
* Present 

 
Councillors Matt Furniss, Nikki Nelson-Smith and Tony Rooth were also in attendance. 
 

PMI1   APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE AND NOTIFICATION OF SUBSTITUTE MEMBERS  
An apology for absence was received from Councillor Julia McShane.  Councillor Caroline 
Reeves attended as a substitute for Councillor Julia McShane. 
 

PMI2   LOCAL CODE OF CONDUCT AND DECLARATION OF DISCLOSABLE 
PECUNIARY INTERESTS  

There were no declarations of interest. 
 

PMI3   MINUTES  
The minutes of the meeting of the Executive Advisory Board held on 9 April 2018 were 
agreed as a correct record, and signed by the Chairman. 
 

PMI4   STREET NAMING AND NUMBERING POLICY: UPDATED POLICY INCLUDING 
CHARGING PROPOSALS AND PUBLIC SIGNAGE CONSULTATION  

The Council had statutory functions under Sections 17, 18 and 19 of the Public Health Act 
1925 for the naming of streets within the Borough and for the numbering of houses and other 
buildings in the Borough under Sections 64 and 65 of the Town Improvement Clauses Act 
1847. 
  
The Board considered a report which set out the background to the proposed Street Naming 
and Numbering (SNN) policy and charging proposal together with options for new Borough 
wide standard street signs to be considered for all new signage.  The report consulted the 
Board prior to public consultation on the proposals which would inform final 
recommendations to the Executive for a decision in autumn 2018. 
  
The policy included a proposal to charge fees for certain types of work currently undertaken 
for commercial organisations without any form of cost recovery by the Council.  It was 
expected this change, if adopted, would generate income of approximately £30,000 per 
annum to offset the costs of the services.  Fees were already levied by other councils in 
Surrey for these services and this proposal would align the Council with those authorities. 
  
Appended to the report for information was a Street Nameplate Maintenance Operational 
Change Proposal, which had been agreed by the Council’s Corporate Management Team, 
to transfer non-ICT tasks related to SNN to more appropriate service areas of the Council. 
  

Page 1

Agenda item number: 3



PLACE MAKING AND INNOVATION EXECUTIVE ADVISORY BOARD 
 

10 SEPTEMBER 2018 

 
 

The report recommended that the ICT Manager, in consultation with the Lead Councillor for 
Infrastructure and Governance, undertake a public consultation incorporating feedback from 
the Board and report the outcome of the consultations and recommendations in respect of 
the policy, charges and signage to the Executive for a decision regarding final approval of 
the scheme.  This would provide policy and standards in respect of statutory functions 
relating to SNN in the interests of the efficient administration of public services. 
  
The Board was advised that the SNN Policy provided a clear and transparent framework for 
SNN and enabled the Council to defend against poor or inappropriate naming and 
challenges.  The proposed new automated electronic process would improve efficiency and 
effectiveness of the SNN service and reduce costs.  There were currently three types of sign 
format across the Borough and the Board was invited to indicate a preference from the two 
options proposed for the new standard signs which would bring consistency.  Option 1 was 
signage in the Kindersley font with the Borough crest and branding, town / parish name and 
postcode whilst Option 2 was plain signage in transport heavy font with the postcode.  
Option 1 offered a positive sense of place and identity for the Borough.  The public 
consultation, which would include the local Access Group, would give the public an 
opportunity to express their views in respect of the signage and engage with the process.  It 
was considered necessary for the Council to recover its signage costs, which would increase 
in the event of proposed new developments taking place. 
  
The following points arose as a result of questions and discussion in respect of the SNN 
Policy: 
  

             The 14 calendar day consultation period for consultees to respond to a proposed 
street name was set in legislation and failure to respond within that timeframe could 
lead to a default acceptance of a street name.  Ward Councillors would be involved 
and there would be merit in amenity groups and residents’ associations being included 
as consultees. 

             The town or relevant parish name with postcode would be utilised for Option 1 signage 
and this should be made clear during the public consultation. 

             The Council was not permitted to derive a profit through the SNN Policy. 

             All new signs would be the agreed option and existing signs would be replaced on a 
rolling basis as required unless there were name or boundary changes.  Without 
damage, the life of a street sign could be as long as 50 years and there were historic 
signs in Guildford town centre. 

             The customers of the SNN Policy were mainly developers, the Post Office emergency 
services and occasionally householders wishing to change house names. 

             The proposed new electronic process would be automated as far as possible and 
feature a filtering tool to weed out inappropriate names.  Parish clerks should be 
notified of proposed names as part of the process 

             All relevant bodies had been consulted in respect of the SNN Policy.  28 days was the 
statutory consultation period regarding the charging policy and it was suggested that 
this be extended to involve more potential consultees. 

             The street signs would require specialist manufacturing through a joint contract with 
Waverley Borough Council. 

             The Board expressed its support for the proposed SNN Policy with an extended 
consultation period and expressed a preference for Option 1 signage.  It was 
suggested that the Borough branding be deleted from this option and there was mixed 
support for the option with or without the branding. 

 

PMI5   EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC  
As the Board did not discuss Appendix 4 of the report at agenda item 9 (Street Naming and 
Numbering Policy: Updated Policy Including Charging Proposals and Public Signage 

Page 2

Agenda item number: 3



PLACE MAKING AND INNOVATION EXECUTIVE ADVISORY BOARD 
 

10 SEPTEMBER 2018 

 
 

Consultation), which contained commercially sensitive information, it did not become 
necessary to exclude the press and public from the meeting. 
 

PMI6   STREET NAMING AND NUMBERING POLICY: UPDATED POLICY INCLUDING 
CHARGING PROPOSALS AND PUBLIC SIGNAGE CONSULTATION  

Appendix 4 to the above report, which provided indicative signage costs, was noted. 
 

PMI7   RESIDENTIAL EXTENSIONS AND ALTERATIONS SUPPLEMENTARY PLANNING 
DOCUMENT  

The EAB was invited to consider and comment on the draft Residential Extensions and 
Alterations Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) 2018 following the associated public 
consultation and to make recommendations as appropriate to the Executive. 
  
The SPD was a key design document that could assist with providing advice to applicants 
and raising the standard and quality of design in householder alterations and applications.  
Although the document was not part of the Development Plan, it added further detail to the 
policies contained in the Plan and was a material consideration in making planning 
decisions.  Clear design policy could provide a useful tool for officers and Councillors in 
planning assessment and decision-making and for providing advice to applicants, to help 
raise design standards and avoid poor quality planning applications.  It was important that 
any design guidance was clear, current and fit for purpose. 
  
The consultation document had been downloaded from the Council’s website on 900 
occasions and 27 comprehensive, lengthy and useful consultation responses had been 
received.  All the 27 responses had been taken into account in accordance with the 
Statement of Community Involvement and the EAB received a summary of the key issues 
arising from them together with the related officer responses.  The more general responses 
concerned document size, accessibility, colour and the increased use of local photographic 
examples of exemplary and award winning design.  Other policy documents covered some 
of the technical planning issues raised such as side windows, flat roofs and the minimum 
build distance of 1 metre from the boundary, the acceptability of which depended on the 
local context.  Although parking standards, including dimensions, were due for review, they 
were not included in this SPD.  The consultation exercise had included internal consultation 
with all relevant service areas and two design workshops with the Planning Committee.  The 
document was available in printed and on-line versions. 
  
In response to discussion, questions and comments arising from consideration of the SPD, 
the following points were noted / agreed: 
  

             The reference to Neighbourhood Plans on page 4 of the SPD would be highlighted and 
strengthened including identification of the areas with such Plans in place. 

             Although dark skies were not a planning issue, a further SPD being prepared would 
address light spillage.  Individual situations and areas would dictate acceptability. 

             Alternatives to the 45 degree guide applied to windows serving habitable rooms would 
be added to the document. 

             An explanation of balcony roof lights, which would generally be resisted owing to their 
impact on privacy, would be added to the document. 

             Photographs in the document would be referenced and enlarged in the interests of 
clarity. 

             Developers were encouraged to provide larger sized garages in new developments to 
house bins etc. 

             The boundary treatment section on page 38 would be expanded on the subject of 
fence height and style. 

Page 3

Agenda item number: 3



PLACE MAKING AND INNOVATION EXECUTIVE ADVISORY BOARD 
 

10 SEPTEMBER 2018 

 
 

             The formatting of the on-line version of the SPD should be adjusted to ensure 
improved on screen readability. 

             Although it was a fundamental planning principle that extensions were subservient to 
the original property by being set back with long roofscapes, exceptions were 
acceptable where appropriate. 

             Approximately 85% of local authorities and other planning organisations nationally had 
design guidance in place which was similar to the SPD. 

             The SPD carried considerable weight and was a material consideration in determining 
planning applications owing the associated consultation and compatibility with other 
planning policy documents including the Strategic Development Framework which 
addressed the wider master planning of strategic development sites. 

             The timetable for progressing planning policies was initial consultation with 
stakeholders commencing shortly and completing in November 2018 leading to reports 
coming forward in January / February 2019 and consultation documents prepared by 
March 2019. 

 

PMI8   FUTURE USE OF FOXENDEN DEEP SHELTER  
The Property Surveyor gave a presentation introducing a report seeking guidance from the 
Board concerning the future use of Foxenden Deep Shelter.  The presentation explained the 
background to the Deep Shelter; provided a location map of the site; included photographs 
of Allen House Grounds, the Shelter and entrances to the Shelter from the adjoining car 
park; and outlined issues, the proposal, the process and points to consider. 
  
This guidance was sought as a result of interest expressed by a company in taking a lease 
of the Shelter for whisky maturation and occasional trade tastings.  The Shelter, which was 
constructed in 1941 and consisted of approximately 230 metres of 2½ - 3 metre high tunnels 
located 15 metres beneath Allen House Grounds, was formerly opened to the public on 
heritage days but closed in 2010 on safety grounds.  There were various works required to 
make the Shelter suitable for public access and the cost of the works combined with 
management costs could not be justified to allow infrequent public access. 
  
Allen House Grounds were gifted to the Council in 1914 and the Shelter was subject to the 
same restrictive legal covenants and charitable status as the Grounds.  These restrictions 
included sole use as public gardens and pleasure grounds and also a prohibition on the sale, 
production and consumption of alcohol and could only be modified or removed if the Charity 
Commission approved an application for this purpose.  The Charity Commission’s approval 
would also need to be obtained for the grant of a lease of the Shelter.  Any disposal must 
achieve best consideration and be in the best interests of the Charity.  Prior to submitting the 
application to the Charity Commission, a 4 week public consultation in respect of the 
proposals must be undertaken. 
  
The Council was the sole charitable trustee of the Shelter and Grounds and the Executive 
had delegated related decision-making to the Executive Shareholder and Trustee 
Committee.  Following completion of the public consultation, the outcome of the consultation 
must be reported to the Committee and a decision must be taken by the Committee as to 
whether to proceed with the application to the Charity Commission.  The process was likely 
to be lengthy. 
  
If the Trust proceeded with an application to the Charity Commission then the application 
would be either to remove the restrictions on alcohol and use entirely or amend them so they 
did not apply to the Shelter.  The Council’s Parks and Leisure Services favoured the removal 
of the restrictions to enable events to take place on the Grounds. 
  

Page 4

Agenda item number: 3



PLACE MAKING AND INNOVATION EXECUTIVE ADVISORY BOARD 
 

10 SEPTEMBER 2018 

 
 

Regardless of whether the Trust proceeded with a disposal of the Shelter, it may be 
necessary to address the structural issues.  Any expenditure incurred by the Council on the 
Shelter must be treated as charity expenditure on behalf of the Trust and accounted for 
accordingly.  Equally, any income received from leasing the Shelter must be used for the 
benefit of the Trust.  An incoming tenant may agree to undertake the required works in return 
for a rent free period and there may be grant funding available from external funders to cover 
or contribute to the cost of works.  If the Trust proceeded with an application to the Charity 
Commission and this application was successful then the likelihood of being able to obtain a 
tenant increased, thereby creating a potential income stream for the Trust. 
  
The following points arose from questions and discussion regarding the Shelter: 
  

             A public consultation would inform the Council of the level of public interest in the 
future use of the Shelter. 

             Pride in the heritage of the Borough was expressed and it was suggested that the 
tunnels should be strengthened and enhanced as a tourist attraction which could 
generate income in the future.  The Shelter had been a popular tourist attraction when 
previously opened to the public on heritage days. 

             Current costs for pursuing the proposal to remove / modify the covenants and seek a 
tenant related to officer time associated with the consultation and committee process.  
However, in order to make the Shelter usable, there would be significant expenditure 
required on items relating to health and safety, improving ventilation and providing 
lighting.  Historic estimates costed these works at around £20,000.  There were also 
works required to replace load bearing steel beams in the Shelter, which could be in 
the region of £50,000.  Further advice was awaited on the extent of work required and 
the likely cost. 

             Legal advice had confirmed that the restrictive covenants affecting the Grounds also 
applied to the tunnels below. 

  
The Board indicated its support for the Committee to authorise the undertaking of a public 
consultation concerning the removal of the restrictive covenants and the grant of a lease of 
the Shelter and wished to have input into the potential alternative future uses of the Shelter, 
possibly including a heritage element. 
 

PMI9   COUNCILLOR INVOLVEMENT IN THE PREPARATION OF THE BUDGET  
The Board was reminded that in September 2016 and July 2017 both Executive Advisory 
Boards (EABs) had agreed to establish a politically balanced Joint EAB Budget Task Group, 
comprising four councillors appointed by each EAB.  The terms of reference of the Budget 
Task Group were to consider and review for submission to the EABs, Executive and Council: 
  
(1)     the draft General Fund and Housing Revenue Account revenue budgets, and 
  
(2)     the draft General Fund and Housing Revenue Account capital programmes, including 

growth bids to inform the evaluation process.  
  
For 2018-19, each EAB was requested, once again, to appoint four councillors who, 
together, would comprise the Budget Task Group.  The Board agreed to continue with this 
arrangement and appoint three Conservative members and one Liberal Democrat member. 
  
RESOLVED: 
  
That Councillors Alexandra Chesterfield, Colin Cross, Mike Piper and David Quelch be 
appointed to the Joint EAB Budget Task Group for 2018-19. 
  

Page 5

Agenda item number: 3



PLACE MAKING AND INNOVATION EXECUTIVE ADVISORY BOARD 
 

10 SEPTEMBER 2018 

 
 

Reason for Decision: 
  
To ensure backbench councillor involvement in the budget setting process. 
  

PMI10   PROGRESS WITH ITEMS PREVIOUSLY CONSIDERED BY THE EAB  
Progress with items previously considered by the Board were noted. 
 

PMI11   EAB WORK PROGRAMME  
As the Board’s Work Programme had been updated at the EAB / Overview and Scrutiny 
Work Programming meeting which had taken place after the despatch of the agenda for this 
meeting, an updated Work Programme was circulated at the meeting.  The Board agreed 
that future plans and progress for town centre regeneration and for the future use of 
Foxenden Deep Shelter be added to its Work Programme. 
 
 
The meeting finished at 9.12 pm 
 
 
Signed   Date  

  

Chairman 
   

 

Page 6

Agenda item number: 3



 

 
 

Place-making and Innovation Executive Advisory Board Report 

Ward: All 

Report of Head of Planning Services and Regeneration 

Author: Tim Dawes 

Tel: 01483 444650 

Email: tim.dawes@guildford.gov.uk 

Lead Councillor responsible: Councillor Phillip Brooker 

Tel: 07912044546 

Email: philip.brooker@guil@guildford.gov.uk 

Date: 15 October 2018 

To report on the findings of the Planning Policy 
and Housing Delivery Board Sub Group 

Executive Summary 
 
The sub group to the Planning Policy and Housing Delivery Board was set up to drive 
forward some quick wins in speeding up housing delivery across the borough. After 
several meetings and research, the following list of initiatives was agreed to focus on:   
 

 On housing schemes of x5 dwellings or more, to discuss with the applicant if they 

would be willing to reduce the amount of time permitted to build out 

developments from three years to two years by way of a standard condition. 

 

 To look at re-using council properties/offices/garages to be used for housing.   

 

 The planning team are undertaking a project to remove/adjust as many pre 

commencement-planning conditions from their standard list to be effective as of 1 

October 2018.  It is anticipated that only a handful of pre commencement 

conditions would remain post October, for example land contamination and 

archaeology. 

 

 At pre-application stage, if it is known that viability will be cited for not providing 

affordable housing, to encourage the developer to undertake a viability 

assessment at the pre-application advice stage.  

  

 Bite-sized training (pre committee) to be arranged for Councillors in the autumn 

on modular housing. To be provided by Paul Ciniglio of BM3E.   

 

 At pre-application phase, and on major schemes, planning officers will ask 

developers if there are any issues that are likely to hold the development up 

Page 7

Agenda item number: 4



 

 
 

overall, and understand better why some sites aren’t coming forward  

 

 Encourage early consultation by developers with residents and local Councillors 

for  

developments of ten properties or more.   

 

 The North Downs Housing Company be asked to consider initiatives which could 

include modular housing. 

 

 The Planning Development Manager, Tim Dawes to undertake an analysis of 

appeal decisions received within the last six months, to look at recurring material 

themes that the Planning Inspectorate place weight on in concluding that an 

appeal should be permitted.  The Sub-Group felt that an increasing number of 

appeals were being allowed and it was important for Councillors to understand 

any key underlying theme that might assist them in following good decision-

making practices at Planning Committee meetings. 

 
Several of these initiatives are being pushed forward already whereas others are slow 
burners. This report will explore each of these matters in more detail.  
 
Recommendation to EAB 
 

The EAB is asked to note the various initiatives to speed up the delivery of housing in 
Guildford Borough, and to see whether there are any further initiatives to be considered.   

 
Reason(s) for Recommendation:  
 
We are at a critical point from a planning perspective with the new local plan moving 
towards adoption at the start of the new year. We have for years struggled to build a 
sufficient number of houses in the borough, and it is considered that these measures 
identified should assist the quicker delivery of housing across the borough.    

 
1.  Purpose of Report 

 
1.1 The purpose of this report is to ask the EAB to consider and comment on the 

initiatives that have come forward from the sub group of the Planning Policy and 
Housing Delivery board.. 

 
2.  Strategic Priorities 
 

2.1 The fundamental themes of the 2018-2023  Corporate Plan focuses on place 
making and delivering the Guildford Borough Local Plan and providing a range of 
housing that people need, particularly affordable homes, whilst protecting the 
environment.   

 

 

 

Page 8

Agenda item number: 4



 

 
 

3.  Background 
 
3.1 The sub group to the Planning Policy and Housing Delivery Board was set up to 

put together and implement a list of quick wins to drive forward and speed up the 
delivery of housing across the borough and to dovetail with the progress and 
adoption of the new Guildford Borough Local plan. It is worth reminding 
Councillors that paragraph 48 of the recently revised NPPF states that “Local 
Planning Authorities may give great weight to relevant policies in emerging plans 
according to: -  

 
a) The stage of preparation of the emerging plan (the more advanced its 

preparation, the greater the weight that may be given) 
 
b) The extent to which there are unresolved objections to relevant policies 

(the less significant the unresolved objections, the greater the weight that 
may be given); and 

 
c) The degree of consistency of the relevant polices in the emerging plan to 

the framework the closer the policies in the emerging plan to the policies 
in the Framework, the greater the weight that may be given)”  

 
3.2 Nine initiatives were put forward to the main group and these shall be looked at 

in more detail as to what they were and any progress made. 
 

On housing schemes of x5 dwellings or more, to ask the applicant if they would 
be willing to reduce the amount of time permitted to build out developments from 
three years to two years by way of a standard condition 

   
3.3 This is considered good practice and is one that is supported by government 

when appropriate to use. Officers within Development Management have been 
instructed to explore this measure with the applicants on all schemes where 
there is a net gain in housing. We have started to notice some success with this 
initiative. One notable one to point out is an allocated site in the new local plan 
for 148 units and a 70-space care home at Keens Lane, Worplesdon, currently 
subject to LPA approval. The developers have advised that they have never 
previously agreed to such a measure, but in this instance they feel they are in a 
position to move the site on quicker than normal and are happy to sign up to a 12 
month implementation permission. The wording proposed to be used is as 
follows:  

 
“The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of one 
year from the date of this permission.” 

 
 It is considered that this is a positive initiative, one that has begun to be 

implemented and will help speed up the delivery of housing. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 9

Agenda item number: 4



 

 
 

3.4 The item was reported to Planning Committee on 12 September. Members of the 
Planning Committee deferred the item, concerned about the prematurity of the 
local plan, amongst other matters. Our retained barristers on the new local plan 
work (who have advised throughout) and our policy colleagues advise that during 
the local plan examination, there were no comments from the Inspector 
suggesting that the A22 Keens Lane site allocation should be removed from the 
Local Plan, as a matter of soundness. There are no modifications proposed to 
the site allocation policy A22 following the EIP hearing sessions, and the site 
remains proposed to be removed from the Green Belt in the Submission Local 
Plan. In light of this, the combined view is that considerable weight is attached to 
this site allocation policy as part of the emerging Local Plan in accordance with 
relevant NPPF guidance.   

 
   To look at re-using council properties/offices/garages to be used for housing 
 
3.5 The Housing Development Manager undertook this exercise some years back 

with some redundant Council owned garage sites successfully coming forward 
for re-development. A process is currently underway to re-assess Council owned 
buildings and garage sites once again to see what, if any development 
opportunities could be identified. Further, the Housing Development Manager is 
actively looking to identify a Council owned site for a ‘demo project’ for modular 
housing.   

 
3.6 The lead Councillor for Housing and for Development Management has been 

meeting with the Council’s Managing Director to assess carefully our land and 
property portfolio to see whether any further or new opportunities can be 
identified and progressed. 

 

  The planning team are undertaking a project to remove/adjust as many pre 
commencement-planning conditions from their standard list to be effective as of 1 
October 2018.  It is anticipated that only a handful of pre commencement 
conditions would remain post October, for example land contamination and 
archaeology 

 
3.7 Historically, the DM team have worked to a list of standard planning conditions 

totalling approximately 144 conditions. Roughly, 50 plus of these are pre 
commencement conditions. With this initiative, there has been an ongoing review 
and refresh of the standard conditions used and with careful re-wording it has 
been possible to remove nearly all pre commencement conditions to a point 
whereby only the essential ones remain, such as archaeology; ground 
contamination and site levels. 

 
3.8 As well as this, the Town and Country Planning (Pre commencement Conditions 

Regulations 2018 came into force on 1 October 2018. From this date, planning 
permission may not be granted subject to a pre-commencement condition 
without the written agreement of the applicant to the terms of the condition, 
except in the circumstances set out in Regulations. The provisions made in the 
Regulations apply only to conditions on a grant or modification of planning 
permission granted or modified after the coming into force of these Regulations. 

 

Page 10

Agenda item number: 4



 

 
 

3.9 Where a local planning authority has not been able to obtain written agreement 
to a pre-commencement condition it wishes to impose, in the course of 
negotiations it may decide to serve a notice, in accordance with the relevant 
Regulations, which must include the following information: 

a) the text of the proposed pre-commencement condition, 

b) the full reasons for the proposed pre-commencement condition, set out 
clearly and precisely, 

c) the full reasons for the proposed condition being a pre-commencement 
condition, set out clearly and precisely; and, 

d) the date by which any response must be received which must not be 
before the last day of the period of 10 working days beginning with the 
day after the date on which the notice is given. 

3.10 In the absence of a substantive response (that is one that states that the 
applicant does not agree to the imposition of the condition or one which provides 
comments on the proposed conditions) the local planning authority may impose 
the pre-commencement condition without the written agreement of the applicant. 
Officers have been advised to avoid using any pre commencement conditions 
wherever possible and this initiative has been in force for some weeks now. This 
initiative should have a positive effect on the commencement of development 
and remove red tape. 

3.11 There is one caveat to that and that is larger majors and particularly ones that 
are subject to an outline submission with only means of access being 
considered. On these types of applications, there may still be a requirement for 
some pre commencement conditions.    

  
At pre-application stage, if it is known that viability will be cited for not providing 
affordable housing, to encourage the developer to undertake a viability 
assessment at the pre-application advice stage 

 
3.12 Historically when applicants raise the issue of viability an assessment is normally 

produced during the course of determining of a planning application. We instruct 
our own assessors and the process is normally quite lengthy.  

 
3.13 This initiative has been instigated and is now in place. In effect should viability be 

mentioned at the pre application advice stage we would seek to consult external 
experts to evaluate the viability of a scheme prior to any formal planning 
submission. We will as a matter of course be seeking to make viability reports 
publicly available in line with the latest government guidance (para 57 of the 
NPPF July 2018). It is also worth noting that justification from the applicant will be 
required from the applicant for the need for viability assessment. 

 
3.14 It is probably worth pointing out that we would not be able to insist upon this 

initiative but it is something that we will very much encourage. 
 
 
 
 

Page 11

Agenda item number: 4



 

 
 

Bite-sized training (pre committee) to be arranged for Councillors in the autumn 

on modular housing. To be provided by Paul Ciniglio of BM3E. 

 

3.15 Councillors have requested some training on modular housing to understand how 

this form of housing works and whether it can speed up delivery. 

  

3.16 In conjunction with our colleagues in housing, we have identified and booked a 

company called BM3E to deliver training to one of our regular ‘bite sized training 

sessions ‘before Planning Committee on Wednesday 7 November. 

 

3.17 The training will raise awareness of the contribution that prefabricated modular 

housing can make in helping to address the supply crisis of new housing. The 

pros and cons of modular housing as a comparison with traditional construction 

will be made. This will include consideration of cost, speed, quality, compliance 

and limitations. Details of several types of modern system building will be 

presented as examples of what is available to house builders. The trainer who is 

a chartered building surveyor will provide an independent view having worked 

extensively both in and for the affordable housing sector.  

 

At pre-application phase, and on major schemes, planning officers will ask 

developers if there are any issues that are likely to hold the development up 

overall, and understand better why some sites aren’t coming forward  

 

3.18 This initiative is happening in practice already. As well as this, we hold a planning 

agents forum twice yearly with the next one scheduled for 12 November 2018, 

where the subject area could be discussed. In addition, the Director for Planning 

and Regeneration has initiated a ‘Developers Forum’ before the end of the year, 

where this issue will be raised and discussed directly with them. 

 

Encourage early consultation by developers with residents and local Councillors 

for developments of ten properties or more.   

 

3.19 This happens already, but there are clearly different measures employed by 

developers in executing this part of the process. Some make a significant effort 

to engage with residents and Councillors and others only provide a very light 

touch. We will be exploring this further with developers at the developers forum 

and potentially at the planning agents forum. Officers have been made aware of 

this as well and have been asked to raise this very early on in the process and to 

highlight proper engagement as best practice. In addition, the Planning 

Development Manager has raised this subject matter with the Planning Policy 

Manager as to whether there is merit in a supplementary planning document 

(SPD) that ties into the new local plan and sets out clearly what is expected in 

respect of early engagement for small scale and larger scale major 

developments, in line with paragraph 40 of the July 2018 NPPF.      

Page 12

Agenda item number: 4



 

 
 

The North Downs Housing Company to trial initiatives, which could include 

modular housing. 

 
3.20 The Director of Community Services advises the company is keen to develop 

properties in its own right and is looking to acquire suitable sites. The land 
market is challenging in the borough and it is proving difficult to make appropriate 
acquisitions. The company are open to alternative methods of construction and 
are happy to consider options, including modular housing. 

 
The Planning Development Manager, Tim Dawes to undertake an analysis of 

appeal decisions received within the last six months, to look at recurring material 

themes that the Planning Inspectorate place weight on in concluding that an 

appeal should be permitted.  The Sub-Group felt that an increasing number of 

appeals were being allowed and it was important for Councillors to understand 

any key underlying theme that might assist them in following good decision-

making practices at Planning Committee meetings. 

 
3.21 Appendix 2 contains detailed quotes from housing appeal decisions and shows 

what Planning Inspectors are considering when reaching their decisions on larger 
housing schemes. These include the following themes: 

 

 Provision of housing can be a significant consideration in weighing the 
planning balance 

 Inability to demonstrate a 5 year supply of housing still carries great weight 

 There has been a chronic past under-delivery of housing which lends weight 
to granting permission for housing schemes 

 
3.22 The implications of these appeal decisions are that the bar is high for dismissal at 

PINS. Clearly, officers and Councillors need to balance harm against the 
benefits. It is evident though that housing shortage and inability to deliver 
reasonable housing numbers in the past is seen as very substantial and 
significant in the planning balance. 

 
 Delivery and completion of housing and trajectory numbers from the new local 

plan 
 
3.23 It is worth considering the number of houses that are currently being built year in 

and year out and contrasting this delivery rate with the trajectory proposed over 
the coming years. Table 1 reflects housing completions in the three years 
preceding the current year of approximately 326 homes on average. The most 
recent annual figure reflects 299 homes being built in 2017/18.  

 
 
3.24 However, post planned adoption of the Local Plan, a significant increase in the 

number of houses being built is anticipated, in what could be described as a step 
change.  

 

Page 13

Agenda item number: 4



 

 
 

3.25 Anticipated annual delivery of homes is planned to triple (to 905) from its most 
recent level (of 299) after the first two years of the Local Plan being in place, with 
delivery anticipated to peak in 2022/23 (at 1271).   

  
Table 1: Housing completions (pre-adoption of Local Plan) vs. anticipated 
housing trajectory post planned adoption of Local Plan 
    
Annual housing completions (pre-
adoption of Local Plan) 

Housing trajectory – anticipated supply 
(for 5 years post adoption of Local Plan) 

15/16 16/17 17/18 18/19* 19/20 20/21 21/22 22/23 23/24 

387 294 299 284 518 905 1063 1271 1217 
*forecast 
Source: adapted - Guildford Borough Land Availability Assessment (LAA) October 2017: 2018 
Addendum, September 2018 

 
4. Consultations 

 
4.1 The sub group is a Councillor group chaired by Councillor Tony Rooth, guided by 

the Planning Development Manager and Committee Officer. The sub group has 
reported on two occasions to the main group, which includes the Leader of the 
Council and Portfolio holder for parts of the Planning and Regeneration Service 
and the Portfolio holder for Development Management as well as several other 
Councillors and the Managing Director. The main group seemed satisfied with 
the progress made with these initiatives. 

 

5. Equality and Diversity Implications 
 

5.1 No implications apply  

 
6. Financial Implications 
 
6.1 There are no direct financial implications to the Council. If the Council decided to 

assess further their own sites or to submit applications on their own sites then 
there would be associated costs. 

 

7.  Legal Implications 
 
7.1 The legal implications associated with this report are set out within the relevant 

sections. 
 

8.  Human Resource Implications 
 
8.1 There are no human resource implications 
 
 

 

 

 

Page 14

Agenda item number: 4



 

 
 

9.  Conclusion 
 
9.1 In conclusion, the work of the subgroup has been very worthwhile in producing a 

series of initiatives to speed up housing delivery. Several of these measures 
have been acted upon and are already showing some signs of success. The 
exercise dovetails nicely with the new local plan coming forward and sites 
coming forward as part of that process. It also recognised that there are many 
component parts throughout the DM process from pre app; to application; 
potentially multiple reserved matters; discharge of conditions; ratifying section 
106 legal agreement provisions and satisfying other matters such as 278 
agreements or infrastructure requirements that need to work well and efficiently 
to deliver housing in a timely manner.  

 
9.2 We are expecting a lot more major schemes to come forward in the coming 

months and there is genuine concern as to whether we are approving sufficient 
applications in order to deliver the number of houses we are detailing as part of 
the new local plan work and as detailed above. 

 

10.  Appendices 
 

Appendix 1 Minutes of the Planning Policy and Housing Delivery Sub Group 
 

Appendix 2 Inspector quotes from relevant housing appeal decisions   
 

 

Service Sign off date 

Finance / 151 Officer 24/09/18 

Legal / Governance 24/09/18 

HR None 

Equalities None 

Lead Councillor 25/09/2018 

Director of PS 25/09/2018 

Committee Services Ongoing 

 
 

 

 

Page 15

Agenda item number: 4



This page is intentionally left blank



   
   
Sub-Group of the Planning Policy and Housing Delivery Board           
  Thursday 19 July 2018  

 
 

SUB-GROUP OF PLANNING POLICY AND HOUSING DELIVERY BOARD 
 

THURSDAY 19 JULY 2018 
 

 *Councillor Tony Rooth (Chairman)  
 *Councillor Angela Gunning 

Councillor Dennis Paul 
Councillor Mike Parsons 

Councillor Caroline Reeves 
 

Officers: 
*Sophie Butcher, Committee Officer 

*Tim Dawes – Planning Development Manager 
Stuart Harrison – Planning Policy Manager 

 
 

* Present 
 

  Action 
1.  WELCOME AND APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

No apologies had been received for the meeting. 
 

 

2.  TO AGREE THE MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING 20 JUNE 2018 
The Sub-Group agreed the minutes of the previous meeting held on 20 June 2018. 
 

 
 
 
 

3.  TO CONSIDER AND PREPARE SHORT LIST OF QUICK AND EFFECTIVE 
MEANS TO DELIVERY MORE HOUSING 
The Sub-Group recommended the following quick wins to be reported to the 
Planning Policy and Housing Delivery Board at its meeting next week on 25 July: 
 

 On housing schemes of x5 dwellings or more, to ask the applicant if they 
would be willing to reduce the amount of time permitted to build out 
developments from three years to two years by way of a standard condition. 

 

 To look at re-using council properties/offices/garages to be used for housing.   
 

 The planning team are undertaking a project to remove/adjust as many pre 
commencement-planning conditions from their standard list to be effective 
as of 1 October 2018.  It is anticipated that only a handful of pre 
commencement conditions would remain post October, for example land 
contamination and archaeology. 

 

 At pre-application stage, if it is known that viability will be cited for not 
providing affordable housing, to encourage the developer to undertake a 
viability assessment at the pre-application advice stage.  
  

 Bite-sized training (pre committee) to be arranged for Councillors in the 
autumn on modular housing. Likely to be provided by Paul Ciniglio of BM3E.   

 

 At pre-application phase, and on major schemes, planning officers will ask 
developers if there are any issues that were likely to hold the development 
up overall, and understand better why some sites aren’t coming forward  

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Phil 
O’Dwyer/Nick 
Molyneux 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 17

Agenda item number: 4
Appendix 1



   
   
Sub-Group of the Planning Policy and Housing Delivery Board           
  Thursday 19 July 2018  

 
 

 

 Encourage early consultation by developers with residents and local 
councillors for developments of ten properties or more.   
 

 To trial modular housing as part of the North Downs Housing Company 
initiative. 

 

 The Planning Development Manager, Tim Dawes to undertake an analysis 
of appeal decisions received within the last six months, to look at re-
occurring material themes that the Planning Inspectorate place weight on in 
concluding that an appeal should be permitted.  The Sub-Group felt that an 
increasing number of appeals were being allowed and it was important for 
councillors to understand the key underlying themes so that it would assist 
them in following good decision-making practices at Planning Committee 
meetings. 

 
 
 
 
Phil 
O’Dwyer/Nick 
Molyneux 

4.  
 

ANY OTHER BUSINESS 
 There was no other business. 

 
 

   
5.  DATE AND TIME OF NEXT MEETINGS 

 
The dates of forthcoming meetings were scheduled to start at 2pm: 
 

 Wednesday 1 August 2018 – Committee Room 1 

 Wednesday 12 September 2018 – Meeting Room 5 

 Wednesday 24 October 2018 – Committee Room 1 

 Wednesday 28 November 2018 – Meeting Room 8 
 
 

 

 
 

Sophie 
Butcher 

 

 

 

Page 18

Agenda item number: 4
Appendix 1



September 2018 

Allowed appeals - focus on Inspectors reasoning around policy and balancing harm & evidence 

against supply of housing over the last two years. Direct quotes used from Planning Inspectors 

decision letters.   

Land to east of South Cottage Ripley (decision 23 August 2017) (16/P/00608) (26 dwellings) 

 “I have already indicated, in terms of balancing the harm to heritage assets against public 
benefits, that the provision of 26 new residential units half of which would be affordable to 
be a significant benefit in a district that can only demonstrate at best a 2.36 year HLS and 
has a dire need for affordable housing. There is no reason why such a benefit should not be 
regarded as being an important ‘other consideration’. I have also indicated that although 
Appeal Decision APP/Y3615/W/16/3164814 there is some limited overall harm to heritage 
assets there is also some benefit to the CA in the removal of the car display and canopy from 
the High Street frontage.” 

 
120-124 Ash Street, Ash, Surrey (decision date 10 February 2017) (16/P/0454)(9 dwellings) 
 

 “The Council is currently not able to demonstrate a five year supply of housing. Paragraph 49 
of the Framework is therefore applicable. Policy H4 of the Guildford Borough Local Plan 
2003 is out of date as it relates to the supply of housing. However, it still carries significant 
weight as the design related criteria within it are broadly consistent with the Framework. I 
am less persuaded that Policy G5 relates to the supply of housing, though its objectives are 
also generally consistent with the Framework. I have given moderate weight to the 
proposed contribution of up to nine houses towards the supply of housing.” 

 
 “There are no policies within the Framework that indicate that the proposed development 

should be restricted and I have found that no adverse impacts would result that would 
significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits arising from the proposed residential 
development. I consider the proposal to represent sustainable development as sought by 
the Framework” 

 
Howard of Effingham School (decision date 21 March 2018) (14/P/02109) (295 dwellings) 
 

 “As set out above, all the main parties agree the proposals are considered to be 
inappropriate development as defined by paragraph 89 of the Framework. As paragraph 87 
of the Framework goes on to make clear ‘inappropriate development is, by definition, 
harmful to the Green Belt and should not be approved except in very special circumstances’. 
Paragraph 88 of the same goes on to state that ‘When considering any planning application 
[decision makers] should ensure that substantial weight is given to any harm to the Green 
Belt. ‘[V]ery special circumstances’ will not exist unless the potential harm to the Green Belt 
by reason of inappropriateness, and any other harm, is clearly outweighed by other 
considerations’. The development, defined in those terms, would also conflict with saved 
policy RE2 of the GBLP. Having established the fact of inappropriateness it is first therefore 
necessary to consider any other Green Belt harm and then any other harm, before the 
consideration of any other matters that may outweigh it. These are addressed below.” 
 
 
 
 

Page 19

Agenda item number: 4
Appendix 2



 “Nevertheless when the residential development and the replacement school are taken 
together this would constitute a significant body of new development within the green belt. 
This would inevitably result in a very significant degree of reduction to its openness, so 
conflicting with the primary expectations of paragraph 79 of the Framework and in the light 
of the high sensitivity of the site as identified in the Council’s GBCS, in conflict with saved 
policy RE2 of the GBLP. Taken together and notwithstanding the mitigating factors in 
relation to Sites No 1 and No. 2, the proposals would result in a significant reduction in the 
openness of the Green Belt, resulting in a degree of harm meriting substantial weight when 
considered in the final Green Belt balance.” 
 

 “But that said, to suggest that the proposals can be seen as ‘effectively negating and almost 
totally destroying the considered approach adopted by the SENP’ or ‘directly contradicted 
and overridden’ [137] is to overstate its effect. It is the case that the outcome of the appeal 
may require a review of spatial planning policies. But these must be regarded as vulnerable 
to review in light of the current housing land supply position within the borough which at 
less than three years of supply, would still render proposed housing numbers potentially out 
of date in relation to the Framework.” 
 

 “There is a demonstrated demographic need for additional places within the joint planning 
areas of the school and its expansion to meet that need and wider need has received 
consistent support from the local authority, SCC. This support has been echoed by the 
Parliamentary Under Secretary for the Schools System. Moreover, Government policy across 
the JPS and carried though in the policy of the Framework, attaches great importance to 
ensuring sufficient choice of school places is available and meeting that requirement should 
be given great weight. JPS also anticipates ‘a presumption in favour of the development of 
state-funded schools’. Both strands of Government policy have been concurrently applied by 
the Secretary of State in a subsequent decision. Taken together, in conjunction with the 
considerable support voiced in support of the proposals by members of the community, and 
specifically in light of the national policy support for such proposals fulfilling these 
expectations, this consideration merits very substantial weight.” 
 

 “GBC accept in evidence (281) that significant weight should be afforded to the delivery of 
295 homes, of which 61 are now defined as affordable housing, (nearly 20% of the total). 
The Parish are also agreed that this provision may be viewed as a benefit of the scheme 
[153]. This is understood through the acknowledgement in the SoCG that, as confirmed by 
the Council’s own 2016 Annual Monitoring Report282 that the current supply of housing 
land in the Borough, at the time of the Inquiry, was 2.1 years. The Appellants also point out, 
unchallenged, to a ‘chronic, serious and persistent under supply of housing in Guildford over 
a protracted period of time’, with average completions over the 10 year period 2005-2015 
having been 261, against a total of 461 derived from the former South East Plan [247]. The 
SoCG identifies 2.1 years against 693 homes per year, taking account of a buffer of 20% and 
an accrued deficit. There is a similar degree of underperformance in affordable housing, also 
identified by the Appellants and again unchallenged by the Council, with BGC delivering an 
average of 62 affordable homes per annum over a seven year period against an annual 
requirement of 455 annually [247].”  
 

 “The housing policies of the GBLP were not saved by Government Direction, the plan period 
having ended in 2006. As the SoCG records, work is ongoing on the PSLP, with the latest 
iteration being a targeted Regulation 19 consultation proposed for the summer of 2017 with 
submission intended for December of this year.”  
 

Page 20

Agenda item number: 4
Appendix 2



 “Again without challenge, the Appellants state this pre-consultation document ‘relies for 
much of its housing delivery on a limited number of difficult, long-term strategic sites which 
themselves were the subject of significant objection when proposed in the previous pre-
submission draft’ [250]. Whilst the GBC is right to say in closing that this appeal is not the 
forum for a ‘pre-run of Local Plan debates’ [43b] (in respect of housing sites or revisions to 
the Green Belt boundary), it is very clear that GBC is some very considerable way off arriving 
at a housing number reflecting objectively assessed need, let alone one reflecting a dialogue 
with adjacent authorities or one determined by a review of the planning constraints within 
the Borough. It is little surprise therefore that the SoCG affords the PSLP very limited weight 
at this time. The Parish Council dissent from this view [412]and this is considered, along with 
a consideration of weight to be attached to the SELP, in the Green Belt Planning balance 
below.” 
 

 “The net effect of these circumstances is that GBC is only able to demonstrate less than half 
the annual supply of housing land anticipated as a minimum as Report 
APP/Y3615/W/16/3151098 required by paragraph 47 of the Framework. Moreover, with the 
formal adoption of a deliverable annual housing number and a framework for sustained 
delivery of that number some considerable way off, there is very limited prospect of a 
recovery of that position in view. As paragraph 47 of the Framework made clear form its 
publication in 2012, the Government anticipates a significant boost to the supply of housing 
nationally. That position has not changed. In this context, and the very significant under-
delivery of housing in the Borough over an extended period, it is right that the delivery of 
295 homes proposed here is given very substantial weight.” 
 

 “Whilst the 20% proportion of affordable housing is below the 35% anticipated by the GBC’s 
adopted standard, this number has been calibrated and accepted against the viability 
consideration necessary to allow for the delivery of the school. Notwithstanding this 
shortfall, and the expectation of policy, the delivery of over 60 units of affordable housing, 
when considered against past delivery, and in the context of a significant decrease in the 
affordability of market homes in the area in the last 15 years identified by the Council’s 
Strategic Housing Market Assessment283, is also a consideration that merits substantial 
weight in the Green Belt Planning balance.” 
 

 “The proposals would bring forward 295 units of housing now, of which 20% are to be 
affordable. In the context of the Council only being able to demonstrate a 2.1 years’ worth 
of housing land supply, chronic past under-delivery and the prospect of the identification of 
a credible annual housing number in an adopted development plan some way off, this is an 
important consideration. Whilst such circumstances suggest that relevant housing policies 
are not up-to-date ,or, in the case of an annual housing number are absent, the engagement 
of policies of the Framework (and the development plan), specifically in relation to the 
Green Belt, indicating that development should be restricted, stipulates that the tilted 
balance facilitated by paragraph 14 of the Framework is not engaged. Be that as it may, the 
provision of such numbers of houses in these circumstances is a consideration meriting very 
substantial weight in the final balance.” 
 

Guildford Railway Station and car parks (decision 27 February 2018) (14/P/02168)(48 
dwellings) 
 

 “The proposals accord with statutory requirements, the policies of the development plan 
and with the expectations of the Framework. Moreover, a further range of potential 
planning harms can be fully mitigated through planning obligations properly taken into 

Page 21

Agenda item number: 4
Appendix 2



account in this decision. As such, a balancing consideration of any benefits the development 
may bring, as anticipated by the third main issue identified at the outset, does not arise. 
“However, it should also be remembered that the Framework at paragraph 6 makes clear 
that the purpose of the planning system is to contribute to the achievement of sustainable 
development. Paragraph 7 reminds us that there are three dimensions to this development 
principle: economic, social and environmental. Paragraph 47 of the same is emphatic in its 
expectation that there will be a significant boost to housing supply across the country.” 
 

 “In addition to avoiding harm to heritage assets and townscape quality and other harms, this 
proposal offers tangible benefits to the built environment around Guildford Station. It also 
provides a significant amount of market housing and a lesser number of viability-calibrated 
affordable units, in addition to an enhanced station facility. These are very significant social 
benefits. The proposals also bring forward a major development site with a mix of uses that 
will create employment opportunities for those seeking work. These are clear economic 
benefits to the borough. This is therefore a form of sustainable development that the 
Framework supports. And, as paragraph 14 states at its third bullet point, this means 
approving development proposals that accord with the development plan without delay.” 
 

 “This is however a proposal that has polarised opinion. Some are shocked by it and its 
anticipated effects. Perhaps unavoidably, they may have the same reaction to this decision. 
Strong and well-presented arguments have been put before the Inquiry in support of these 
views and they rightly merit the fullest consideration. However, as my reasoning 
demonstrates, a different, structured conclusion can be arrived at, aided by the input of key 
expertise in the field from HE and SERDP, the opinions of both I have given significant 
weight. For all these reasons therefore, and having carefully considered all the matters 
raised in evidence and at the Inquiry, I conclude the appeal should be allowed.” 

 
Annfield House, 5 Maori Road (decision date 31 October 2017) (17/P/00245) (7 dwellings) 

 
 “Annfield House is a substantial detached house in large L-shaped gardens, situated in a 

predominantly residential area of Guildford. There is a detached games room and a separate 
garage-type building in the rear garden area. Maori Road is a pleasant, tree-lined street, 
which includes a range of styles and designs of houses, as well as a day nursery and a school. 
Notwithstanding the Council’s accepted lack of a demonstrated five year housing land 
supply, the parties agree that the principle of the proposed residential redevelopment is 
acceptable in the identified urban area.” 
 

 “In light of the above, I consider that the proposal would not constitute overdevelopment or 
have an unduly cramped or prominent appearance, including from Cross Lanes. I conclude 
that the proposal would not harm the character and appearance of the area. It would 
therefore generally accord with saved Policies G5(2) and G5(5) of the Guildford Borough 
Local Plan 2003 (the LP), which respectively seek to ensure that new buildings respect the 
scale, height, proportions and materials of the surrounding environment, and that the layout 
is easily understood by the user and creates identifiable character. It would similarly accord 
with saved Policy H4 of the LP, which among other things seeks to ensure that housing 
development is in scale and character with the area. These policies pre-date the National 
Planning Policy Framework (the Framework but are generally consistent with it and so I have 
given them significant weight in this appeal. The proposal would also be generally consistent 
with the relevant requirements of the Council’s adopted Residential Design Guide 
Supplementary Planning Guidance 2004 and the good design requirements of the 
Framework.” 

Page 22

Agenda item number: 4
Appendix 2



 
 
 
Treetops Boarding Kennels, Peasmarsh (decision date 18 June 2018) (17/P/00801) (39 dwellings) 
 

 “It is concluded that the proposal would have a greater impact on the openness of the green 
belt than the existing development although the effect on the purpose of including land 
within it to safeguard against encroachment would be predominately similar to the 
prevailing situation. Hence the proposal is inappropriate development in the green belt 
Paragraph 87 of the framework states that inappropriate development is by definition 
harmful to the Green Belt and should not be approved except in very special circumstances. 
Very special circumstances will not exist unless the potential harm to the green belt by 
reason of its inappropriateness and any other harm is clearly outweighed by other 
considerations as stated in paragraph 88.” 
 

 “In addition there is  a shortfall in the supply of affordable housing, with only 32 having been 
provided against an identified need for 517, a situation where the appellants 
characterisation of this being an ‘acute need’ appears justified. The appeal proposals would 
provide 10 affordable units and 4 shared ownership units, secured by the section 106 
agreement and this represents in excess of the 30% sought under policy H11 and just over 
the 35% referred to in the putative reason for refusal and the Councils statement as being 
the current requirement. This provision is due substantial weight.” 
 

 “There are considerations of substantial weight and importance in furthering the 
government’s aim of boosting significantly the supply of housing, as stated at paragraph 47 
of the framework. The provision of affordable housing to address an ‘acute ned’ weighs 
heavily too. These considerations, together with the other matters, set out in the previous 
section of this decision clearly outweigh the harm such that very special circumstances have 
been shown to exist in order to permit inappropriate development tin the Green Belt.” 
 

 “As stated previously, statute and policy require listed buildings to be preserved and the 
courts have determined that considerable importance and weight should be given to harm 
found to the significance of listed buildings…….substantial weight is accorded this benefit in 
the balance”  

Page 23

Agenda item number: 4
Appendix 2



This page is intentionally left blank



Place-making and Innovation Executive Advisory Board 

Stoke Park Proposed Masterplan EAB Summary Paper 

Author: Paul Stacey (Parks and Landscape Manager) 

Date: 15 October 2018 

1.0 Background: 

The production of the Stoke Park Masterplan is listed in the Councils corporate plan 

as a corporate priority under the ‘Community’ theme and priority of ‘Enhancing 

sporting, cultural, community and recreational facilities’ with the aim of: 

‘In consultation with existing users and other stakeholders, produce a masterplan for 

Stoke Park to make it a vibrant community park and visitor destination.’ 

The Stoke Park consultation has been completed with a representative sample of the 

borough’s residents, including both users and non-users, and clubs and 

stakeholders.  In total 1968 responses were received. 

2.0 Consultation and evidence base to inform a new masterplan 

The Stoke Park public consultation was completed in late 2017 and the results 

analysed and collated in early 2018.  Officers have now reviewed the responses, 

examined feedback from the Green Flag award assessment and looked at the 

services’ Stoke Park management plan to set out a proposed brief for the park and 

programme of delivery.  The evidence base used is set out in the following 

appendices: 

Appendix 1 – Discover Stoke Park - sets out key facts about Stoke Park as it stands 

currently 

Appendix 2a – Consultation responses - sets out key themes arising from the 

consultation responses 

Appendix 2b – Consultation responses - provides the full consultation report 

Appendix 3 – Green Flag - summarises the Green Flag Award assessment feedback 

Appendix 4 – Masterplan brief with evidence base. 

3.0 Key outcomes: 

Stoke Park is perceived very positively by residents and stakeholders, often called 

the ‘lungs of Guildford’ and noted as making Guildford a better place to live and work. 

It is well used, fulfils a significant role as a community hub for family activity and there 

is an appetite for improvement and community involvement  

Key areas for examination, improvement and development as part of a masterplan 

are: 

1. Improvement of catering facilities

2. Improvement and investment in play areas

Page 25

Agenda item number: 5



3. Improvement of toilet facilities 

4. Increased parking provision 

5. Protection and enhancement of the parks heritage 

6. Protection of nature and the environment 

7. Enabling events and activities 

8. Provision of appropriate sports pitches and facilities 

9. Use and development of existing buildings notably Home Farm, Stoke Park 

Nursery, Greenark, and changing facilities 

4.0 Delivery 

The responses and evidence provide a source of guidance to the Council.  The 

various areas for development have been split in to three areas for delivery, these 

are: 

1. Stoke Park Masterplan – a distinct project that requires additional resources 

2. Wider Parks Strategies listed in the Councils corporate plan – distinct 

deliverables for the Parks and Countryside service that may require additional 

resources 

3. Day to day management – undertaken as part of service delivery within existing 

resources 

 

4.1 Stoke Park Masterplan 

Taking on board the feedback received, we propose the following brief and actions 

for Stoke Park across the three areas: 

Stoke Park Brief 

To produce a masterplan for the whole park that includes: 

1. Catering – Replace the refreshment kiosk with a new purpose built café in an 

accessible location 

2. Play Area – Refresh the existing play area including examination of size of play 

area, equipment, and facilities. Include options for additional play facilities and 

opportunities across Stoke Park 

3. Parking – examine how additional car parking can be provided to facilitate use of 

the site within the restrictions of the Surrey Act (1/12th of the area of Stoke Park) 

4. Heritage – Consider how heritage assets can be found, conserved, enhanced, 

interpreted and explored 

5. Hard Infrastructure – examine the accessibility of the park including footpaths, 

signage, seating and drainage for the park and to wider environs 

6. Nature and Wildlife – examine the opportunities for wildlife and nature for the park 

and links to other green spaces 

Page 26

Agenda item number: 5



7. Parks Assets – consider the Stoke Park assets and provide options and proposals 

that contribute to the park and to the Council’s corporate objectives and strategies 

including Home Farm, Stoke Park Nursery, Greenark and disused pavilions. 

4.2 Wider Parks Strategies: 

1. Parks Strategy - listed in the corporate plan for delivery in 2021- A broader 

strategy to support overall service delivery including Stoke Park. 

2. Pitch and Sports/Playing Pitch Strategy - listed in the corporate plan for delivery 

in 2021. This will be used to assess pitch provision and delivery across the 

borough including Stoke Park. 

3. Parks Events Policy and Strategy - listed in the corporate plan for delivery in 

2021.  This will be used to inform how we enable events and where they should 

occur across the Council’s parks and open spaces. 

4.3 Day to Day Management: 

1. Green Flag assessment and promotion for Stoke Park and our other Green Flag 

sites 

2. Marketing and promotion for the service and sites 

3. Development of stakeholder engagement and the existing friends of Stoke Park 

group  

4. Review of maintenance resources for Stoke Park and the masterplan 

5. Stoke Park centenary celebrations in 2025 

5.0 Programme Management 

In terms of programme and project management, it is likely that there will be multiple 

projects of varying scale, which will need to be assessed as work is progressed and 

delivered. Consequently, the delivery of the Stoke Park masterplan could become a 

programme of projects over a significant period of time; up to 15 years. 

The strategy for delivery is set out below: 

A) Resources and Governance (6 months) 

1. Approval of funding for a project officer/manager 

2. Appoint project officer/manager 

3. Establish project board 

4. Agree project scope 

5. Establish terms of reference 

6. Establish and manage risk register 

 

B) Masterplan Procurement (9-12 months) 

 

1. Clarify extent of master planning, deliverables, key projects and lots for 

procurement.  Possible lots for procurement to deliver the required work 

could be: 

i. Overall masterplan 

ii. Café – feasibility study, outline design and costs 

Page 27

Agenda item number: 5



iii. Built landscape – play facilities, conservation of heritage, signs, 

paths, car parks, bins, trees and planting, utilities - design and costs 

iv. Building options – feasibility studies, outline designs and cost 

 

2. Pre market engagement to identify procurement options, lots, market interest 

and likely costs. 

3. Agree procurement route 

4. Approval of funding 

5. Produce and issue tender(s) for Landscape Architect, Architect, Quantity 

Surveyor, Civil Engineer, Mechanical and Electrical Engineer, other 

consultants and associated surveys 

6. Appointment of consultants 

 

C) Producing the masterplan (12 months) 

1. Client engagement, feedback review and production 

2. Technical surveys and feasibility studies 

3. Obtain planning and statutory consultee advice 

4. Identify costs, options analysis and business cases for development and 

funding streams 

5. Produce masterplan (Concept plan(s) and report) for public consultation 

6. Consult and review feedback 

 

D) Developing the business cases (Timescale TBC) 

1. Establish programme of projects and project programmes 

2. Review resources and project lead(s) 

3. Develop business cases for submission 

4. Approval of business cases 

 

E) Commissioning and delivery (Timescale TBC) 

1. Funding applications 

2. Detailed design and specifications 

3. Procurement 

4. Site works 

6.0 Resources and Costs 

The project is of a significant scale that will require additional officer resource 

combined with internal support services and external consultants.  In anticipation of 

this scheme, Officers submitted a provisional capital bid (PL56 (p)) for £500,000 in 

2017/18 to cover the staff costs and professional fees for delivering the masterplan.   

It is anticipated that to deliver the proposed masterplan inclusive of lots 1, 2, 3 and 4 

will incur professional fees of around £500,000 inclusive of onsite delivery.  Work will 

be called off in stages to limit expenditure.  Subsequent capital costs for delivery will 

then be assessed, business cases developed and funding will be applied for from 

various sources. 

 

Page 28

Agenda item number: 5



7.0  Questions for EAB 

The EAB is asked to comment on: 

1) The evidence base 

2) The proposed brief as set out in section 4.0 

3) Proposed strategy for delivery as set out in 5.0 

8.0  Background Papers 

Stoke Park Summary Management Plan 

Page 29

Agenda item number: 5



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

  

 Appendix 1 - Discover Stoke Park 

 Appendix  2a – Consultation Summary 

 Appendix 2b – Consultation Report 

 Appendix 3  - Green Flag Report 

 Appendix 4 – Masterplan Brief with Evidence Base 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 St
o

ke
 P

ar
k 

  
Parks & Leisure Services 
Guildford Borough Council 
 

Introduction to the 
Proposed Stoke Park 
Masterplan 
 
 

P
age 30

A
genda item

 num
ber: 5



Stoke Park Masterplan 

Appendix 1  

Discover Stoke Park 

1. Stoke Park is 52 hectares of green space (approximately 128 acres). 

Facilities include:  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 Visitor point  

 ice cream parlour  

 refreshment kiosk/cafe  

 play area  

 2 lawn bowls greens  

 2 cricket pitches  

 4 tennis courts (2 can be converted to 
netball courts)  

 4 11-a-side adult football pitches (plus 2 
9v9 junior pitches)  

 3 rugby pitches and 1/2 training areas  

 3 lacrosse pitches 
 

 6 rounders pitches 

 3 lacrosse pitches, 6 rounders pitches  

 1 grass athletics track  
 Indoor bowls  
 large paddling pool 
 model boating pond  
 skate park 
 Wildwood Aerial Adventure  
 mini golf course  
 Japanese garden, 
 sensory garden  
 and a rose garden 

P
age 31

A
genda item

 num
ber: 5



Stoke Park Masterplan 

2. Around a quarter of a million people visit Stoke Park Gardens alone.  According to Visit 

England’s 2017 figures, this puts Stoke Park at number 7 in the top free attractions in the 

region, above Guildford Cathedral at number 17 (parks are not included in their list). 

 

3. We host a minimum of 800 sports related bookings per year. 

 

4. Stoke Park was developed into a parkland country estate of 216 acres by William Aldersey in 

the late 1700s.  The Guildford Corporation (later GBC) bought it in 1925, when 176 acres 

(71.2 hectares) were dedicated as public open space. 

 

5. We have 66 trees that are older than 150 years, 19 of these are over 300 years old and 3 are 

400 years plus, making them ‘ancient trees’ and therefore nationally important. 

 

6. The Surrey Gardens Trust has included the park in a list of Historic Parks and Gardens 

(locally listing it as a significant non-designated site). 

 

P
age 32

A
genda item

 num
ber: 5



Stoke Park Masterplan 

7. Six species of bat forage over Stoke Park, one of which is rare (Serotine).   

 

8. Five bird species of UK BAP Priority Species/Species of Principle Importance are recorded in 

the park. 

 

9. 305 invertebrate species are recorded living in Stoke Park; ten of these have a recognised 

conservation designation (Red Data or Nationally Scarce).  

 

10. 281 plant species have been recorded. There are four plants recorded with conservation 

status (Red List, Surrey Rare Plant Register), 22 ancient woodland indicators, and 34 species 

of grassland conservation interest (exceeding the typical number for a Site of Nature 

Conservation). 

 

11. Sections of the park were converted to allotments to feed residents during WW2.  A map 

dated 29 January 1943, reveals locations for B.M.G pits (M1919 Browning machine gun) 

crossing the park in strategic locations.   

P
age 33

A
genda item

 num
ber: 5



Stoke Park Masterplan 
 

Appendix 2a 

2017/18 Stoke Park Consultation Summary 

 

1,968 residents participated in the consultation and two-thirds of 

respondents visit the park at least once a week, with 79% visiting Stoke 

Park more than any other park. 

 

“This research has highlighted Stoke Park as a popular and well frequented open space at 

the heart of Guildford, both geographically and communally. Often described during the 

qualitative phase as ‘the lungs of Guildford’, it is apparent that this community hub plays a 

central role in the town, harbouring facilities from which many local groups function and 

flourish.” Stoke Park Consultation Report, Key Findings, 03/2018   

P
age 34

A
genda item

 num
ber: 5



Stoke Park Masterplan 
 

This is what residents said about the park: 

 Guildford is a ‘better place to work and live’ because of Stoke Park. 

 

 Stoke Park is a family venue, community hub as well as a stage for local events and 

attractions.  Provision of facilities for children/ young people and sports clubs was particularly 

prevalent as important.  Spending time with family (and friends) was the top answer for the 

reason for visiting the park, closely followed by going for a walk and visiting the play area. 

 

 Over half of respondents would choose to improve or invest in play areas (68%), catering 

facilities (60%) and car parks (55%). 

 

 Stoke Park is a hub for organised sports clubs; 28 different clubs were mentioned. 

 

 Protecting, enhancing and marketing the heritage of Stoke Park is high on residents’ agenda. 

 

 Residents agreed there should be a role for Stoke Park in protecting the environment. 

P
age 35

A
genda item

 num
ber: 5



Stoke Park Masterplan 
 

 

 Residents displayed a level of buy-in to the park that suggests there is a genuine appetite to 

engage in its development. 

 

“I think we have the balance right. I would see it underdeveloped rather than 

overdeveloped. It is a lung for Guildford.” 

 

Potential deficits and key drivers for change identified by residents’ responses are: 

 

 Availability of parking spaces was rated as poor or very poor by 43% and over half would like 

investment in the existing car parks. 

 

 Children, young people and play facilities are an important factor in the development of the 

park, with 92% agreeing that the park is an area for children and young people to play, higher 

than any other aspect identified. 

P
age 36

A
genda item

 num
ber: 5



Stoke Park Masterplan 
 

 

 Despite two thirds of users saying they are satisfied with the current play area, over two thirds 

said that they would improve / invest in the play area if they were managing the park, perhaps 

reflecting the high importance of play facilities to respondents. 

 

 Only 35% said they are satisfied with the current catering facilities. 

 

 A quarter of users expressed dissatisfaction with toilet facilities, higher than for any other 

aspect. (The toilets are being refurbished this financial year.  Stoke Park toilets are very busy, 

only beaten by Tunsgate toilets for number of visits, and cleanliness was rated as the most 

important factor when visiting a park.) 

 

 Only a third of users are satisfied with the current provision for food in the park. 8 out of 10 

users felt that catering facilities should be improved. 

 

P
age 37

A
genda item

 num
ber: 5



Stoke Park Masterplan 
 

 Respondents said there is little communication between stakeholders and there is a desire to 

set up forums in which organisations work out how to work better together. 

 

 Three-fifths wanted an increased number of grass and artificial sports pitches and/or 

investment in the existing pitches (note: 19% of respondents are part of a sports club). 

 

 The Fireworks Fiesta and the County Show are the most popular events. 68% of users said 

they would pay to attend music events in Stoke Park as well, although Stakeholders 

highlighted the challenges of such events, including parking, litter and affects to the ground 

conditions. Stoke Park should be used for promoting health and wellbeing activities was also 

a popular response. 

 

 Outdoor theatre, large screen cinema and small/informal/free music events were the most 

popular events respondents would like to see on the park. 

 

 Only 39% were satisfied with the promotion and marketing of Stoke Park. 

P
age 38

A
genda item

 num
ber: 5



Stoke Park Masterplan 
 

 

 A third felt the footpaths should be improved. 

 

 79% felt it was important that heritage features are protected and enhanced. 

 

 50% of non-users of the park said the Green Flag status would encourage them to visit the 

park. 

 

 Three-fifths (63%) said it would be helpful and interesting to have more information on the 

history of Stoke Park. 

 

 Over half (57%) said the role of Stoke Park should incorporate areas for wildlife and nature. 

59% said there should be more areas for wildlife and 40% want to see more trees throughout 

the park. 

  

P
age 39

A
genda item

 num
ber: 5



Stoke Park Masterplan 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

“In summary, there are high levels of 

satisfaction throughout residents’ 

responses towards all aspects of the 

park and some strong steers on how 

residents may want to interact with the 

park and see it evolve. There is a sense 

that the park should not be subject to 

overdevelopment, retaining its function 

as an undulating open space, yet there 

are opportunities for improvement to 

facilities, cohesion, and 

communication.” 

Stoke Park Consultation Report, Key 

Findings, 03/2018 

 

P
age 40

A
genda item

 num
ber: 5



Stoke Park Masterplan – Appendix 2b 

 

 

 
 

Stoke Park Consultation Report 2017/18 

 
Prepared by  

 

 
 

Wellington House, 108 Beverley Road, Kingston-Upon-Hull, HU3 1XA 

Tel: (01482) 211200 Email: info@smsr.co.uk 

 

       
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 41

Agenda item number: 5

mailto:info@smsr.co.uk


 

 

2 
 

 

Contents 

1.0 SUMMARY FINDINGS ............................................................................................ 3 

1.1 Headline Findings ....................................................................................................................... 3 

1.2 Key Findings Summary ............................................................................................................... 4 

1.3 Executive Summary .................................................................................................................... 6 

2.0 INTRODUCTION ................................................................................................... 10 

2.1 Background .............................................................................................................................. 10 

2.2 Report Structure ...................................................................................................................... 10 

3.0  METHODOLOGY AND SAMPLE ............................................................................. 11 

3.1 Users Survey............................................................................................................................. 11 

3.2 Non-Users ................................................................................................................................ 14 

4.0 FINDINGS ............................................................................................................ 16 

4.1 User Profile .............................................................................................................................. 16 

4.2 Non Users Profile ..................................................................................................................... 26 

4.3 Car Parking ............................................................................................................................... 33 

4.4 Catering .................................................................................................................................... 40 

4.5 Play ........................................................................................................................................... 45 

4.6 Facilities ................................................................................................................................... 52 

4.7 Sports ....................................................................................................................................... 58 

4.8 Accessibility .............................................................................................................................. 65 

4.9 Heritage.................................................................................................................................... 76 

4.10 Nature and Wildlife .............................................................................................................. 80 

4.11 Events and Activities ............................................................................................................. 86 

4.12 Community Involvement ...................................................................................................... 93 

4.13 The Role of Stoke Park Now and in to the Future ................................................................ 97 

5.0 IN-DEPTH INTERVIEWS ...................................................................................... 114 

5.1 Car Parking ............................................................................................................................. 114 

5.2 Catering .................................................................................................................................. 115 

5.3 Facilities ................................................................................................................................. 115 

5.4 Accessibility ............................................................................................................................ 116 

5.5 Safety ..................................................................................................................................... 117 

5.6 Communication ...................................................................................................................... 118 

5.7 Further Development ............................................................................................................ 119 

6.0 APPENDIX ......................................................................................................... 121 

6.1 Users Questionnaire .............................................................................................................. 121 

6.2 Non-Users Questionnaire ...................................................................................................... 135 

Page 42

Agenda item number: 5



 

 

3 
 

 

 

1.0 Summary Findings 
 

The results presented are the findings of research conducted amongst residents of Guildford 

Borough between 4th September 2017 and 27th November 2017.  In total 1968 residents participated 

in the research: 1559 that took part in the ‘users’ consultation and 409 that took part in the ‘non-

users’ consultation.  Surveys were conducted via face to face & telephone interviewing with a 

representative sample of Guildford residents; an online consultation promoted by the Parks and 

Countryside team and via a postal Guildford Borough Council Citizens’ Panel survey. 

 

1.1 Headline Findings 
 

Both ‘users’ and ‘non-users’ strongly agree that Guildford is a ‘better place to work and live’ because 

of Stoke Park. 

 

Attendance and awareness of GBC parks and green spaces in Guildford is high, as are overall 

satisfaction levels. 

 

Parking and catering facilities were identified as the primary areas for change; parking is the most 

significant barrier to attending and toilet and catering facilities drawing the lowest levels of 

satisfaction. 

 

Appetite for a greater level of community involvement is high. 

 

Stoke Park is considered a family venue, community hub as well as a stage for local events and 

attractions.  Providing facilities for children/ young people and sports clubs was particularly 

prevalent.  

 

Over half wanted and improvement or investment in play areas (68%), catering facilities (60%) and 

car parks (55%).  There is additional community support for investment in the areas of heritage, 

nature and wildlife and sports pitches. 

 

Protecting, enhancing and marketing the heritage of Stoke Park are prevalent on residents’ agenda. 

 

  

Page 43

Agenda item number: 5



 

 

4 
 

 

1.2 Key Findings Summary 
 

While the fledgling evidence base indicates visitors to Stoke Park recall a positive user experience, 

the research identifies a wider, positive contribution the park has on residents, as a ‘better place to 

work and live’ as a consequence.  The identity of Stoke Park as perceived by residents is an open/ 

green space for primarily children and young people and sports clubs; additionally it is considered a 

space for families and a stage for local events and activities. 

 

Residents displayed a level of buy-in to the park that suggests there is a genuine appetite to engage 

its development, supported by over 60% agreeing with community involvement in planning and 

running of the park and over a 25% seeking further involvement.  Although no direct comparisons 

can be made at this time to other parks to quantify the significance of this result, the research has 

provided a healthy pool of residents to test such future consultation and involvement. 

 

The caveat to this significant level of buy-in is the anticipated need to consider areas of 

development/ improvement raised by individuals/ communities.  Parking (lack of space), facilities 

(specifically public toilets and catering) were prominent areas for development.  The research also 

acknowledged the need to enhance its heritage elements, nature and wildlife, play areas and sports 

pitches. 

 

The evidence indicating the need for investment should be considered with thoughtfulness; 

regarding public toilets, catering facilities and parking spaces, it suggests a level of dissatisfaction 

based on deficits in current provision.  Regarding ‘play areas’ and sports pitches, dissatisfaction is 

not identified but instead that these are areas which are central to what many believe is the core 

function of Stoke Park.  Similarly, ‘heritage’ and ‘nature and wildlife’ are not presented as areas of 

dissatisfaction but attracted a degree of support for investment, likely due to residents wishing to 

build the capacity of the park and improve their experience. 

 

While the research is comprehensive and the sample of resident’s representative, there is value in 

exploring further a number of areas.  For example, while correlations and contradictions in the 

research can be interpreted, there are specific examples which, with a developed and specific 

evidence base could be used as a key driver to facilitate change.  The correlation between ‘non-

users’ perception of important facilities to a municipal park and recognising the potential deficits in 

Stoke Parks’ facilities could be a tangible platform to make decisions; potentially increasing 

participation/ frequency, improving the user experience and/ or creating a more equitable standard 

across the Boroughs’ parks and green spaces. 

 

  

Page 44

Agenda item number: 5



 

 

5 
 

 

The tables below contain a brief headline summary of the main aspects of Stoke Park that visitors 

liked and what could be improved: 

 

 

 

  

What visitors like: 

Facilities / space for Children (half of visitors attend with children;  the 

children’s playground/park and paddling/splash pool were the main reasons  

given for visiting the park) 

Sports provision (a fifth of the users sample belonged to an organised club 

based at Stoke Park) 

Stoke Park makes Guildford a better place to live and work (94% said this) 

Maintenance of planting and gardens (low numbers thought that these could 

be improved) 

Overall satisfaction of GBC parks and open spaces is high 

Evidence of an appetite for community involvement 

What could be improved: 

Availability of car parking 

Catering (provision, location, opening hours, goods) 

Play areas (although respondents show high levels of satisfaction, they also 

feel that play areas require updating / modernising) 

Toilet facilities (provision and cleanliness) 

Improvements / increase in sports pitches (although this may not be possible 

due to topography) 

Promotion and marketing (two fifths were satisfied with this aspect and 

mentioned in qualitative work) 

Cohesion and communication between stakeholders 

Information and signage (mentioned in qualitative work and three-fifths said 

it would be helpful and interesting to have information on the history of 

Stoke Park) 

Page 45

Agenda item number: 5



 

 

6 
 

 

1.3 Executive Summary 
 

This research has highlighted Stoke Park as a popular and well frequented open space at the heart of 

Guildford, both geographically and communally. Often described during the qualitative phase as ‘the 

lungs of Guildford’ it is apparent that this community hub plays a central role in the town, 

harbouring facilities from which many local groups function and flourish. Whilst it is evident that a 

sense of pride and preservation is shared by its users, there exists an appetite to develop individual 

aspects of the park but not at the expense of overdevelopment or commercialisation. 

 

“Stoke Park was gifted to Guildford for the people to use a lung. There is a really nice 

atmosphere where dog walkers can come, people without gardens and people who want to play 

sports. If you haven’t got much money, you go to Stoke Park and use the facilities. It is a 

resource for people of all backgrounds to enjoy.” 

 

Respondents who used the park were almost unanimous (94%) in agreement that Stoke Park makes 

Guildford a better place to live and work which is a powerful advocacy of the benefits that the park 

provides to the borough. Respondents were also in strong agreement that the park should be used 

for promoting health and wellbeing activities and (82%) and there should be a role for Stoke Park in 

protecting the environment (74%). This was echoed in the findings of people who were not frequent 

users of the park who also provided the greatest levels of agreement for these three benefits 

providing a strong indication as to the identity of Stoke Park. 

 

In respect of visiting trends, around half of those respondents who considered themselves regular 

users of Stoke Park (defined as users throughout this summary) made a journey to the park once or 

twice a week. More frequent still, 1 in 5 said that they visited Stoke Park daily, meaning that around 

two-thirds of respondents are attracted to the park and its facilities at least once a week, 

highlighting how integral Stoke Park is to the borough’s residents.  

 

Respondents mainly travelled to Stoke Park by car or on foot (50% and 49% respectively) with only a 

small proportion using public transport. The most frequently used parking facility was Guildford 

College, used by over a quarter of those who travelled by car. Slightly less (23%) said that they 

parked close by at Lido Road / bowls club / Wildwood indicating that a high volume of motorists use 

this western side of the site when arriving in car.  

 

Respondents who travelled by car to Stoke Park were generally positive towards the condition, 

safety and security of parking facilities. However, they were less positive when considering the 

availability of parking spaces with 43% rating this aspect poor or very poor. This supports the notion 

that parking may be saturated around Guildford College and Lido Road / bowls club / Wildwood. 

When asked if managing Stoke Park, over half of respondents mentioned that they would 

improve/invest in this aspect compared a quarter who said they would increase the number and a 

fifth stated they would keep as is.  

 

There was also evidence of parking issues in this area when speaking to stakeholders: 

 

Page 46

Agenda item number: 5



 

 

7 
 

 

“Car parking is an issue around the bowling club as it has always been free – commuters are 

using the car parks and walk through the park together with college students. To improve the 

park – they need to improve access to the park which needs to be controlled.” 

 

This is perhaps indicative that parking issues could be solved through management rather than 

development. 

 

Children and young people feature prominently when assessing the role of Stoke Park with around 

half of respondents that said that they tend to visit Stoke Park with children. The vast majority (92%) 

of users agreed that an ‘area for children and young people to play’ describes the role of Stoke Park, 

a higher level of agreement than for any other aspect, concluding that children, young people and 

play facilities are an important factor in the development of the park. 

 

Two thirds of users were found to be satisfied with the current play areas at the park with just 1 in 

10 expressing dissatisfaction. Around a third of respondents decided that there is a need for a 

further play area in Stoke Park; the most frequently specified location being near the skate park, 

suggesting that age specific facilities for children and young people may be more desirable to 

families with children of different ages. 

 

Despite positive levels of satisfaction towards current play facilities, it was clear that users were 

keen for the play area to evolve at Stoke Park. Over two thirds said that they would improve / invest 

in the play area if they were managing the park. Around a quarter called for the play areas to be 

increased and only 1 in 10 users thought that the play area should be kept as it is. A popular action 

specified by users when considering the development of play facilities was to update and modernise 

equipment. In general, nevertheless, the play facilities at Stoke Park are deemed as more than 

satisfactory, a sentiment echoed by stakeholders: 

 

“The park has a nice playground; it’s all pretty good really. I like a big open space.” 

“Paddling pool is fantastic as is the skate board park. All the play equipment is in one place, its 

great and my kids have used it a lot of the years.” 

 

Over half of users said that they typically stay in Stoke Park for over an hour and up to 5 hours or 

more, which indicates the need for suitable provision of facilities such as toilets, refreshments and 

seating. When asked how satisfied or dissatisfied with a range of the facilities at the park, over a 

quarter of users expressed dissatisfaction with toilet facilities, higher than for any other aspect. 

When explored further during the qualitative phase of the research, location and cleanliness were 

specified areas of improvement. There were two further notable instances of dissatisfaction with 

facilities with 1 in 5 stating that catering and picnic/seating facilities were in need of improvement, 

thus providing a clear steer for development of provisions. 

 

Throughout both the qualitative and quantitative fieldwork, respondents indicated a desire to 

improve catering facilities on the park with only a third of users satisfied with the current offerings.  

This was further supported by the fact that 8 out of 10 users felt that catering facilities should be 

improved, invested or increased in Stoke Park. Of those users who specified a lack of facilities as a 

reason why they do not visit Stoke Park more frequently almost half said that café facilities should 

Page 47

Agenda item number: 5



 

 

8 
 

 

be improved. Anecdotally, current facilities were described as basic and that improvements would 

be a sound investment on the part of the Parks and Countryside team: 

 

“The kiosk they have in Stoke gardens is quite basic – you just get a basic Nescafé. If you want to 

go on a cold winter’s day – there is no cover. There is no café nearby and they are in the town. I 

think that this is an area for improvement.” 

 

“Catering wise they are missing a trick, not a lot here and when you have all these parents 

watching sports and standing around, they could and would spend money on coffees etc.” 

 

Another important role that Stoke Park performs is that of a hub for organised sports clubs, 

providing health and wellbeing benefits to the local community. 82% agreed that the role of Stoke 

Park was to provide facilities for organised sport with around 1 in 5 confirming that they belonged to 

a club that uses the parks facilities. Over a third of this cohort said they were associated with the 

rugby club and a fifth said that they were members of the bowling club and Park Run. In total, 28 

different clubs were mentioned by respondents. When speaking to stakeholders, including those 

involved directly in the running of such organisations, gaps emerged in the cohesion of clubs based 

at Stoke Park. It was found that there is little communication between stakeholders and a desire to 

set up forums in which organisations to work out how to work better together. 

 

“There is no formal network amongst groups who use the park but we just know who’s who but 

it would be good to have one.” 

 

Communication seems to be the first step in relation to organised sport. There was a feeling that 

organised events such as the Park Run is growing and compromises between organisations may 

need to be found in aspects such as parking, ground conditions and facilities. 

 

“I do not receive any communications from the park and I know the Park Run team get 

frustrated around the lack of notice in terms of cancellations. Needs single ownership / point of 

contact, this would help improve communications and understanding.” 

 

When considering development of sports facilities, 96% of respondents indicated that they would 

like to see grass sports pitches improved, invested or increased and 85% advocating the 

improvement or expansion of artificial features. There was a strong perception, when speaking to 

stakeholders that there are wider benefits to health and wellbeing in Guildford and the surrounding 

area which should drive the relationship between Stoke Park and organised sports. 

 

When examining Stoke Park as an events space, it was found that the Fireworks Fiesta and the 

County Show drew more visitors than any other event and activity. The now defunct Guilfest was 

mentioned throughout the qualitative phase of the research and it was apparent that an event of a 

similar nature would be welcome on the park. This is supported by 78% of users who said that would 

attend music events in Stoke Park – albeit free of charge. Slightly less, (68%) said that they would be 

willing to pay for such an event. Stakeholders highlighted the challenges of such events, including 

parking, litter and affects to the ground conditions. 

 

Page 48

Agenda item number: 5



 

 

9 
 

 

“Post event management is very good, it always a quick turnaround.  Can get very muddy and 

dug up during an event but they always have it looking great again very quickly.” 

 

“There could be more festivals on the park now that Guilfest has stopped.” 

 

”It was sad that Guilfest ended as that was really good to have in the park” 

 

Whilst 8 out of 10 users said that they visited Stoke Park more than any other park, open space or 

public gardens, it was clear that the most popular alternative was RHS Wisley, north east of the 

borough. Amongst those who considered themselves non-users or infrequent users of Stoke Park 

(visiting less than once a month) RHS Wisley was again, by far the most popular open space. 

Although no comparisons were made between the two sites during this research, it may be of use to 

explore this finding in the future. 

 

Over 6 in every 10 respondents said that local communities should be more involved in the planning 

and running of the park. This was supported by the fact that when asked what they would do if they 

ran the park over 40% said they would Increase community involvement, a third said they would 

improve it and just a quarter would keep it as it is.  This highlights the perceived scope for 

improvement and better utilisation of the park and how it supports the local community. 

 

This research has provided an unprecedented wealth of representative quantitative data together 

with rich qualitative feedback and will provide guidance in the development of this much loved 

resource at the heart of Guildford. There are high levels of satisfaction throughout the report 

towards all aspects of the park and some strong steers on how residents may want to interact with 

the park and see it evolve. There is a sense that the park should not be subject to overdevelopment, 

retaining its function as an undulating open space, yet there are opportunities for improvement to 

facilities, cohesion, communication and management.  

 

“I think we have the balance is right. I would see it underdeveloped rather than overdeveloped. 

It is a lung for Guildford.” 

 

“I just wouldn’t change it at all (the park). It’s just a lovely green space that’s quite undulating. It 

has some lovely trees in it that look great at this time of year. It’s a lovely open space that 

makes you feel that it is not in a town centre.” 

  

Page 49

Agenda item number: 5



 

 

10 
 

 

2.0 Introduction 
 

2.1 Background 
“Our vision for Stoke Park is to conserve its historic parkland character and develop a vibrant 

destination park through a culture of excellence and good recreational opportunities.” Stoke Park 

management plan 2018-2028. 

 

Stoke Park is Guildford’s largest and best-known park, and is described by local people as "the lungs 

of Guildford". It is an extremely diverse and well-used green space consisting of 52 hectares and has 

held the Green Flag Award for quality for the last 12 years. 

 

Guildford Borough Council commissioned SMSR Ltd, an independent research company, to 

undertake a consultation on Stoke Park. The aim of the research was to survey residents and 

stakeholders in order to produce a report and summary that provides a resource of information for 

the Stoke Park management plan, the proposed Stoke Park master plan and external funding bids. 

 

2.2 Report Structure 
This report details findings from the consultation which was undertaken between 4th September 

2017 and 27th November 2017. 

 

The feedback has been presented in themes, with feedback being collated and reported under a 

number of aspects of Stoke Park. Included in the report are findings from both the qualitative and 

quantitative aspects of the consultation. 

 

  

Page 50

Agenda item number: 5



 

 

11 
 

 

3.0  Methodology and Sample 
 

It was important that the methodological approach was robust and wide-reaching and therefore it 

was decided that a combination of methodologies would be utilised to ensure representation and 

inclusivity.  

 

Two scripts were provided to capture feedback from those who regularly use Stoke Park (users) and 

those who do not use the park frequently or not at all (non-users). 

 

A number of in-depth interviews were also conducted with stakeholders, providing rich qualitative 

data to support the research and a summary has been included in this report. 

 

The demographic breakdown of responses was as follows: 

 

3.1 Users Survey 
In total 1559 residents from across the Guildford Borough took part in the ‘users’ consultation across 

three methods: Face to face & telephone interviewing with a representative sample of Guildford 

residents; an online consultation promoted by the Parks and Countryside team and via a postal 

Guildford Borough Council Citizens’ Panel survey.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Gender Number 
Percentage of 

sample 

Male 672 43.1% 

Female 864 55.4% 

Transgender 1 0.1% 

Not stated 22 1.4% 

Page 51

Agenda item number: 5



 

 

12 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Age Number 
Percentage of 

sample 

16-24 151 9.7% 

25-34 240 15.4% 

35-44 485 31.1% 

45-54 313 20.1% 

55-64 178 11.4% 

65-74 158 10.1% 

Not stated 34 2.2% 

Ethnicity Number 
Percentage of 

sample 

White 1310 84.0% 

BME 160 10.2% 

Not stated 89 5.7% 

Method Number 
Percentage of 

sample 

Face to face & telephone 821 52.7% 

Online 677 43.4% 

Panel 61 3.9% 

Do you belong to a club that uses the park’s facilities Number 
Percentage of 

sample 

Yes 299 19% 

No 1257 81% 

Page 52

Agenda item number: 5



 

 

13 
 

 

*percentage of number of respondents who provided a response (n=259)  

If so, which ones? Number 
Percentage of 

sample* 

Rugby Club 99 38% 

Bowling Club 53 20% 

Park Run 44 17% 

Busy Lizzy 12 5% 

Football Club 11 4% 

Parafit (Now Bootcamp UK) 7 3% 

British Military Fitness 6 3% 

Godalming Athletics 6 2% 

Running Club 5 2% 

Charlotteville Cycling Club 4 2% 

Fitstuff Running Club 3 2% 

Ladies Fitness Camp 2 1% 

Guildford Allotment Society 2 1% 

Junior Park Run 2 1% 

Scouts 2 1% 

Tennis 2 1% 

Weight Watchers 1 0% 

Wild Wood 1 0% 

Buggy Fit 1 0% 

Softball 1 0% 

Guildford Model Engineering 1 0% 

Skateboarding Group 1 0% 

Lacrosse 1 0% 

Pug Meet Up 1 0% 

Guildford High School 1 0% 

Young Athletics Club 1 0% 

Daisy Chain Café 1 0% 

Page 53

Agenda item number: 5



 

 

14 
 

 

3.2 Non-Users 
In total 409 residents from across the Guildford Borough took part in the ‘non-users’ consultation 

across three methods: telephone interviewing; an online consultation and face to face interviewing. 

 

The demographic breakdown of responses was as follows: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Gender Number 
Percentage of 

sample 

Male 171 41.8% 

Female 229 56.0% 

Transgender 1 0.2% 

Not stated 8 2.0% 

Age Number 
Percentage of 

sample 

16-24 17 4.2% 

25-34 34 8.3% 

35-44 39 9.5% 

45-54 81 19.8% 

55-64 66 16.1% 

65-74 159 38.9% 

Not stated 13 3.2% 

Ethnicity Number 
Percentage of 

sample 

White 380 92.9% 

BME 15 3.7% 

Not stated 14 3.4% 

Page 54

Agenda item number: 5



 

 

15 
 

 

 

 

  

Method Number 
Percentage of 

sample 

Telephone 250 61.1% 

Online 128 31.2% 

Face to face 31 7.6% 

Page 55

Agenda item number: 5



 

 

16 
 

 

4.0 Findings 
 

4.1 User Profile 
 

 

  

Key Findings 

64% visited Stoke Park at least weekly 

Around two-thirds (66%) said it was their primary reason for travelling 

68% spent between 30 minutes and 2 hours at the park 

The children’s playground/park and paddling/splash pool were the main reasons       

given for visiting the park 

Over three-quarters (79%) visit Stoke Park more than any other park or open space 

Nearly half (47%) visit the park with children  

Most people travel to the park by car (50%) or by walking (49%) 

Page 56

Agenda item number: 5



 

 

17 
 

 

 

Just under half (45%) of Stoke Park users said they visited the park once or twice a week, with just 

under a fifth (19%) saying they visited it nearly every day and 28% saying they visited it once a 

month.  

Males used Stoke Park more frequently than female respondents, with 23% of males visiting nearly 

every day and half visiting once or twice a week compared to 16% of females who visited almost 

daily and 41% who visited once or twice a week.  Those aged 16-24 (35%) and 65 and over (25%) 

were the most likely to visit almost every day, whereas those aged 35-44 (12%) were least likely to 

visit nearly every day.   

BAME respondents visit the park more frequently than white respondents with 24% of BAME 

respondents visiting almost every day and 49% visiting once or twice a week compared with 19% of 

white respondents who visit almost every day and 45% who visit once or twice a week.  Respondents 

without a disability were most likely to visit once or twice a week (46%) where those with a disability 

were most likely to visit Stoke Park once a month (36%). 

Respondents in education or training (35% almost every day and 47% once or twice a week) and 

those retired (26% almost every day and 43% once or twice a week) were the most frequent to visit 

Stoke Park.  In contrast those not currently working or unemployed were the least frequent visitors 

to the park with just under two-fifths (39%) visiting once a month. 

Those without children (26%) were more likely than those with children (15%) to visit almost every 

day, whereas those with children (47%) were more likely than those without children (41%) to visit 

the park once or twice a week. 

Residents of Christchurch (33%) and Friary and St Nicolas (25%) were most likely to visit Stoke Park 

almost every day, whereas residents in Stoughton were the least frequent visitors with almost half 

(48%) visiting once a month.   

2% 

19% 

45% 

28% 

4% 
1% 

First time
visit

Almost
every day

Once or
twice a
week

Once a
month

Once every
six months

Once a year

Approximately how often do you visit Stoke Park? 

Page 57

Agenda item number: 5



 

 

18 
 

 

 

Just under two-thirds (66%) stated that when they did visit Stoke Park it was there primary reason 

for travelling with the remaining 34% saying it was not there primary reason for travelling.  

The following groups more frequently said it was there primary reason for travelling: 

 Female respondents (68%) 

 Those aged 16-24 (87%), 35-44% (70%) and 55-64 (70%)  

 Respondents not currently working / unemployed (73%) and retired (70%) 

 Respondents with children (72%) 

 Residents living in Burpham (73%), Friary and St Nicolas (71%), Merrow (73%), Onslow (76%) 

and Westborough (73%) 

 

These groups were, however, were less likely to say it was there primary reason for travelling to 

Stoke Park: 

 Males (63%) 

 Those aged 45-54 and 65+ (both 61%) 

 Respondents with a disability (59%) 

 Those in full-time employment (61%) 

 Respondents without children (60%) 

 Those who visit the park almost every day (59%) 

 Residents living in Christchurch (60%) and Holy Trinity (59%) 

 

66% 

34% 

When you visit Stoke Park, is it your 
primary reason for travelling? 

Yes

No

Page 58

Agenda item number: 5



 

 

19 
 

 

 

Respondents who said when they visit Stoke Park it was not there primary reason for travelling, 

were then asked what their main reason for travelling was. Nearly half (47%) said it was for an 

‘other’ reason, 27% stated it was a pleasant route to somewhere else and just under a fifth (18%) 

said it was for a quick break to relax.  The table below shows the responses of those that said ‘other’ 

with walking (24%) and for children (21%) being the most popular responses. 

 

 

47% 

27% 

18% 
6% 

2% 0% 

Other Pleasant
route to

somewhere
else

Quick break
to relax

Short cut to
destination

Quick break
to eat

Use the
toilets or

car parking

If no, why do you visit Stoke Park? 

Please specify other 

Reason Number Percentage 

Walking 28 24% 

For children (incl. walking, cycling, scooters) 24 21% 

Dog walking 20 17% 

Children’s playground/park 17 15% 

Running 17 15% 

Exercise 15 13% 

Paddling/splash pool 13 11% 

Park run 10 9% 

Rugby (e.g. Guildfordians) 10 9% 

Page 59

Agenda item number: 5



 

 

20 
 

 

Please could I ask the main reason(s) that you visit Stoke Park? 

Reason Number Percentage 

Children’s playground/park 292 23% 

Paddling/splash pool 221 17% 

Walking 180 14% 

Skate park 161 13% 

For children (incl. walking, cycling, scooters) 128 10% 

Relaxation/leisure 125 10% 

Dog walking 123 10% 

 

When asked the main reason why they visit Stoke Park, a total of 62 different reasons were given as 

to why respondents visit.  The table above shows the most frequently given responses and shows 

the most frequently given response, with nearly a quarter of respondents mentioning it, was for the 

children’s playground/park (23%).  Under a fifth said they visited for the paddling/splash pool (17%), 

walking (14%) or the skate park (13%) with a tenth of those asked saying they visited for children, for 

relaxation  or for dog walking.  

 

Over a third (35%) said they typically stayed in Stoke Park for between 1 and 2 hours, with slightly 

less (33%) saying they visited for between 30 minutes to an hour.   

 

9% 

33% 
35% 

20% 

2% 

Under 30 mins 30 mins to 1
hour

Between 1
and 2 hours

Between 2
and 5 hours

More than 5
hours

How long do you typically stay in Stoke Park for? 

Page 60

Agenda item number: 5



 

 

21 
 

 

Respondents aged 16-24 (32%), 25-34 (29%) and 65 and over (28%) were the most likely to spend 

two hours or more at the park, with those aged 45-54 (17%) and 55-64 (12%) the least likely to 

spend over 2 hours in the park.  Those who were not currently working/out of work (29%) were also 

more likely to spend over 2 hours at Stoke Park.   

Residents of Ash South and Tongham (41%), Onslow (38%), Send (57%) and Tillingbourne (36%) were 

the most likely to spend  over 2 hours in Stoke Park, whereas residents living in Christchurch (12%), 

Friary and St Nicolas (11%), Holy Trinity (11%) were least likely to spend over 2 hours visiting the 

park. 

 

The majority of respondents (79%) said they visited Stoke Park more than any other park, open 

space or public gardens, with just less than a fifth (17%) that said this was not the case. A small 

minority (5%) were not sure whether Stoke Park was the park, open space or public garden the 

frequented most frequently. 

Those more likely to say visit Stoke Park than another park, open space or public garden were: 

 Males (83%) 

 Those aged 16-24 (85%) 

 BAME respondents (84%) 

 Respondents in full-time employment (82%) or in education/training (84%) 

 Respondents without children (82%) 

 Frequent visitors: those who visit almost every day (93%) and once or twice a week (87%) 

 Resident of Christchurch (89%), Friary and St Nicolas (83%), Stoke (87%), Stoughton (87%) 

and Westborough (84%) 

 

 

79% 

17% 

5% 

Would you say that you visit Stoke Park 
more than any other park open space 

or public gardens such as those owned 
by the RHS and the National Trust? 

Yes

No

Not sure

Page 61

Agenda item number: 5



 

 

22 
 

 

The following groups were less likely to say that Stoke Park was the park, open space or public 

garden they visited most frequently: 

 Females (75%) 

 Respondents aged 35-44 (74%)  

 Respondents who visit less frequently: once a month (67%), once every six month (40%), 

once a year (27%) 

 Those with a disability (76%) 

 Respondents living in Ash South and Tongham (68%), Clandon and Horsley (71%), Normandy 

(67%), Send (67%), Shalford (73%), Tillingbourne (73%) and Worplesdon (73%)  

 

If no, please could you tell me the park, open space or public garden that you visit most 
frequently? 

Park, open space or public garden Number Percentage 

RHS Wisley 56 22% 

Hatchlands park 16 6% 

Sutherland memorial park (Burpham) 15 6% 

National Trust (non-specific) 15 6% 

Polesden Lacey 12 5% 

Woking park 12 5% 

Newlands Corner 12 5% 

 

Respondents who didn’t visit Stoke Park most frequently were then asked which park, open space or 

public garden they did visit most frequently. The table above shows the most frequently given 

responses and shows that RHS Wisley was the most popular response with over a fifth (22%) of 

respondents mentioning it.  

 

 

Page 62

Agenda item number: 5



 

 

23 
 

 

 

The main reason given for visiting this park was to spend time with family, with half of those asked 

giving this response, closely followed by to use the play area and to go for a walk (both 47%).  Over a 

quarter mentioned enjoying the attractive setting/landscape (40%), to experience nature (33%), 

taking exercise (31%), rest and fresh air (29%) and to enjoy peace and quiet (28%). 

 

 

3% 

4% 

5% 

5% 

9% 

9% 

11% 

16% 

16% 

20% 

28% 

29% 

31% 

33% 

40% 

47% 

47% 

50% 

Take a short cut

Shop

Visit the garden centre

Take a lunch break

Play sport

Attend seasonal event

Other

Use paddling pool or swim

Walk a dog or dogs

Use catering facility

Enjoy peace and quiet

Rest and fresh air

Take exercise

Experience nature

Enjoy attractive setting/landscaping

Go for a walk

Use play area

Spend time with family

Please could you tell me why you visit this park / open space 
/ garden most frequently? 

Page 63

Agenda item number: 5



 

 

24 
 

 

 

Nearly (47%) half of respondents stated they tended to visit Stoke Park with children, a fifth said 

they visited on their own and around a tenth stated it was with friends (12%), with a partner (10%) 

or with a dog or dogs (9%).   

Female respondents (54%) were more likely to visit the park with children compared to males (39%), 

whereas males were twice as likely to visit with friends (18%) when compared to females (9%).  

Respondents aged 16-24 were most likely to visit Stoke park with their friends (54%), those aged 35-

44 were most likely to visit with children (76%) and those aged over 55 were most likely to visit on 

their own (38% 55-64, 32% 65 and over).   

Respondents with a disability were less likely to visit the park with children (27%) compared to those 

without a  disability (49%) but were more likely to visit the park with a dog or dogs (18%) than those 

without a disability (8%).  Respondents in a part-time job (63%) and those not currently working 

(69%) were the most likely to visit with children,  respondents in education or training were the most 

likely to visit with friends (40%) and retired respondents were the most likely to visit the park on 

their own (38%).  

Unsurprisingly, those with children were more likely to attend the park with children (75%) 

compared to those without children (15%), with respondents without children more likely to attend 

on their own (33%), with friends (19%), with a partner (19%) or with a dog or dogs (11%). Those who 

visit almost every day were the most likely to visit on their own (34%) with those visiting once a 

month the most likely to visit with children (56%).  

Residents of Christchurch (28%) and Holy Trinity (24%) were the most likely to attend Stoke Park on 

their own, with residents of Burpham (57%) and Stoughton (70%) the most likely to attend with 

children.  

47% 

20% 

12% 
10% 9% 2% 

With
children

On your
own

With friends With
partner

With a dog
or dogs

Other

Do you tend to visit Stoke Park...? 

Page 64

Agenda item number: 5



 

 

25 
 

 

 

Half of respondents said they generally travel to Stoke Park in the car, with slightly less (49%) saying 

they walk to Stoke Park.  Less than a tenth travelled to the park on a bicycle with a small minority 

that used public transport to get to the park (3% bus and 2% train).  No respondents reporting using 

a motorbike or taxi to travel to the park.  

Respondents aged over 65 were the least likely to walk to the park (38%) and most likely to drive 

(62%), however, those age 55 to 64 were the most likely to walk to the park with 57% doing so.  

Respondents aged 16-24 were the most likely to cycle to the park (13%) as well as being the most 

likely to use public transport (11% bus and 9% train).  Similarly retired respondents were less likely 

to walk (42%) and more likely to drive (57%) with those in education or training the most likely to 

cycle to the park (14%) or use public transport (8% bus and 7% train).  

BAME respondents were more likely to walk to the park (57%) and less likely to use the car (42%), 

whereas the opposite was true for those with a disability with 42% that said they walk and 59% that 

used a car to travel to Stoke Park.  

The more frequently respondents visited the park the more likely they were to walk with almost 

two-thirds (66%) of those using it almost every day reporting walking to the park whereas only 22% 

of those that visited once every six months walked to the park.  The opposite held true for those 

driving to Stoke Park, with 32% of daily users travelling by car to the park, whereas those visiting 

once a month (59%) and once every six months (79%) reported travelling to the park by car more 

frequently.  

Residents of Send (86%), Westborough (71%) and Worplesdon (71%) were the most likely to use a 

car to travel to Stoke Park, whereas residents of Christchurch (76%), Friary and St Nicolas and Holy 

Trinity (both 73%) were the most likely to walk to Stoke Park.  

 

 

 

50% 49% 

8% 3% 2% 0% 0% 

Car Walk Bicycle Bus Train Motorbike Taxi

Generally, how do you travel to Stoke Park? 

Page 65

Agenda item number: 5



 

 

26 
 

 

4.2 Non Users Profile 
 

 

 

Among non-frequent and non-users of Stoke park over half (53%) reported using the park once 

every six months, a third used the park once a year and over a tenth (14%) said that they had never 

visited Stoke Park.  

Respondents over the age of 65 were the most likely to say they had never visited Stoke Park with 

over a fifth (21%) that said they had never done so.  A fifth of retired respondents also said that they 

had never visited Stoke Park.  Respondents with a disability more frequently reported that they had 

never visited with 22% that stated this was the case.  

Residents in Ash South and Tongham (48%) were the most likely to have said that they have never 

visited Stoke Park.   

 

 

0% 0% 0% 

53% 

33% 

14% 

Almost
every day

Once or
twice a
week

Once a
month

Once every
six months

Once a year I have never
visited Stoke

Park

Approximately how often do you visit Stoke Park? 

Key Findings 

Over half (53%) visited Stoke Park once every six months. 14% had never 

visited the park. 

Around three-quarters (74%) had visited a park or open space other than 

Stoke park in the last year 

Two-fifths (42%) said they generally found out about attractions, places of 

interest and parks and open spaces online – in general. 

Over a quarter (27%) visited RHS Wisley 

The majority (85%) were satisfied with parks and spaces provided by 

Guildford Borough Council 

Page 66

Agenda item number: 5



 

 

27 
 

 

 

Just under three-quarters (74%) of non-users said they had visited a park, open space or public 

garden other than Stoke Park in the last 12 months, with 26% that said they had not done so.  

The following were more likely to have attended a park, open space or public garden other than 

Stoke Park in the past 12 months: 

 Those aged 25-34 (76%), 35-44 (77%), 45-54 (79%) and 55-64 (82%) 

 Respondents in full-time employment (80%) 

 Respondents with children (79%) 

 Residents of Christchurch (82%), Merrow (77%) and Stoughton (90%)  

 

The following were less likely to have reported visiting another park, open space or public garden: 

 Males (70%) 

 Respondents aged 16-24 (53%) and 65 and over (67%)  

 Respondents that are retired (68%) 

 Those with a disability (67%) 

 BAME respondents (66%) 

 Residents of Ash South and Tongham (52%) and Stoke (54%)  

 

 

 

 

 

74% 

26% 

Have you visited a park, open space 
or public garden (e.g. RHS, National 
Trust) other than Stoke Park in the 

last 12 months? 

Yes

No

Page 67

Agenda item number: 5



 

 

28 
 

 

Please could you tell me which park, open space or public garden (e.g. RHS, National Trust) 
that you have used most frequently in the last 12 months? 

Response Number Percentage 

RHS Wisley 82 27% 

National Trust (non-specific) 33 11% 

Newlands Corner 26 9% 

Castle grounds 22 7% 

Other 13 4% 

Whitmoor Common (Worplesdon Road) 11 4% 

 

Those that reported visiting a park, open space or public garden other than Stoke Park in the last 12 

months were asked which park, open space or public garden they had visited most frequently.  In 

total 119 different responses were given.  The table above shows the most frequently given 

responses and shows that RHS Wisley was the most popular response with over a quarter (27%) 

mentioning this.  

 

Page 68

Agenda item number: 5



 

 

29 
 

 

 

Over a quarter of respondents said the main reason they visit this park or open space was to either 

exercise (26%), to relax or contemplate (26%) or for other reasons (25%).  Social and family reasons 

were also seen as an important factor as to why respondents visited this park or open space as over 

a fifth mentioned the reason being was to meet with friends (22%), to take the children to play 

(21%) or for a family outing (20%).  The table below shows the most popular answers respondents 

gave when they said they visited the park for ‘other’ reasons.  

2% 

3% 

4% 

5% 

7% 

13% 

15% 

16% 

17% 

20% 

21% 

22% 

25% 

26% 

26% 

To paddle or bathe

For educational reasons

To use the catering facility

To take a shortcut

To play sports / games

To see events / entertainment

To observe the wildlife

To walk the dog

To reduce stress or improve mood

For a family outing

To take the children to play

To meet with friends

Other

To relax / contemplate

To exercise

Can you tell me the main reasons why you visit this 
park or open space? 

Can you tell me the main reasons why you visit this park or open space? Please specify other. 

Response Number Percentage 

Enjoying the scenery/nature (flowers etc.) 24 32% 

To go for a walk 11 15% 

Location 9 12% 

Fresh air/ambience 9 12% 

Page 69

Agenda item number: 5



 

 

30 
 

 

 

 

When asked how they find out about attractions, places of interest and open spaces, half of all 

respondents said it was through ‘other’ means or methods with slightly fewer (43%) saying they 

found out online – in general.  Around a fifth of respondents said they either found out from leaflets 

through the post (22%) or from social media (17%).  The table below show the responses people 

gave when the said ‘other’, with over a third that mentioned word of mouth (34%) and 23% that said 

they found out about attractions, places of interest and open spaces from newspapers. 

How do you generally find out about attractions, places of interest or parks and open 
spaces? Please specify other. 

Response Number Percentage 

Word of mouth 69 34% 

Newspaper (non-specific) 46 23% 

Advertisements/posters 17 8% 

Magazine (non-specific) 16 8% 

Local knowledge 16 8% 

National Trust information 12 6% 

Surrey Advertiser 11 5% 

1% 

2% 

4% 

5% 

6% 

17% 

22% 

43% 

50% 

Mobile phone app - in general

Television

Tourist information office

Online - specific website(s)

Radio

Social media

Leaflets through the post

Online - in general

Other

How do you generally find out about attractions, places 
of interest or parks and open spaces? 

Page 70

Agenda item number: 5



 

 

31 
 

 

 

 

The majority of non-users (85%) were satisfied  overall with the parks and spaces service provided by 

Guildford Borough Council, with an equal split between those that are very satisfied and those that 

are fairly satisfied (both 43%).  Only 3% mentioned dissatisfaction with the parks and open spaces 

service provided by Guildford Borough Council, with less than a tenth saying they were neither 

satisfied nor dissatisfied (8%).  

Less than two-thirds (64%) of those aged 35-44 were satisfied with the parks and open spaces 

service provided by Guildford Borough Council with this rising considerably when considering those 

aged 45-54 (90%), 55-64 (88%) and 65 and above (89%).  When taking into account younger 

respondents, 16-24 (82%) and 25-34 (82%), they were found to be generally around a fifth more 

satisfied than those aged 35-44 and a tenth less satisfied than respondents 45+. 

Self-employed respondents (79%) and those not currently working (75%) were less likely to be 

satisfied with the overall parks and open spaces service provided by Guildford Borough Council 

whereas retired respondents (89%) were the most satisfied with the parks and open spaces service. 

Over nine-tenths of respondents with a disability (91%) reported satisfaction with the parks and 

open spaces service, 7% higher than those without a disability (84%).  BAME respondents (81%) 

signified lower levels of satisfaction in comparison to white respondents (87%) as did those with 

children (78%) when compared to those without children (87%).  

Nearly all respondents residing in Merrow (97%) were satisfied with the parks and open spaces 

service with satisfaction levels also exceeding 90% amongst residents of Friary and St Nicolas (92%) 

and Stoughton (90%). 

  

43% 43% 

8% 

3% 
0% 

4% 

Very satisfied Fairly satisfied Neither
satisfied nor
dissatisfied

Fairly
dissatisfied

Very
dissatisfied

Don't know /
not sure

Please indicate how satisfied or dissatisfied you are overall 
with the parks and open spaces service provided by 

Guildford Borough Council. 

Page 71

Agenda item number: 5



 

 

32 
 

 

Please indicate how satisfied or dissatisfied you are overall with the parks and open spaces 
service provided by Guildford Borough Council. Why do you say that? 

Response Number Percentage 

Well maintained/clean 112 31% 

Generally good/happy 70 19% 

A large amount of places to choose from 40 11% 

Good open/green space 37 10% 

Good appearance 19 5% 

I don’t have much experience/don’t visit them 18 5% 

 

When asked why they were either satisfied or dissatisfied with the parks and open spaces service 

provided by Guildford Borough Council just under a third (31%) stated it was because the parks and 

open spaces are well maintained and clean and less than a fifth (19%) said it was because the parks 

are generally good and they are generally happy with them. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 72

Agenda item number: 5



 

 

33 
 

 

4.3 Car Parking 
 

 

  

Key Findings 

Half rely on a car to travel to Stoke Park 

Around a quarter park at Guildford College (28%) or at Lido Road car park / 

bowls club / Wildwood (23%) 

43% felt the availability of parking spaces was poor or very poor 

Over half (55%) wanted to see an improvement or investment in car parks; a 

quarter wanted an increased number of car parks 

Contradictions & 

correlations 

43% said the availability of parking spaces was poor but only 25% wanted an 

increased number of car parks 

Both the survey and the in-depth interviews identified the lack of available 

car parking as an issue 

Lack of parking was the main reason given (17%) as to why users don’t use 

Stoke Park more frequently 

86% of non-users and 83% of users felt car parking facilities were important 

when visiting a park or open space 

Questions to be explored 

Why do only a quarter want an increased number of car parks when 43% 

mentioned dissatisfaction with the availability of parking spaces? 

Lack of spaces was frequently mentioned by respondents.  Where would they 

like to see these extra spaces?  Would they rather expand a current car park 

or build a new one?  If so where?  

Page 73

Agenda item number: 5



 

 

34 
 

 

 

More respondents said that they generally travel to Stoke Park by car than by means, with half of 

those asked saying they used a car to travel, slightly more than those that walked (49%).  

Respondents aged over 65 (62%), retired respondents (67%) and those with a disability (59%) were 

more likely to drive than other respondents.  Those that used the park less frequently were also 

more likely to rely on the car to travel to Stoke Park as 59% of those visiting once a month and 79% 

of those visiting once every six months reported using a car to travel to Stoke Park.  Residents of 

Send (86%), Westborough (71%) and Worplesdon (71%) were the most likely to rely on a car to 

travel to Stoke park when compared to residents of other wards within Guildford. 

  

50% 49% 

8% 3% 2% 0% 0% 

Car Walk Bicycle Bus Train Motorbike Taxi

Generally, how do you travel to Stoke Park? 

Page 74

Agenda item number: 5



 

 

35 
 

 

 

Over a quarter of those who travel to Stoke Park by car said they mainly parked at Guildford College 

car park (28%) with just under a quarter (23%) stating they parked at Lido Road car park / bowls club 

/ Wildwood.  Less than a fifth (18%) said they parked on the street, with around a tenth saying they 

parked at Spectrum Leisure Centre (12%), Nightingale Road car park (9%) or Burchatts Farm Barn / 

London Road car park (8%).  

Female respondents (34%) tended to be more likely than males (21%) to park at Guildford College 

car park, whereas males were more likely to park at Burchatts Farm Barn / London Road car park 

(12%) or Lido Road car park / bowls club / Wildwood (28%) when compared to females (5% and 20% 

respectively).    

The older the respondent the less likely they were to park at Guildford College car park with those 

mainly using that car park decreasing from 36% among 16-24 year old and 35% among 25-34 year 

olds down to 20% for those aged 55-64 and 17% for those aged 65 and over.  Those aged 65 and 

over were, however, a fifth more likely to park at Lido Road car park / bowls club / Wildwood (43%) 

than any other age group.   

Respondents in part-time employment (41%) and those not currently working (39%) were more 

likely to park at Guildford College car park and retired respondents were more likely to park at Lido 

Road car park / bowls club / Wildwood (45%). 

Respondents with children were more likely to park at Guildford College car park (33%) compared to 

those without children (21%) whereas the opposite was true for those parking at Lido Road car park 

/ bowls club / Wildwood with a fifth of those with children parking there in comparison to 30% of 

those without children.  

The more frequently the respondent visited the greater the likeliness of parking at Lido Road car 

park / bowls club / Wildwood as two-fifths of daily users  stated they mainly parked here but this fell 

to 15% for those that visited once a month and 11% to those that visited once every six months. 

2% 

8% 

9% 

12% 

18% 

23% 

28% 

Other

Burchatts Farm Barn / London
Road car park

Nightingale Road car park Parks
and Leisure Services depot

Spectrum Leisure Centre

On Street

Lido Road car park / bowls club /
Wildwood

Guildford College car park

If you travel by car, where do you mainly park? 

Page 75

Agenda item number: 5



 

 

36 
 

 

Residents of Clandon and Horsley (43%), Stoughton (38%) and Westborough (36%) were more likely 

to park at Guildford College car park.  Residents of Torplesdon (38%), Tillingbourne (32%), Shalford 

(33%) and Burpham (34%) were more likely to have mainly used Lido Road car park / bowls club / 

Wildwood when visiting Stoke Park.  

If you travel by car, where do you mainly park? Please specify other 

Response Number Percentage 

Rugby club 8 57% 

Parks and leisure staff car park 1 7% 

Local private car park 1 7% 

Dropped off by parents 1 7% 

Partners workplace 1 7% 

Friend’s house 1 7% 

Endmore Avenue 1 7% 

 

Of those that said they parked at another car park, 8 respondents (57%) stated they parked at the 

Rugby club with all other choices receiving only one response (7%).  

  

Page 76

Agenda item number: 5



 

 

37 
 

 

 

 

Over three-fifths (62%) felt the condition of the car park they use and the safety of the car park was 

either very good or good with over half (53%) that felt the security of the car park was very good or 

good. For these three statements on the car park they use responses of average were all slightly 

above a fifth with responses of very poor and poor below a fifth.  

Respondents were less positive when asked to consider the availability of parking spaces with only 

slightly more rating this aspect as very good or good (44%) than those that rated it very poor or poor 

(43%); 13% stated they felt it was average.  The lack of car parking was the most frequently given 

reason as to what prevents respondents from using Stoke Park more frequently, with 17% that gave 

this as a reason. 

The following groups tended to be more positive towards these statements regarding car parks: 

 Male respondents 

 Those aged 16-24 and 45-54 

 BAME respondents 

 Respondents in full-time employment and those not currently working 

 Respondents who visit the park once a month 

 Residents of Christchurch, Friary and St Nicolas, Merrow, Stoke, Stoughton, Westborough 

and Worplesdon 

 

 

 

 

11% 

11% 

12% 

16% 

33% 

43% 

51% 

47% 

13% 

21% 

22% 

21% 

43% 

17% 

11% 

17% 

8% 

5% 

Availability of parking spaces

Security of car park

Safety

Condition of car park

And please tell me how you rate the following at the car park that 
you use?  

Very good Good Average Poor/very poor Don't know

Page 77

Agenda item number: 5



 

 

38 
 

 

 

The following groups showed lower levels of agreement towards the statements regarding car parks: 

 Female respondents 

 Those aged 65 and over 

 The self-employed and retired  

 Respondents who visit Stoke Park almost every day and those that visit once every six 

months 

 Residents of Burpham and Holy Trinity 

 

When considering the availability of parking spaces only a quarter of respondents over the age of 65 

and 26% of retired respondents said they felt the availability of spaces was either very good or good, 

with 61% of those aged over 65 and 58% of those retired saying they thought the availability of 

spaces was either very poor or poor.  This shows a significant difference from the overall results 

where 44%% felt the availability of spaces was very good or good and 43% felt it was very poor or 

poor. 

 

Over half (55%) stated that they would improve or invest in car parks if they were managing Stoke 

Park, a quarter said they would increase the number of car parks, with just over a fifth (21%) that 

said they would keep the car parks as they are.   

This need for improvements/investments was backed up by the importance placed upon car parking 

by respondents with 83% that felt car parking facilities were important when visiting a park or open 

space.  A lack of parking was also viewed as a reason that prevented people using the park more 

frequently, with 17% of users and 16% of non-users that said this prevented them using the park 

more frequently.   Around a quarter (24%) of non-users also mentioned that more available parking 

spaces would encourage them to use Stoke Park in the future. 

Respondents aged 55-64 (64%) and 65 and over (70%) more frequently said they would improve the 

car parks if they were managing Stoke Park, whereas only 36% of those aged 16-24 said they would 

55% 

25% 
21% 

Improve / invest in Increase number Keep as it is

If you were managing Stoke Park, what would 
you improve, increase or maintain as they are? - 

Car parks 

Page 78

Agenda item number: 5



 

 

39 
 

 

do so.  Just under a third (66%) of respondents with a disability said that they would improve or 

invest in car parks.  

Respondents in part-time employment (60%), not currently working (67%) and those that were 

retired (73%) were more likely to have said the car parks needed improving, whereas those in 

education or training (33%) were much less likely to feel the car parks needed improving or investing 

in.  

Those visiting the park once or twice a week (49%) were less likely to want improvements to the car 

parks, with those visiting Stoke Park once a month (59%) or once every six months (73%) more 

frequently saying they would improve the car park.  

Residents in Send (70%), Burpham (64%) and Tillingbourne (63%) more frequently expressed a need 

for improvements to the car park, whereas those residing in Clandon and Horsley (49%), Onslow 

(49%), Friary and St Nicolas (47%), Merrow (47%) and Shalford (46%) felt less of a need for 

improvements to the car parks.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 79

Agenda item number: 5



 

 

40 
 

 

4.4 Catering 
 

 

  

Key Findings 

Just over a third (35%) were satisfied with the catering facilities at Stoke Park 

Three-fifths said they would improve or invest in catering facilities 

A covered seating area and facilities open all year (both 73%) were seen as the 

main features that would encourage use of catering facilities 

Contradictions & 

correlations 

A high proportion (60%) wanted investments or improvements to catering 

facilities, which supports the low proportion (35%) that were satisfied with the 

current catering facilities 

Of those that said a lack of facilities prevented them visiting the park, half 

(49%) said an improved café was lacking 

Both the survey and the in-depth interviews indicated a need for improved 

catering facilities 

Questions to be explored 
What level of investment would be necessary to improve the current catering 

facilities to a level whereby people are satisfied with them? 

Page 80

Agenda item number: 5



 

 

41 
 

 

 

Just over a third were satisfied (35%) with the catering facilities at Stoke Park, slightly less said they 

were neither satisfied nor dissatisfied and just under a quarter (23%) were dissatisfied with the 

catering facilities.  

Respondents aged 34-44 indicated the lowest levels of satisfaction with the catering facilities (30%) 

with elder respondents indicating higher levels of satisfaction; 40% among those aged 55-64 and 

42% among those aged 65 and over.   BAME respondents showed lower levels of satisfaction 

towards the catering facilities (29%), however respondents with a disability tended to be more 

satisfied regarding the catering (40%).  

Self-employed respondents displayed lower levels of satisfaction with the catering (24%) while 

retired respondents were more positive towards the catering facilities offered at Stoke Park with 

42% stating they were satisfied.  Respondents who visit the park almost every day (29%) were less 

satisfied with the catering when compared to those that visit the park once every six months (55%).  

Residents within Clandon and Horsley (53%), Stoke (43%), Tillingbourne (46%), Westborough (40%) 

and Worplesdon (42%) expressed higher levels of satisfaction towards the catering facilities in the 

park whereas resident in Burpham (29%), Christchurch (31%), Friary and St Nicolas (29%), Holy 

Trinity (31%) indicated lower levels of satisfaction.  

 

6% 

29% 
32% 

18% 

5% 

10% 

Very
satisfied

Satisfied Neither
satisfied nor
dissatisfied

Dissatisfied Very
dissatisfied

Don't know

How satisfied are you with the catering facilities at 
Stoke Park 

Page 81

Agenda item number: 5



 

 

42 
 

 

 

Three-fifths felt there was a need to improve or invest in the catering facilities at Stoke Park, with a 

further fifth that said they should increase the number.  Just under a fifth (19%) said the catering 

facilities should be kept as they are.  This need for improved catering facilities was also mentioned 

by non-users of Stoke Park as over a tenth (11%) mentioned this as something that would encourage 

them to use Stoke Park in the future. 

The following groups were more likely to have said they would like to see an improvement in the 

catering facilities at Stoke Park: 

 Female respondents (63%) 

 Those aged 25-34 (63%), 35-44 (64%) and 45-54 (63%) 

 BAME respondents (64%) 

 Self-employed respondents (67%) and those in part-time employment (65%)  

 Respondents with children (64%) 

 Residents of Christchurch (69%), Holy Trinity (64%), Onslow (64%), Send (67%), Stoughton 

(65%) and Worplesdon (63%) 

 

60% 

20% 19% 

Improve / invest in Increase number Keep as it is

If you were managing Stoke Park, what would 
you improve, increase or maintain as they are? - 

Catering facilities 

Page 82

Agenda item number: 5



 

 

43 
 

 

 

Nearly three-quarters (73%) felt that having catering facilities open all year and having a covered 

seating area would encourage them to use Stoke Park’s catering facilities.  Over three-fifths 

indicated a range of takeaway/snacks at a cost of £5 per person or less (66%), an inside area for 

eating (63%) and proximity to other facilities (63%) would make them more likely to use the parks 

catering facilities. 

Just over half (51%) said a range of quality food at a cost of more than £5 per person would 

encourage them to use Stoke Park’s catering facilities, however, slightly less (43%) said this would be 

unlikely to encourage them to use the catering facilities.   

Having catering facilities open in the evenings was not seen as an important factor in encouraging 

people to use them, with half of those asked indicating it would not make them more likely to use 

the catering facilities and only 41% saying it would make them more likely to use the facilities.   

 

 

 

15% 

17% 

18% 

20% 

21% 

23% 

24% 

29% 

26% 

12% 

33% 

42% 

45% 

40% 

49% 

44% 

50% 

15% 

43% 

30% 

29% 

32% 

23% 

22% 

9% 

56% 

6% 

9% 

6% 

5% 

4% 

5% 

Open in the evenings

Other

Range of quality food at a cost of more than £5
per person

Proximity to other facilities (such as paddling pool,
play area, sports pitches etc.)

Range of takeaway/snacks at a cost of £5 per
person or less

Inside area for eating

Covered seating area

Open all year

Please say how likely the following features would encourage you to use 
Stoke Park's catering facilities? 

Highly likely Likely Unlikely/highly unlikely Don't know

Page 83

Agenda item number: 5



 

 

44 
 

 

The following groups more frequently said these features would make them more likely to use the 

catering facilities: 

 Female respondents 

 Younger respondents: those aged 16-24, 25-34 and 35-45 

 Respondents with a disability 

 Those in education or training and those not currently working 

 Respondents with children 

 Those that use the park once every six months 

 Residents of Ash South and Tongham, Burpham, Clandon and Horsley, Send, Stoughton, 

Tillingbourne and Westborough 

 

The following groups were less likely to have said these features would encourage them use Stoke 

Parks catering facilities: 

 Male respondents 

 Older respondents: those aged 45-54, 55-64 and 65 and over 

 Retired respondents 

 Respondents without children 

 Those residing in Christchurch, Holy Trinity and Merrow 

 

Please say how likely the following features would encourage you to use Stoke Park's catering 
facilities? Please specify other 

Response Number Percentage 

Healthier/homemade options 10 22% 

No further catering necessary 8 18% 

Local produce 3 7% 

Get the current ones to other standards 3 7% 

Not applicable 3 7% 

 

Just over a fifth of those that said other said they felt there was a need for healthier or homemade 

options (22%) with slightly less that said they felt there was no further catering necessary (18%) 

within Stoke Park.  

 

 

 

Page 84

Agenda item number: 5



 

 

45 
 

 

4.5 Play 
 

 

 

Key Findings 

The vast majority (97%) felt that Stoke Parks role should incorporate areas 

for children and young people to play 

71% said a playground was important when visiting a park or open space; 

43% said it was very important 

Two-thirds (66%) were satisfied with the play areas at the park 

Over a third (34%) felt there was a need for further play areas 

Over two-thirds (68%) said they would improve or invest in play areas at 

Stoke Park 

Nearly nine out of ten non-users (87%) were aware of the children’s 

playground 

Contradictions & 

correlations 

34% felt there was a need for further play areas whereas only 23% said they 

would increase the number of play areas 

Although a third felt the need for further play areas during in-depth 

interviews it was thought the play areas were adequate 

Despite two-thirds (66%) being satisfied with the play areas at the park, 

slightly more (68%) said they would improve or invest in play areas 

Questions to be explored 

With a high proportion being satisfied with the play areas, why was it felt 

there was such a need for investment in this aspect? 

Why did the research suggest a need for improvement and investment in 

play areas and the in-depth interviews suggest that the play areas were 

adequate, but just condensed in one area of the park? 

Page 85

Agenda item number: 5



 

 

46 
 

 

 
Respondents overwhelmingly agreed (97%) that the statement ‘An area for children and young 

people to play’ described the role of Stoke Park with over half stating that they strongly agreed with 

the statement. A small number of people (2%) said that they neither agreed nor disagreed with the 

statement and only 1% disagreed. 

 

The following groups were more likely to strongly agree that an area for children and young people 

to play described the role of Stoke Park: 

 Females (60%) 

 Those aged 35-44 (63%) 

 Not currently working / unemployed (68%) 

 Residents living in Tillingbourne (76%) 

 

The following groups were less likely to strongly agree that an area for children and young people to 

play described the role of Stoke Park: 

 Those aged 16-24 (46%) 

 Respondents in full-time or part time education / training (46%) 

 Those who visit Stoke Park once every six months (41%) 

 Residents living in Ash Vale (45%) 

 
 

57% 

40% 

2% 1% 0% 0% 

Strongly
agree

Agree Neither Disagree Strongly
disagree

Don't know

To what extent do you agree or disagree with the 
following statement describes the role of Stoke 
Park? An area for children and young people to 

play. 

Page 86

Agenda item number: 5



 

 

47 
 

 

 
 
 
Two thirds of respondents (66%) said that there were satisfied with the play area at Stoke Park with 

just over half stating that they were satisfied (52%) and a sixth very satisfied (14%). Just under a fifth 

(17%) said that they were neither satisfied nor dissatisfied with the play area at Stoke Park and just 

over a tenth (11%) were dissatisfied to some extent of which 3% mentioned that they are were very 

dissatisfied (3%). A slightly higher percentage of respondents (5%) said that they did not know. 

 

Those aged 16-24 were more likely to be satisfied with the play area at Stoke Park (74%) together 

with those in full-time or part time education / training (72%). Respondents aged 35-44 (62%) were 

less likely to show satisfaction with the play area at Stoke Park. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

14% 

52% 

17% 

8% 
3% 

5% 

Very
satisfied

Satisfied Neither
satisfied nor
dissatisfied

Dissatisfied Very
dissatisfied

Don't know

How satisfied or dissatisfied are you with the 
following at Stoke Park? Play area. 

Page 87

Agenda item number: 5



 

 

48 
 

 

 
 

A third (34%) of respondents consider there to be a need for a further play area elsewhere in Stoke 
Park compared with two thirds (66%) who did not consider it a need. 
 
The following groups were more likely so consider there to be a need for a further play area in Stoke 
Park: 

 Females (40%) 

 35-44 year olds (43%) 

 Respondents not currently working / unemployed (46%) 

 Respondents with children (42%) 

 Those visiting Stoke Park less frequently; once a month (39%) and once every six months 

(44%) 

 People with a disability (41%) 

 Residents living in Stoughton (55%) 

 
The following groups were less likely so consider there to be a need for a further play area in Stoke 
Park: 

 Males (34%) 

 65+ (18%) 

 Retired (18%) 

 Respondents who do not have children (20%) 

 Residents living in Clandon and Horsley (20%) 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

34% 

66% 

Do you consider there to be a need for 
a further play area elsewhere in Stoke 

Park? 

Yes

No

Page 88

Agenda item number: 5



 

 

49 
 

 

Do you consider there to be a need for a further play area elsewhere in Stoke Park? If so, do 
you have a view about where it would be best placed? 

Response Number Percentage 

Near the skate park 51 15% 

Opposite end to the current one 40 11% 

Nowhere in particular/anywhere (non-specific) 33 9% 

Near Spectrum (incl. car park) 27 8% 

Near London Road 24 7% 

Near wild wood 18 5% 

Near the rugby 17 5% 

Near challengers 17 5% 

 
 
A sixth of respondents (15%) stated that a further play area would be best placed near the skate 

park and around a tenth suggesting the opposite end to the current one (11%) and nowhere in 

particular (9%).   

 

Although many different locations were mentioned (42 in total), many of these are specific. Over a 

third of these (38%) can be classified in roughly the same area at the opposite end to the current 

play area between Spectrum and the Pavilion. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 89

Agenda item number: 5



 

 

50 
 

 

How would you change, if at all, the current Stoke Park play facilities (size, location, range of 
equipment, materials etc.)? 

Response Number Percentage 

No change/N.A 387 34% 

Update equipment (i.e. modernise, paint, change to 
wood) 

230 20% 

More play equipment/areas 189 17% 

More equipment/activities for older children 84 7% 

More equipment/activities for younger children 60 5% 

Don't know 59 5% 

Increase skate park 52 5% 

 
 
A third of respondents (34%) stated that they would not change the current Stoke Park play facilities 

or that the question was not applicable to their usage of Stoke Park’s facilities. Of the suggestions for 

changes to play facilities in Stoke Park, an update to equipment was the most frequent 

recommendation with a fifth (20%) providing this answer. Just under a fifth (17%) stated that more 

play equipment/areas are needed with fewer (7%) giving this answer specifically with older children 

in mind and 5% with younger children in mind. The same percentage (5%) stated that the skate park 

should be increased in size or that they did not know how they would change the current Stoke Park 

play facilities.  

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 90

Agenda item number: 5



 

 

51 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
The vast majority of non-users of Stoke Park (87%) are aware if the Children’s playground at Stoke 

Park compared with just under a fifth (13%) who were not aware. Respondents aged 45-54 were 

more likely to be aware of the playground (98%) with those aged 16-24 less likely to be aware (71%). 

 

 
 

Over two thirds of non-users (71%) stated that a playground was important when visiting a park or 

open space with around two fifths (43%) mentioning that it is very important. Around a tenth said 

that a playground is either not very important (10%) or not at all important (11%). Slightly less (7%) 

stated that a playground is neither important nor unimportant and no one (0%) said that they did 

not know.  Female respondents were more likely to state the importance of a playground (75%) as 

were participants aged 25-34 (82%) and those with children (81%). Males (66%) and those aged 16-

24 (41%) were less likely to mention that a playground is important when visiting a park or open 

space. 

87% 

13% 

Are you aware of the following 
facilities available at Stoke park? 

Children's playground. 

Yes

No

43% 

28% 

7% 
10% 11% 

0% 

Very
important

Fairly
important

Neither Not very
important

Not at all
important

Don't know

How important are the following to you when 
visiting a park or open space? Playground. 

Page 91

Agenda item number: 5



 

 

52 
 

 

4.6 Facilities 
 

 

  

Key Findings 

Around a fifth (17%) said that lack of parking prevents them from using Stoke 

Park more frequently; 9% said distance and lack of facilities 

Half (49%) said an improved café was the facility the park was lacking 

Higher levels of satisfaction was expressed towards the paddling pool (77%) 

and play area (66%)  

Respondents showed higher levels of dissatisfaction towards toilet facilities 

(27%), catering (23%) and picnic/seating facilities (20%) 

Non-users placed high levels of importance on toilets, car parking and 

picnic/seating facilities when visiting parks and open spaces 

Contradictions & 

correlations 

Lack of parking and the need for improved catering facilities were mentioned 

as reasons that prevent more frequent use of the park, both of which were 

mentioned as areas for improvement throughout the survey 

Facilities that non-users felt were important when visiting parks (toilets, 

catering, car parking) were consistently seen as areas for improvements 

amongst users of Stoke Park 

Questions to be explored 

Is the reason why non-users aren’t visiting the park because they are aware 

that facilities they value (toilets, catering, car parking) are not up to their 

standards? 

Page 92

Agenda item number: 5



 

 

53 
 

 

 
When respondents were asked if there are any reasons that prevent them from using Stoke Park 

more frequently, the most common reason given was lack of parking, mentioned by around a fifth of 

respondents (17%). Around a tenth said that distance (9%) prevented them from visiting more 

frequently together with lack of facilities (9%) and the same percentage gave another reason (9%). 

Public transport and the cost of facilities / sports were mentioned by a small percentage of 

respondents (1%). 

 

Respondents who said that a lack of facilities prevents them from visiting Stoke Park more 

frequently than then do were more likely to be: 

 Female (11%),  

 Those aged 35-44 (13%),  

 Those not currently working / unemployed (17%) 

 Those with children (12%) 

 Residents in Friary and St Nicolas (13%) and Ash Vale (13%) 

 

Respondents who said that a lack of facilities prevents them from visiting Stoke Park less frequently 

than then do were less likely to be: 

 Male (7%) 

 Those aged 65+ (4%) 

 Those retired and in education (4%) 

 Those without children (6%) 

 Respondents who visit Stoke Park every day (6%) 

 Residents in Shalford (3%), Ash South & Tongham (5%) 

 
 
 
 

17% 

9% 9% 
9% 

1% 1% 

Lack of
parking

Distance Lack of
facilities

Other Public
transport

Cost of
facilities /

sports

Are there any reasons that prevent you from using 
Stoke Park more frequently than you currently do? 

Page 93

Agenda item number: 5



 

 

54 
 

 

Please could you say why you chose 'Lack of facilities'. For example, what facilities are lacking? 

Reason Number Percentage 

Improve café 64 49% 

Update current play area 25 19% 

Toilet facilities 25 19% 

More play areas/activities/equipment 13 10% 

Improve parking 12 9% 

Better lighting /flood lights 11 8% 

 
Respondents were asked to name specify why they chose a lack of facilities as a reason why they do 

not visit Stoke Park more frequently. The largest percentage and almost half (49%) said that café 

facilities are lacking and should be improved in order to increase frequency of visits to the park. It is 

notable that those aged 35-44 (58%) were most likely to provide this answer. 

 

Around a fifth (19%) stated that play area is in need of updating and that there is a lack of toilet 

facilities (19%) with a tenth (10%) also mentioning the play area, specifically that there is a need for 

more play areas together with activities and equipment. 

 

Slightly less (9%) mentioned that improvements to parking may increase frequency of visits and 

better lighting (8%) could also be a factor. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 94

Agenda item number: 5



 

 

55 
 

 

Please could you say why you chose 'Cost of facilities / sports'. For example, what is too 
expensive and how much should it be? 

Reason Number Percentage 

Tennis is too expensive 7 47% 

Refreshments should be cheaper 4 27% 

Bowling is too expensive 1 7% 

Mini golf is too expensive 1 7% 

Cricket is too expensive 1 7% 

Wild wood is too expensive 1 7% 

Free to use 1 7% 

 
When asked to say why they chose the cost of facilities / sports as a reason that prevents them from 

visiting Stoke Park more frequently around half (47%) stated that tennis facilities are too expensive. 

A quarter (27%) said that refreshments should be cheaper. A small number of respondents (7%) 

mentioned that bowling, mini golf, cricket or Wild Wood facilities were too expensive. 

 

Page 95

Agenda item number: 5



 

 

56 
 

 

 
 
Just over three quarters (77%) expressed satisfaction with the paddling pool facility at Stoke Park 

with just under a third (30%) stating that they were very satisfied.  Two thirds (66%) were satisfied 

with the current play area despite a call for improvements to be made to the facility when 

respondents were asked if anything prevented them from visiting Stoke Park more frequently. Just 

over a tenth conveyed dissatisfaction (11%) with the play area. 

 

Satisfaction was also shown towards sports pitches/greens with by just under two thirds (62%). Over 

half were satisfied with mini golf (57%), the skate park (53%), and picnic/seating facilities (52%) 

although a fifth (20%) revealed that they were dissatisfied with this aspect of Stoke Park’s facilities. 

 

Just over a quarter (27%) of respondents said that they were dissatisfied with the toilet facilities at 

Stoke Park, suggesting that improvements are required with just under a quarter (23%) stating that 

they were dissatisfied with catering. This is reflected in verbatim comments relating to café and 

toilet facilities when respondents were asked for reasons that prevented them from visiting Stoke 

Park more regularly. 

4% 

4% 

6% 

6% 

9% 

10% 

11% 

12% 

12% 

14% 

30% 

21% 

25% 

29% 

36% 

43% 

52% 

41% 

45% 

41% 

52% 

47% 

37% 

36% 

32% 

26% 

28% 

24% 

26% 

26% 

27% 

17% 

13% 

11% 

4% 

23% 

27% 

4% 

6% 

20% 

3% 

3% 

11% 

2% 

27% 

31% 

10% 

5% 

17% 

8% 

2% 

14% 

17% 

5% 

8% 

Pavilions/changing rooms

Access for people who experience
disabilities

Catering

Toilet facilities

Tennis courts

Sports pitches/greens

Picnic/seating facilities

Mini golf

Skate park

Play area

Paddling pool

 How satisfied or dissatisfied are with the following at Stoke Park? 

Very satisfied Satisfied Neither satisfied nor dissatisfied Dissatisfied/very dissatisfied Don't know

Page 96

Agenda item number: 5



 

 

57 
 

 

 
 

When looking at aspects of importance to non-users that relate to facilities when visiting a park or 

open space, the vast majority (94%) said that toilets were important with two thirds (65%) stating 

that this facility is very important.  

 

Four fifths (83%) stated that car parking facilities were important, together with picnic / seating 

facilities (80%) although a higher percentage said that car parking facilities are very important (54%) 

compared with just under two fifths (37%) stating this answer for picnic / seating facilities. 

 

Over two thirds (71%) said that playground facilities were important with two fifths (43%) expressing 

that this facility was very important when visiting a park or open space. A similar percentage of 

respondents stated that catering facilities (67%) were important with around a quarter (26%) 

deeming this facility to be very important. 

 

Two fifths or respondents (43%) thought that changing room / pavilion facilities were not important 

and over a quarter (27%) also thought that sports facilities were not important. These aspects may 

be more important to people affiliated with a sports club. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

23% 

26% 

29% 

37% 

43% 

54% 

65% 

16% 

41% 

30% 

43% 

28% 

29% 

29% 

15% 

12% 

13% 

9% 

7% 

6% 

3% 

43% 

20% 

27% 

11% 

21% 

10% 

3% 

2% 

1% 

1% 

1% 

Changing rooms / pavilion

Catering

Sports facilities

Picnic / seating facilities

Playground

Car parking facilities

Toilets

Thinking about parks and spaces in general in Guildford. How important 
are the following to you when visiting a park or open space? 

Very important Fairly important Neither Not important Don't know

Page 97

Agenda item number: 5



 

 

58 
 

 

4.7 Sports 
 

 

  

Key Findings 

82% felt the role of Stoke Park was to provide facilities for organised sport 

A fifth (19%) belonged to a club using the park’s facilities 

Over half were satisfied with the range of sports & clubs, the sports 

pitches/greens and tennis courts 

Most wanted an increased number of grass sports pitches (60%) and artificial 

sports pitches (47%) 

Contradictions & 

correlations 

Despite 62% being satisfied with the sports pitches at Stoke Park only 4% 

would keep grass sports pitches as they are and 15% would keep artificial 

sports pitches as they are.  Most favoured an increased number of sports 

pitches 

Questions to be explored 

Why is satisfaction with the sports/pitches greens at 62%, yet 60% want to 

see an increased number of sports pitches? 

Is there a demand for any particular type of sports pitches (football, rugby, 

hockey, bowls, etc.)? 

Where in Stoke Park would any additional sports pitches be located? 

Would an increased amount of sports pitches need to be supported by 

increased investment in facilities to support them such as changing rooms, 

car parking and refreshments? 

Page 98

Agenda item number: 5



 

 

59 
 

 

 

 

Over four-fifths (82%) agreed that the role of Stoke Park was to provide facilities for organised sport, 

with just over half agreeing (51%) and 31% in strong agreement with that.  Disagreement was low 

with only 5% that felt Stoke Park’s role didn’t include providing facilities for organised sport.  Just 

under a tenth (9%) said they neither agreed nor disagreed with the statement. 

Males (87%) were more likely than females (78%) to have agreed that the role of Stoke Park was to 

provide facilities for organised sport, with males over a tenth more likely to strongly agree with this 

statement (37% males compared to 26% females).  Older respondents were more likely to agree that 

Stoke Park should provide facilities for organised sport with 88% of those aged 55-64 and 87% of 

those aged 65 and over in agreement with this statement. 

Respondents who were in education or those that are retired were more agreeable with this 

statement (both 85%) whereas those not currently working (75%) tended to be less agreeable.  

Those that visit the park more frequently (almost every day or once or twice a week) showed higher 

levels of agreement (both 85%) that Stoke Park should provide facilities for organised sport 

compared to those that visit the park less  frequently (62% of those that visit once every six months).  

Resident of Worplesdon (93%), Stoke (91%), Merrow(88%), Shalford (87%), Burpham (87%) and 

Christchurch (85%) were more inclined to agree that the role of Stoke Park should include providing 

facilities for organised sports, whereas those residing in Tillingbourne (79%) Ash South and Tongham 

(77%) and Send (57%) were less inclined to agree with this sentiment.  

 

31% 

51% 

9% 
4% 

1% 3% 

Strongly
agree

Agree Neither Disagree Strongly
disagree

Don't know

To what extent do you agree or disagree that the 
following statements describe the role of Stoke 
Park? - To provide facilities for organised sports 

Page 99

Agenda item number: 5



 

 

60 
 

 

 

Just under a fifth (19%) of respondents said they belonged to a club that used the park’s facilities; 

the remaining 81% did not belong to such a club. 

Male respondents more frequently said they belonged to a club (24%) when compared to female 

respondents (16%).  Those aged 16-24 (9%) and 55-64 (14%) were the least likely to belong to a club 

using the park’s facilities, whereas nearly a third (32%) of those 65 and over belonged to a club. 

Respondents in part-time employment (12%), in education or training (12%) and not currently 

working (11%) indicated they belonged to a club much less than those that are retired (30%).  

Those who used the park more frequently tended to belong to a club than those who used the park 

less often with a quarter of those using the park once or twice a week and 22% of those using the 

park almost every day belonging to a club, whereas only 11% of those using the park once a month 

and 9% of those using it once every six months stated they belonged to a club using the parks 

facilities.  

Residents of Tillingbourne (36%), Merrow (30%), Stoke (28%), Burpham (25%), Shalford (23%) and 

Onslow (23%) were more likely to belong to a club using the parks facilities when compared to the 

residents of Friary and St Nicolas (16%) Christchurch (15%), Westborough (15%), Send (10%) and Ash 

South and Tongham (0%). 

  

19% 

81% 

Do you belong to a club that uses the 
park's facilities? 

Yes

No

Page 100

Agenda item number: 5



 

 

61 
 

 

 

Over a third (38%) that belonged to a club using the park’s facilities said they were a member of a 

rugby club. A fifth were a member of a bowling club with slightly less a member of Park run.  In total 

respondents mentioned being part of 28 different clubs all using the park’s facilities. 

 

Do you belong to a club that uses the park's facilities? If so, which ones? 

Club Number Percentage 

Rugby club 99 38% 

Bowling club 53 20% 

Park run 44 17% 

Busy Lizzy 12 5% 

Football club 11 4% 

Guildford athletics 7 3% 

Parafit (now Bootcamp UK) 7 3% 

Page 101

Agenda item number: 5



 

 

62 
 

 

 

Over half of respondents were satisfied with the sports pitches/greens (62%), the range of sports 

and clubs (57%) and the tennis courts (51%) at Stoke Park with around a tenth being very satisfied 

for each (10%, 11% and 9% respectively).  For each of these the level of dissatisfaction was low 

(between 4 and 6%), however those stating they were neither satisfied nor dissatisfied was notable 

for all three aspects; 29% for range of sports and clubs, 28% for tennis courts and 24% for sports 

pitches and greens.  

Satisfaction levels were lower towards the pavilions and changing rooms at Stoke Park, with only a 

quarter expressing satisfaction; 4% very satisfied and 21% satisfied.  Despite the lower levels of 

satisfaction, dissatisfaction levels were not significantly high, with 11% stating they were dissatisfied. 

There were, however, large proportions that stated they were neither satisfied nor dissatisfied (37%) 

or they didn’t know (27%) with the pavilions and changing rooms.  

These groups more frequently expressed higher levels of satisfaction towards the statements on 

sports facilities at Stoke Park: 

 Those aged 16-24 

 Respondents with a disability 

 Those in full-time employment or in education or training 

 Residents of Clandon and Horsley, Merrow, Shalford, Tillingbourne and Westborough 

 

 

 

4% 

9% 

10% 

11% 

21% 

43% 

52% 

45% 

37% 

28% 

24% 

29% 

11% 

4% 

6% 

4% 

27% 

17% 

8% 

11% 

Pavilions/changing
rooms

Tennis courts

Sports
pitches/greens

Range of sports and
clubs

 How satisfied or dissatisfied are with the following at Stoke 
Park? 

Very satisfied Satisfied

Neither satisfied nor dissatisfied Dissatisfied/very dissatisfied

Don't know

Page 102

Agenda item number: 5



 

 

63 
 

 

The following indicated lower levels of satisfaction towards statements surrounding the sports 

facilities at Stoke Park: 

 Respondents in part-time employment, self-employed, not currently working or retired 

 Those that visit Stoke Park once a month 

 Residents of Holy Trinity 

 

 

Over a third thought there was need for improvements/investment in both grass sports pitches 

(36%) and artificial sports pitches (38%). The consensus, however, was for an increase in number of 

grass sports (60%) and artificial sports pitches (47%).  Of the 15 aspects respondents were asked if 

they would improve, increase or maintain no aspect received a higher proportion of respondents 

saying they would increase it than grass sports pitches (60%), with artificial sports pitches (47%) 

garnering the third highest proportion saying they would increase this aspect. 

Male respondents (41%) were more likely to want an improvement in grass sports pitches compared 

to female respondents (51%), however female respondents (65%) more frequently expressed a need 

for an increased number of grass sports pitches compared to male respondents (54%).  

Those aged 16-24 (63%) and 35-44 (65%) most commonly expressed a need for  an increased 

number of grass pitches, with those aged 55-64 (55%) and 65 and over (47%) less likely to see a need 

for an increased number of grass pitches but more willing to see an improvement in grass pitches 

(39% and 41% respectively).   Respondents aged 16-24 (57%) were also the most likely to want an 

increased number of artificial sports pitches, with those aged 55-64 (33%) the least likely.  

Respondents with a disability were more likely to want an increase in the number of artificial sports 

pitches with 62% seeing a need for this; 15% higher than the average.  

 

36% 

60% 

4% 

38% 

47% 

15% 

Improve / invest in Increase number Keep as it is

If you were managing Stoke Park, what would you 
improve, increase or maintain as they are? 

Grass sports pitches (football / rugby / cricket / lacrosse /
bowls)

Artificial sports pitches (such as multi use games areas)

Page 103

Agenda item number: 5



 

 

64 
 

 

Employees in part-time jobs (66%) most frequently said they’d like an increased number of grass 

sports pitches, with those in education or training (54%) and not currently working (55%) most 

frequently indicated a need for an increase in artificial sports pitches.  Retired respondents (54%) 

were the least likely to want an increase in grass sports pitches, with the self-employed (41%) least 

likely to want an increase in artificial sports pitches. 

Respondents with children (64%) were more likely than those without children (56%) to want an 

increase in the number of grass sports pitches.  Those who visit Stoke Park once every six months 

were more likely to want an increase in both the number of grass (80%) and artificial (74%) sports 

pitches. 

Residents of Send (85%), Shalford (83%), Ash South and Tongham (70%), Worplesdon (68%) and 

Clandon and Horsley (66%) were more likely to want an increase in grass sports pitches, whereas 

those living in Christchurch (53%), Burpham (50%) and Stoke (49%) were less likely to want an 

increase in the number of grass sports pitches.  

Residents of Send (78%), Ash South and Tongham (71%), Shalford (64%), Worplesdon (59%), 

Westborough (58%) and Friary and St Nicolas (52%) were more likely to want an increase in the 

number of artificial sports pitches, with those residing in Christchurch (42%), Clandon and Horsley 

(42%), Stoke (40%), Merrow(39%), Burpham (39%), Holy Trinity (39%), Onslow (37%), Tillingbourne 

(37%) and Stoughton (35%) less likely to want an increase in artificial sports pitches.  

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 104

Agenda item number: 5



 

 

65 
 

 

4.8 Accessibility 
 

 

 

Key Findings 

Lack of parking (17%), distance (9%) and lack of facilities (9%) were the main 

reasons that  prevent people using the park more frequently 

Only 39% were satisfied with the promotion and marketing of Stoke Park 

A third felt the need for improvements or investment in paths and access; 

half wanted an increased number 

Around a fifth (22%) of non-users were aware that Stoke Park holds a green 

flag award; half said this would encourage them to visit 

Contradictions & 

correlations 

Lack of parking was seen as the main reason preventing people visiting more 

frequently; 43% had previously said the availability of parking spaces was 

poor or very poor 

Awareness of the Green Flag Award was low amongst non-users (22%) which 

is unsurprising when only 39% of users were satisfied with the promotion 

and marketing of Stoke Park  

16% of non-users mentioned car-parking stops them using Stoke Park more 

frequently and that more available spaces (24%) would encourage them to 

use Stoke Park in the future. This again echoes the sentiment from users that 

there is a lack of available parking at the park 

Questions to be explored 

What more could be done to raise awareness of the Green Flag Award Stoke 

Park holds as half of non-users said knowing this would encourage them to 

visit the park? 

Page 105

Agenda item number: 5



 

 

66 
 

 

 
Just under a fifth of respondents (17%) felt that lack of parking was a factor that prevented them 

from visiting Stoke Park more frequently. Around a tenth said that either distance (9%) prevented 

them from visiting more frequently; a lack of facilities (9%) and the same percentage gave another 

reason (9%). Public transport and the cost of facilities / sports were both mentioned by a small 

percentage of respondents (1%). 

 

Females (22%) were more likely to give lack of parking as a reason for not visiting more frequently 

when compared with males (11%). Those aged 25-34 (23%) and 35-44 (22%) were also more likely to 

mention lack of parking as a reason compared with the youngest age group, 16-24 (5%). Employees 

in part-time work (32%) more commonly mentioned that lack of parking was a factor affecting 

frequency of visits together with respondents who only visited the park once every six months (52%) 

and once a year (55%). Residents living in Pirbright (40%), Ash Wharf (39%), Pilgrims (38%) and Send 

(38%) were more inclined to provide this reason. 

 

Those respondents in the youngest age group (16-24) were more inclined to mention that distance 

was a reason that prevented more frequent visits (17%) as were respondents who described 

themselves as having a disability (16%). Those in full-time or part time education / training (17%) 

more commonly mentioned this reason and respondents who visited less frequently were more 

likely to say that distance was a factor; first time visit (59%), once every six months (33%) and once a 

year (23%). Residents living in Effingham (33%), Lovelace (29%) and Ash South & Tongham (27%). 

 

Female respondents (11%) felt that a lack of facilities prevented them from visiting more frequently 

when compared with males (7%).  Those aged 35-44 (13%), not currently working / unemployed 

(17%) and with children (12%) all felt that a lack of facilities affected frequency of visits compared 

with those aged 65+ (4%), retired and in education (both 6%) and without children (6%). 

  

17% 

9% 9% 
9% 

1% 1% 

Lack of
parking

Distance Lack of
facilities

Other Public
transport

Cost of
facilities /

sports

Are there any reasons that prevent you from using 
Stoke Park more frequently than you currently do? 

Page 106

Agenda item number: 5



 

 

67 
 

 

 

Are there any reasons that prevent you from using Stoke Park more frequently than you 
currently do? Please specify 'other' 

Reason Number Percentage 

Time 36 27% 

Poor lighting 15 11% 

Safety (incl. no CCTV, dogs on leashes) 9 7% 

Lack of café/good food 9 7% 

Need to improve pitches/land (flat, better drained etc.) 9 7% 

When events/sport matches take place 7 5% 

Playground needs updating 7 5% 

Poor weather 6 5% 

 

Just over a quarter (27%) said that time was a reason that prevented them from visiting Stoke Park 

more frequently followed by just over a tenth (11%) stating that poor lighting in the park was a 

factor. The same percentage of respondents (7%) mentioned that safety, lack of café/good food and 

needed improvements to pitches/land were all reasons that prevent more frequent visits. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 107

Agenda item number: 5



 

 

68 
 

 

 
 

Three tenths (29%) stated that they were satisfied with access for people who experience disabilities 

of which a small percentage (4%) mentioned that they were very satisfied. The same percentage 

(4%) felt dissatisfied with access for people who experience disabilities with less than 1% of 

respondents stating that they were very dissatisfied. The largest percentage of respondents said that 

they were neither satisfied nor dissatisfied with just over a third (36%) providing this answer and just 

under a third (31%) mentioned that they did not know.  

 

Respondents aged 16-24 more frequently said that they were satisfied with access for people who 

experience disabilities (45%) compared with other age groups, as did respondents who mentioned 

they had a disability (42%) compared to those who did not (29%).  Again, when taking disability into 

account, there was no significant difference in the respondents who answered neither satisfied nor 

dissatisfied; those with a disability (32%) and those without (35%). Fewer respondents with a 

disability said that they did not know (20%) when compared with those without a disability (31%). 

 

Respondents who visited Stoke Park less often were more likely to be satisfied with access for 

people who experience disabilities with over half visiting for the first time (58%) and two thirds 

(67%) visiting once a year stating that they are satisfied with this aspect of the park.    

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

4% 

25% 

36% 

4% 0% 

31% 

Very satisfied Satisfied Neither
satisfied nor
dissatisfied

Dissatisfied Very
dissatisfied

Don't know

How satisfied or dissatisfied are with the following at Stoke 
Park? Access for people who experience disabilities 

Page 108

Agenda item number: 5



 

 

69 
 

 

 
Four tenths (39%) said that they were satisfied with the promotion and marketing of Stoke Park and 

its events and facilities with just under a tenth (7%) stating that they were very satisfied. Just over a 

third (36%) mentioned that they were neither satisfied nor dissatisfied and a tenth (9%) did not 

know. A sixth (15%) of respondents were dissatisfied with the promotion and marketing of Stoke 

Park and its events and facilities, with the majority (14%) answering that they were dissatisfied 

rather than very dissatisfied (1%). 

 

Although no group significantly stands out in terms of satisfaction, those aged 16-24 (44%) were 

more likely than other age groups to comment that they were satisfied with the promotion and 

marketing of Stoke Park.  

 

Improved information and advertising was something that was mentioned by non-users as 

something that would encourage them to use Stoke Park in the future with a tenth that said it would 

encourage them to visit. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

7% 

32% 

36% 

14% 

1% 
9% 

Very satisfied Satisfied Neither
satisfied nor
dissatisfied

Dissatisfied Very
dissatisfied

Don't know

How satisfied or dissatisfied are with the following at Stoke 
Park? Promotion and marketing of Stoke Park and its events 

and facilities 

Page 109

Agenda item number: 5



 

 

70 
 

 

 

 

 

 
A third (33%) said they would improve / invest in paths and access if they were managing stoke park 

with just over half saying that they would increase the number (51%).  A sixth of respondents (16%) 

stated that they would keep this aspect of the park it as it is. 

 

Those aged 55-64 (43%) were more likely to want an improvement to paths and access as opposed 

to an increased number (33%) whereas those aged 16-24 were less likely to want an improvement to 

paths and access. Significantly more respondents of this age group than any other stated that this 

aspect of the park should be increased in number. The older age groups were more likely inclined to 

want to keep this aspect as it is compared to younger groups with just over a quarter of those aged 

over 65 providing this answer (27%) together with just under a quarter (23%) of those aged 55-64. 

 

Those in full-time or part time education / training were significantly more likely to desire to 

increase paths and access in Stoke Park (71%) as did those with children (55%) when compared to 

those without children (46%). 

 

Those visiting Stoke Park almost every day (42%) favoured improvement and investment in paths 

and access at the park with those visiting less often preferring to increase the provision of paths and 

access; first time visit (67%), once every six months (74%) and once a year (81%). 

 

Residents living in Stoke (48%), Stoughton (44%) , Christchurch (42%) and Holy Trinity (40%) were 

more likely to state that paths and access should be improved / invested in. Those residing in the 

wards of Lovelace (92%), Ash South and Tongham (85%), Effingham (83%), and Pilgrims (83%) were 

more likely to call for an increase in number for this aspect of Stoke Park.  

 

 

 

33% 

51% 

16% 

Improve / invest in Increase number Keep as it is

If you were managing Stoke Park, what would you 
improve, increase or maintain as they are? Paths 

and access 

Page 110

Agenda item number: 5



 

 

71 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Just over a fifth of non-users (22%) of Stoke Park were aware that Stoke Park holds a Green Flag 

Award with nearly four times this amount (78%) unaware that the park holds this award. Although 

no significant findings were found in the characteristics of those answering yes or no, self-employed 

respondents were seen as less likely to be aware of the award (8%) when compared with those not 

currently working / unemployed (33%). 

 

Respondents who did not use or frequently use Stoke Park were divided equally when asked if the 

Green Flag Award would encourage them to visit the park in the future with half stating yes (50%) 

and half stating no (50%). 

 

The Green Flag Award was more likely to encourage female respondents to visit Stoke Park (55%) 

when compared to males (44%). Those aged 45-54 more frequently stated that they would be 

encouraged to visit due to the award with sixth tenths (60%) answering yes, compared to those aged 

25-34 (44%) and 65+ (45%). 

50% 50% 

Would this encourage you to 
visit Stoke Park in the Future? 

Yes

No

22% 

78% 

Are you aware that Stoke Park 
holds a Green Flag Award? 

Yes

No

Page 111

Agenda item number: 5



 

 

72 
 

 

 
 

Just over half (53%) mentioned ‘other’ when asked if there are any reasons that prevent them from 

not vising Stoke Park more frequently although a large proportion of respondents choosing this 

option stated that there were no reasons at all preventing more frequent visits. A quarter 

mentioned that Stoke Park is too far from where they live (25%) with a sixth expressing that lack of 

parking was an barrier (16%). Just over a tenth (12%) preferred to use their local park and 6% were 

not interested in visiting or did not know enough about what was in Stoke Park. Just less (5%) said 

that they prefer the facilities elsewhere. 

 

Those aged 35-44 (46%) more frequently mentioned that distance was a factor preventing more 

frequent visits with respondents aged 16-24 (18%) and 45-54 (18%) less likely to provide this reason. 

The same age group, 35-44 (41%) were also more inclined to state that lack of parking was a factor 

that prevented them from visiting more frequently when compared to the older age groups of 55-64 

(6%) and 65+ (9%). 

 

Respondents aged 25-34 (29%) and 35-44 (30%) more frequently said that they use a local park than 

those in the oldest age group in which 7% of those aged 65+ gave this answer. 

0% 

1% 

1% 

2% 

2% 

3% 

5% 

6% 

6% 

12% 

16% 

25% 

53% 

I don't know where it is

My friends wouldn't be interested

I don’t have anyone to go with 

My spouse / partner wouldn't be
interested

My children wouldn't be interested

Lack of public transport

I prefer the park facilities elsewhere

I don’t know enough about what is in it 

I am not interested in visiting

I use my local park

Lack of parking

Too far from where I live

Other

Are there any reasons that prevent you from using Stoke 
Park more frequently than you currently do? 

Page 112

Agenda item number: 5



 

 

73 
 

 

Are there any reasons that prevent you from using Stoke Park more frequently than you 

currently do? Please specify other. 

Response Number Percentage 

No/Not applicable 97 46% 

Disability/health related 15 7% 

No children to take/would only take children 14 7% 

Time 13 6% 

Location 12 6% 

My age 10 5% 

Lifestyle (incl. busy, work commitments, lazy) 9 4% 

 

Almost half said that there are no reasons or that the question is not applicable when asked to 

specify their response when stating an ‘other’ reason that prevented them from visiting Stoke Park 

more frequently. Under a tenth (7%) expressed that a disability / health related reason prevented 

them from visiting more frequently or that they had no children to take (7%) and slightly less said 

that time (6%) and location (6%) were a factor. A small amount of people specified that age (5%) and 

lifestyle (4%) as reasons that prevented them from visiting more frequently. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 113

Agenda item number: 5



 

 

74 
 

 

 
When asked if there is anything that would encourage them to use Stoke Park in the future, just over 

half (52%) chose to specify a reason other than those in the question. However, the majority of 

people stated that there is nothing that would encourage them to visit Stoke Park in the future. 

 

A quarter (24%) said that more available parking spaces would encourage future visits and a fifth 

(19%) mentioned that more activities / events could be a factor that would inspire them to visit. 

Around a tenth declared that improved catering facilities (11%) and improved information / 

advertising (10%) could encourage them to use Stoke Park with slightly less answering an emphasis 

on nature and wildlife (8%), improved play facilities (7%) and improvements to the quality and 

maintenance of the planting / garden areas (6%). 

 

As highlighted previously, those aged 35-44 were more inclined to specify parking as a barrier 

preventing more frequent visits and significantly more people in this age group (46%) stated that 

more available parking spaces would encourage them to visit Stoke Park more frequently. Those 

aged 25-34 also provided this reason when compared to the oldest age groups; 55-64 (17%) and 65+ 

(16%).  Those in full time employment (31%) and part time employment (35%) were also more likely 

to opt for this aspect when compared to those self-employed (16%) or retired (19%).  Additionally, 

those with children (46%) chose this option more frequently than those without (18%). 

 

3% 

3% 

3% 

3% 

4% 

5% 

6% 

7% 

8% 

10% 

11% 

19% 

24% 

52% 

Dog exercise area

Improved control of dogs

Improved cleanliness / hygiene

Improved presence of park staff

Better transport links

Greater emphasis on the heritage of the park

Improved quality and maintenance of the…

Improved play facilities

Greater emphasis on nature and wildlife

Improved information / advertising

Improved catering facilities

More activities / events

More available parking spaces

Other

Is there anything that would encourage you to use Stoke Park in the 
future? 

Page 114

Agenda item number: 5



 

 

75 
 

 

Respondents more likely to choose activities / events tended to be aged 35-44 (46%), especially 

when compared to those aged 65+ (11%); those with children (29%) when compared to those 

without (17%) and respondents in education (100%) 

 

Is there anything that would encourage you to use Stoke Park in the future? Please specify 
other. 

Response Number Percentage 

No/Not applicable 139 67% 

More events 6 3% 

Having someone to go with (i.e. children, 
grandchildren, friends) 

6 3% 

Better signage/information 5 2% 

Location 5 2% 

Improve parking 4 2% 

If I was younger 4 2% 

 

The vast majority of respondents provided the answer no / not applicable when asked to specify if 

anything would encourage them to use Stoke Park in the future. A small number of respondents said 

that more events would encourage future visits (3%), and that having someone to go with would be 

a factor (3%). 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 115

Agenda item number: 5



 

 

76 
 

 

 

4.9 Heritage 
 

 

 

Over three-fifths (63%) agreed that it would be helpful and interesting to have more information 

about the history of Stoke Park; 17% that strongly agreed and 46% that agreed. Just over a tenth 

(13%) disagreed and 22% neither agreed nor disagreed that it would be helpful and interesting to 

have more information on the history of Stoke Park.  

17% 

46% 

22% 

12% 
1% 2% 

Strongly
agree

Agree Neither Disagree Strongly
disagree

Don't know

To what extent do you agree or disagree it would be 
helpful and interesting to have more information 

about the history of Stoke Park (e.g. through more 
signage)  

Key Findings 

Three-fifths (63%) said it would be helpful and interesting to have more 

information on the history of Stoke Park 

A third (34%) said they would improve or invest in heritage features, half 

(47%) said they would increase the number of heritage features 

Four-fifths (79%) felt it was important that heritage features are protected 

and enhanced 

Contradictions & 

correlations 

Despite 79% that said it was important heritage features are protected and 

enhanced, only a third (34%) said they would improve or invest in heritage 

features 

Questions to be explored 

Why is there so little interest in improving or investing in heritage facilities 

when four-fifths said it was important these features are protected and 

enhanced? 

Around half wanted to increase the number of heritage features, what 

heritage features would they want increasing and where should they be 

located? 

Page 116

Agenda item number: 5



 

 

77 
 

 

Those aged 55-64 most strongly felt that more information about the history of Stoke Park would be 

interesting and helpful with 71% in agreement.  Those with a disability and those without children 

were more inclined to agree(both 67%) that it would be helpful and interesting to have information 

about the history of Stoke Park with over a quarter of those with a disability(26%) strongly agreeing 

with this.  

BAME respondents and those not currently working (both 57%) were less inclined to agree that it 

would be helpful and interesting to have more information about the history of Stoke Park.  

Respondents living in Christchurch (54%) and Merrow (53%) were less agreeable that more 

information about the history of Stoke Park would be interesting and helpful, in contrast to those 

residing in Onslow (75%), Stoke (75%), Tillingbourne (70%), Burpham (69%) and Westborough (68%) 

and Worplesdon (67%) who were more agreeable to this statement.  

 

 

Over a third (34%) said that if they were managing Stoke Park they would improve or invest in the 

heritage features. Just under half (47%) said they would increase the number of heritage features, 

with around a fifth (19%) that said they would keep it as it is.  

Younger respondents more frequently said they would like to see an increase in the number of 

heritage features, with two-thirds of those aged 16-24 and half of those aged 25-34 stating this.  

Older respondents, however, were more likely to want an improvement in the heritage features, 

with 39% of those aged 45-54 and 65 and over and 41% of those aged 55-64 wanting improvements 

in this area.  

BAME respondents were less likely to want an improvement in the heritage features (27%), but were 

more in favour of seeing an increase in the number of heritage features (55%).  The opposite held 

true for respondents with a disability with 48% favouring improvement in heritage features and just 

over a third (34%) wanted an increase in number.  

Those in education or training (64%) were the most inclined to want an increased number of 

heritage features, with self-employed respondents the likely to opt for improvement or investment 

34% 

47% 

19% 

Improve / invest in Increase number Keep as it is

If you were managing Stoke Park, what would 
you improve, increase or maintain as they are? - 

Heritage feautures 

Page 117

Agenda item number: 5



 

 

78 
 

 

in the heritage features.  Respondents with children tended to want an increase in the number of 

heritage features (52%), whilst those without were more likely to want an improvement (38%). 

Over three-fifths (62%) of respondents visiting once every six months said they would like to see an 

increase in the number of heritage features, whereas those visiting once a month (42%) were more 

likely to want an improvement in the heritage features.  

Residents of Holy Trinity (46%), Westborough (44%), Christchurch (40%), Friary and St Nicolas (40%), 

Onslow (40%) and Stoughton (40%) were more likely to want an improvement or investment in the 

heritage features, whereas residents of Ash South and Tongham (81%), Tillingbourne (67%), Shalford 

(61%), Worplesdon (56%), Clandon and Horsley (55%) and Burpham (53%) favoured an increase in 

the number of heritage features at Stoke Park.  

  

Page 118

Agenda item number: 5



 

 

79 
 

 

 

Just under four-fifths (79%) felt it was important that heritage features of Stoke Park are protected 

and enhanced with over a third (36%) that felt it was very important.  Less than a fifth (16%) did not 

think it was important that heritage features are protected and enhanced; 5% said they did not 

know. 

Older respondents were more likely feel it is important that heritage features of Stoke Park are 

protected and enhanced, with 87% of those aged 65 and over that said it was important, whereas it 

was seen as less important among younger respondents: 74% for those aged 16-25 and 75% for 

those aged 25-34.  Retired respondents (86%) were more likely than those not currently working 

(75%) to indicate an importance in protecting and enhancing heritage facilities.  

Residents of Tillingbourne (88%), Ash South and Tongham (86%), Holy Trinity (84%), Onslow (84%) 

and Stoke (84%) more frequently placed an importance on the protection and enhancement of 

heritage features of Stoke Park.  

Those residing in Christchurch (76%), Stoughton (73%), Clandon and Horsley (71%), Send (71%) and 

Merrow (70%) were less inclined to say that it is important to protect and enhance heritage features 

within Stoke Park.  

Although users places a high importance on heritage features being protected and enhanced, non-

users indicated a low level of awareness of heritage features available at Stoke Park with less than a 

third (28%) that were aware of them. 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

36% 

43% 

14% 
2% 

5% 

Very
important

Important Not very
important

Not at all
important

Don't know

How important is it to you that the heritage 
features of Stoke Park are protected and 

enhanced? 

Page 119

Agenda item number: 5



 

 

80 
 

 

 
 
 

4.10 Nature and Wildlife 
 

 

  

Key Findings 

Over half (57%) said the role of Stoke Park should incorporate areas for 

wildlife and nature 

58% were satisfied with wildlife friendly areas 

Three-fifths (59%) felt there should be more areas for wildlife 

35% wanted improvement/investment in tree planting, 40% wanted an 

increased number 

43% wanted improvement/investment nature and wildlife, 37% wanted an 

increased number 

Contradictions & 

correlations 

Despite three-fifths (59%) that said there should be more areas for wildlife, 

only 37% said they would increase the number of nature and wildlife areas 

Non-users (71%) were more than a tenth more likely to say there should be 

more areas for wildlife than users of the park (59%) 

Questions to be explored 

Why is there a disparity in those that would increase the number of nature 

and wildlife areas and those that said there should be more areas for 

wildlife? 

Page 120

Agenda item number: 5



 

 

81 
 

 

 

Over half (57%) agreed that the role of Stoke Park should be that of an area to experience wildlife 

and have contact with nature, with 17% strongly agreeing and 40% agreeing.  Disagreement was 

below a fifth (17%), however, a quarter neither agreed not disagreed that the role of Stoke Park was 

as an area for wildlife and nature.  

Female respondents (60%) were more likely to have said that Stoke Park should be an area for 

nature and wildlife when compared to male respondents (52%).  Younger respondents tended to be 

less agreeable to this statement, with 53% of those aged 16-24 and 54% of those aged 25 to 34 and 

35-44 that agreed, whereas those aged 45-54 (60%) and 55-64 (63%) were more agreeable.  

Only half of those that visit the park once every six months agreed that Stoke Park should be an area 

for experiencing wildlife and having contact with nature.  

 The sentiment that Stoke Park should be an area for experiencing wildlife and having contact with 

nature was strongest within Shalford (80%) and Stoke (69%) with those residing within Worplesdon 

(50%), Merrow (50%), Send (48%), Tillingbourne (47%) and Ash South and Tongham (41%) were less 

inclined to be in agreement. 

 

 

17% 

40% 

25% 
15% 

2% 2% 

Strongly
agree

Agree Neither Disagree Strongly
disagree

Don't know

To what extent do you agree or disagree that the 
following statements describe the role of Stoke 

Park? - An area for experiencing wildlife and having 
contact with nature 

Page 121

Agenda item number: 5



 

 

82 
 

 

 

Nearly three-fifths (58%) were satisfied with the wildlife friendly areas, such as wildflower areas, at 

Stoke Park with over a tenth (12%) stating they were very satisfied.  Less than one in every ten (7%) 

were dissatisfied with the wildlife friendly areas with over a quarter (29%) that said they were 

neither satisfied not dissatisfied.  

Those aged 25-34 (62%) tended to be the most satisfied with the wildlife areas with those aged 65 

and over (53%) expressing lower levels of satisfaction with this aspect.  Respondents in part-time 

employment (62%) were more satisfied than those not currently working (52%) and retired 

respondents (49%) with the wildlife friendly areas in Stoke Park.  Those visiting Stoke Park once 

every six months (69%) were over a tenth more satisfied with the wildlife areas of Stoke Park when 

compared to the average. 

Residents of Stoughton (74%), Shalford (74%), Westborough and Clandon and Horsley (62%) 

expressed higher levels of satisfaction with the wildlife friendly areas of Stoke Park when compared 

to the residents of Onslow (51%) and Tillingbourne (50%).  

  

12% 

46% 

29% 

7% 0% 6% 

Very
satisfied

Satisfied Neither
satisfied nor
dissatisfied

Dissatisfied Very
dissatisfied

Don't know

How satisfied are you with the wildlife friendly 
areas such as wildflower areas at Stoke Park? 

Page 122

Agenda item number: 5



 

 

83 
 

 

 

Around three-fifths (59%) agreed that there should be more areas for wildlife such as wildflower 

meadows, more tree planting and bird nesting sites, with just under a fifth (18%) in strong 

agreement with this.  Just over a tenth (12%) disagreed with the need for more wildlife areas, with 

around a quarter (26%) that neither agreed nor disagreed.  

Female respondents (63%) were a tenth more likely than male respondents (53%) to feel there was a 

need for more wildlife areas within Stoke Park.  Younger respondents tended to be less agreeable 

with 54% of those aged 16-24 and 55% of those aged 25 to 34, whereas 63% of those aged 55-64 

were in agreement.  

Respondents with a disability (69%) were a tenth more likely than the average to agree that there 

should be more areas for wildlife within Stoke Park.  Agreement for more wildlife areas was also high 

amongst those not currently working (75%) and those in part-time employment (63%), but lower 

levels of agreement were expressed by the self-employed retired (both 51%). Over three-quarters 

(78%) of those that visit the park once every six months were in agreement with the need for more 

areas for wildlife. 

Respondents living in the wards of Stoke (67%) and Shalford (63%) were more agreeable to more 

wildlife areas within Stoke Park whereas those living in Westborough (54%), Burpham (53%), Onslow 

(53%), Merrow (49%) and Send (43%) saw less of a need for more wildlife areas in the park.  

Non-users of Stoke Park were more agreeable to this statement with 71% in agreement; 12% higher 

than users of Stoke Park.  Non-users were particular more likely to strongly agree (30%) that there 

should be more areas for wildlife.   

 

18% 

40% 

26% 

11% 
1% 3% 

Strongly
agree

Agree Neither Disagree Strongly
disagree

Don't know

To what extent do you agree or disagree there should 
be more areas for wildlife such as wildflower 

meadows, more tree planting, bird nesting sites 

Page 123

Agenda item number: 5



 

 

84 
 

 

 

Less than half said they would improve the nature and wildlife at Stoke Park, with slightly less (37%) 

saying they would increase the number if they were managing Stoke Park. A fifth stated they would 

keep it as it is. 

Just over a third (35%) said they would improve or invest in tree planting if they were managing 

Stoke Park, with 40% that felt there should be an increase in tree planting. The remaining quarter 

said they would keep tree planting as it is. 

It is worth noting that although a significant proportion wanted an increased number of tree 

planting and nature & wildlife areas, awareness of the current nature and wildlife features varied 

and there is maybe a need to increase the awareness of these areas.   Although awareness of the 

woodlands (76%) was high less than half were aware of the veteran parkland trees (43%) and 

Memory Meadow / bee friendly areas (36%) 

Female respondents were more likely to want an improvement in nature and wildlife (47%) as 

opposed to an increased number (32%), whereas male respondents placed an emphasis on an 

increased number (44%) instead of improvement and investment in nature and wildlife (38%). 

Respondents aged 16-24 were significantly more likely to want to see an increased number of tree 

planting (61%) and nature and wildlife (70%) as opposed to improvements to tree planting (32%) and 

nature and wildlife (23%).  Those aged 16-24 were also the least likely to want nature and wildlife 

and tree planting to stay as it is (7% for both) whereas a third or more of those aged 55-64 wanted 

to keep nature and wildlife (33%) and tree planting (36%) as it is. 

For both nature and wildlife and tree planting, BAME respondents were more likely to favour and 

increased number (45 and 46% respectively) rather than an improvement or investment (33% and 

28% respectively) in these areas. 

Nearly two-thirds (65%) of respondents with a disability wanted to see and improvement in nature 

and wildlife, more than a fifth higher (24%) than those without a disability. Those with a disability 

were also more likely to want an improvement to tree planting (43%). 

35% 

40% 

25% 

43% 

37% 

20% 

Improve / invest in Increase number Keep as it is

If you were managing Stoke Park, what would you 
improve, increase or maintain as they are? 

Tree planting Nature and wildlife

Page 124

Agenda item number: 5



 

 

85 
 

 

Self-employed respondents were more likely to indicate that they would like improvements to 

nature and wildlife (56%) and tree planting (46%), whereas those in education or training signaled a 

desire for an increased number of nature and wildlife (64%) and tree planting (55%).   

Respondents with children more frequently said they would increase tree planting (45%) compared 

to those without children (37%), whereas those without children more frequently said they would 

improve tree planting (40%) compared to those with children (30%).  

Respondents visiting  Stoke Park once a month were more likely to say that if they were managing 

Stoke Park they would want an improvement in nature and wildlife (48%) and tree planting (41%) 

and less likely to want an increased number of nature and wildlife (29%) and tree planting (32%).  

Those visiting the park once every six months were much more favorable of increasing the number 

of both nature and wildlife (54%) and tree planting (66%) and less inclined to want improvements in 

nature and wildlife (39%) and tree planting (23%). Visitors to the park once every six months were 

also much less likely to want to keep both nature and wildlife (7%) and tree planting (11%) as it is.  

Residents of Friary and St Nicolas (50%), Holy Trinity (49%), Stoke (49%) and Stoughton (49%) were 

more favourable of an improvement in nature and wildlife, whereas residents of Shalford (69%), Ash 

South and Tongham (62%), Clandon and Horsley (61%) and Tillingbourne (55%) indicated a 

preference for an increase in the number of nature and wildlife in Stoke Park. 

Those residing in Onslow (44%), Stoke (44%), Stoughton (44%) and Holy Trinity (40%) were more 

likely to see a need for improvement and investment in tree planting in Stoke Park, with those living 

in Ash South and Tongham (62%), Tillingbourne (55%), Shalford (54%), Clandon and Horsley (50%) 

and Worplesdon showing a preference for increasing the number of tree planting.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 125

Agenda item number: 5



 

 

86 
 

 

 
 
 

4.11 Events and Activities 
 

 

  

Key Findings 

Three-quarters (77%) felt Stoke Park should be used as an area for events 

and activities 

Fireworks Fiesta (42%), Surrey County Show (39%) and Park Run (28%) were 

the most attended events and activates 

Less than half (44%) thought there should be more events and activities  

36% wanted improvements/investments in events & event programming, 

42% wanted an increased number 

Respondents were more likely to attend outdoor theatre/cinema/large 

screen and small/informal/free music events (both 78%) 

Contradictions & 

correlations 

Non-users (51%) were more likely than users to (44%) say there should be 

more events and activities  

Questions to be explored 
What events and activities would attract not users to Stoke Park that do not 

already take place? 

Page 126

Agenda item number: 5



 

 

87 
 

 

 

Over three-quarters (77%) were in agreement that the role of Stoke Park should involve it being 

used as an area for events and activities, with 23% that strongly agreed and 54% that agreed.  Less 

than a tenth (6%) disagreed that Stoke Park should be an area for events and activities and 15% 

neither agreed nor disagreed. 

Respondents aged 45-54 (82%) most frequently agreed that Stoke park should be used for events 

and activities, with those aged 65 and over (68%) least agreeable that the role of Stoke Park should 

involve events and activities.  Agreement was also lower amongst those with a disability (70%) and 

those that visit the park once every six months (59%) that Stoke Park should be used for events and 

activities. 

Those in full-time employment (81%) were more likely to agree that the role of Stoke Park should 

include an area for events and activities, whereas those not currently working (71%) and retired 

(68%) were less likely to agree.  

Residents of Onslow (71%), Send (71%), Shalford (70%) and Worplesden (66%) were less likely to 

have said that the role of Stoke Park should include an area for events and activities, with those 

residing in Burpham (85%) and Stoke (82%) more likely to be in agreement that events and activities 

should be part of the role of Stoke Park.  

 

 

 

23% 

54% 

15% 5% 
1% 3% 

Strongly
agree

Agree Neither Disagree Strongly
disagree

Don't know

To what extent do you agree or disagree that the 
following statements describe the role of Stoke 

Park? - An area for events and activities (e.g. fitness 
classes) 

Page 127

Agenda item number: 5



 

 

88 
 

 

 

The Fireworks Fiesta (42%) and the Surrey County Show (39%) were the most frequently attended 

events or activities over the last 12 months, followed by the Park Run with over a quarter attended 

(28%).  Just under a fifth attended the fun fair (19%) or sports club related events (18%) with around 

a tenth attended either Always the Sun Festival (13%), Race for Life (11%), fitness session (10%) or 

skate park events (8%).  Less than fifth (16%) said they had attended none of these events at Stoke 

Park over the past 12 months 

The following respondents were more likely to have attended the Fireworks Fiesta: 

 Those aged 45-54 (51%) and 55-64 (48%) 

 Respondents in full-time employment (48%) 

 Those that visit the park nearly every day (48%) 

 Residents of Christchurch (55%), Holy Trinity (55%), Onslow (54%), Merrow (48%), Burpham 

(47%), Friary and St Nicolas (47%) and Stoke (47%)  

These groups said they attended Surrey County Show more frequently: 

 Older respondents: those aged 45-54 (44%), 55-64 (48%) and 65 and over (47%) 

 Those with a disability (45%) 

 Those in full-time employment and those that are retired (both 44%) 

 Respondents that visit the park nearly every day (46%) 

 Residents living in Christchurch (49%), Tillingbourne (47%), Holy Trinity (49%) and Stoke 

(44%) 

3% 

3% 

8% 

10% 

11% 

13% 

16% 

18% 

19% 

28% 

39% 

42% 

Organised walk

Aquathon / cross country relay

Skate park event

Fitness session

Race for Life

Always the Sun Festival

None of the above

Sports club related event e.g. Rugby
Festival

Fun fair

Park Run

Surrey County Show

Fireworks Fiesta

Have you attended any of the following events or 
activities in the last 12 months? 

Page 128

Agenda item number: 5



 

 

89 
 

 

 

Just under half (44%) said they felt there should be more events and activities within Stoke Park, 

with 14% that strongly agreed and 29% that agreed.  Less than a quarter disagreed (23%) and 

therefore did not believe there should be more events and activities in the park, with three-tenths 

that neither agreed nor disagreed.  

Younger respondents were more agreeable to the idea of more events and activities within Stoke 

Park with over half of 16-24 year olds (58%) and 25-34 year old (52%) in agreement, whereas older 

respondents were less keen on the idea with only a third of those aged 55-64 and 65 and over seeing 

the need for more events and activities. 

Less than a third (32%) of retired respondents felt there should be more events and activities in the 

park, over a fifth lower than those in education or training (53%) or not currently working (54%).  

Those visiting the park once every six months (57%) were very agreeable to more events and 

activities being held in Stoke Park.  

Residents of Ash South and Tongham (64%), Clandon and Horsley (62%), Send (52%), Burpham (50%) 

and Stoughton (49%) were generally more agreeable to having more events and activities in Stoke 

Park, whereas those in Christchurch (40%), Shalford (40%), Onslow (33%), Worplesdon (33%) and 

Merrow (32%) were less so.  

 

14% 

29% 
30% 

20% 

3% 3% 

Strongly
agree

Agree Neither Disagree Strongly
disagree

Don't know

To what extent do you agree or disagree there should 
be more events and activities 

Page 129

Agenda item number: 5



 

 

90 
 

 

 

Over a third (36%) said they would improve or invest in events and events programming if they were 

managing Stoke Park, with a slightly higher proportion that said they would increase the number.  

Just under a quarter (23%) said they would keep events and event programming as it currently is.   

Amongst non-users of Stoke Park almost a fifth (19%) stated that more activities and events would 

be something that encouraged them to visit the park in the future. 

Over half of those aged 16-24 (51%) wanted an increased number of events at Stoke Park, whereas 

those aged 45-54 were more likely to want to keep it as it is (32%) and those aged 55-64 favoured 

improvement and investment in events and event programming (44%).   

Respondents visiting the park almost every day were more likely to have said that if they were 

managing Stoke Park they would improve or invest (44%) in events and event programming, with 

those visiting the parks once every six months were more inclined to have said they would increase 

the number of events (54%).  

Residents of Stoke (51%), Burpham (45%) and Onlsow (43%) were more likely to have said they 

would improve events and programming at Stoke Park, whereas residents of Shalford (64%), 

Tillingbourne (57%), Worplesdon (55%), Send (55%), Clandon and Horsley (53%), Merrow (47%) and 

Westborough (47%) were more likely to have indicated they would increase the number of events in 

the park if they were managing it.  

 

36% 

42% 

23% 

Improve / invest in Increase number Keep as it is

If you were managing Stoke Park, what would 
you improve, increase or maintain as they are? - 

Events and events programming 

Page 130

Agenda item number: 5



 

 

91 
 

 

 

Over three-quarters (78%) said they would be likely to attend either outdoor theatre/cinema/large 

screen events or small/informal/free music events at Stoke Park, with around three-tenths (31% and 

30% respectively) saying they would be highly likely to attend. A fifth or less said they would be 

unlikely to attend these events (20% and 19% respectively).  

Over two-thirds said they would be likely to attend concerts or ticketed music events (68%) and 

fetes/stalls (68%) with over half likely to attend sporting events (60%), art events (60%), themed 

events (60%), charitable events (60%), relaxation/wellbeing activities (57%) and social/educational 

activities (50%).  

Fewer respondents mentioned they would be likely to attend organised recreational events such as 

walks/gardening (44%), with half saying that they would be unlikely to attend.  

 

 

 

9% 

11% 

12% 

13% 

13% 

15% 

15% 

16% 

19% 

23% 

30% 

31% 

14% 

34% 

43% 

47% 

47% 

44% 

42% 

44% 

49% 

45% 

48% 

47% 

14% 

50% 

38% 

34% 

35% 

35% 

37% 

35% 

28% 

28% 

19% 

20% 

63% 

6% 

7% 

6% 

5% 

5% 

6% 

4% 

4% 

4% 

3% 

3% 

Other

Organised recreational events such as
walks/gardening

Social  / educational activities

Charitable events e.g. Race for Life

Themed events (wildlife / pets / food)

Art events (including temporary art
installations)

Relaxation / wellbeing activities

Sporting events

Fetes / stalls

Music – concert / ticketed 

Music – small / informal / free 

Outdoor theatre / cinema / large screen

How likely would you be to attend the following events on Stoke Park? 

Highly likely Likely Unlikely/highly unlikely Don't know / not sure

Page 131

Agenda item number: 5



 

 

92 
 

 

The following groups more frequently said they would be likely to attend events at Stoke Park: 

 Females 

 Respondents between the ages of 25 and 54  

 BAME respondents 

 Respondents with a disability 

 Those in a full-time job, part-time job and self-employed respondents 

 Respondents with children 

 Residents of Ash South and Tongham, Burpham, Friary and St Nicolas and Westborough 

 

The following less frequently displayed an interest in attending events at Stoke Park: 

 Males 

 Those aged 16-24 and over the age of 55 

 Respondents in education or training and those that are retired 

 Respondents without children 

 Residents of Merrow, Onslow, Shalford, Stoke, Tillingbourne and Worplesdon 

 

The table below shows the most frequently chosen options stated in the ‘other’ option: 

How likely would you be to attend the following events on Stoke Park? Please specify other 

Response Number Percentage 

Park run 5 28% 

Skate park events 4 22% 

Army shows 2 11% 

Inexpensive events/activities 2 11% 

Other (not relevant) 2 11% 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 132

Agenda item number: 5



 

 

93 
 

 

4.12 Community Involvement 
 

 

  

Key Findings 

Three-fifths (61%) agreed  local communities should be more involved in the 

planning and running of Stoke Park 

44% said they would increase community involvement, 30% would improve 

or invest in it 

Over a quarter (26%) wanted to be further involved with Stoke Park 

Contradictions & 

correlations 

Despite the 61% that agreed local communities should be more involved in 

the planning and running of Stoke Park, 44% that said they would increase 

community involvement and 30% that would improve or invest in it only 26% 

said that they would actually want to be further involved with Stoke Park 

Questions to be explored 

Why do so few want to be involved further with Stoke Park despite 61% that 

agreed communities should be more involved in the planning and running of 

the park? 

Page 133

Agenda item number: 5



 

 

94 
 

 

 

Around three-fifths (61%) agreed that local communities should be more involved in the planning 

and running of Stoke Park; 16% that strongly agreed and 45% that agreed.  Less than a tenth (7%) 

disagreed with over a quarter (27%) saying they neither agreed nor disagreed that communities 

should be more involved in the planning and running of Stoke Park.  

Males showed higher levels of agreement that communities should be more involved in the planning 

and running of the park, with 64% of males in agreement compared to 59% of females.  Respondents 

aged 16-24 (67%), 25-34 (68%) and 65 and over (69%) were more likely to agree with the statement 

compared to those aged 35-44, 45-54 and 55-65 (all 58%).  

Respondents that were self-employed (51%) or in part-time employment (55%) less frequently 

agreed that local communities should be more involved in the planning and running of Stoke Park, 

whereas those in full-time employment (64%), in education or training (65%) and retired 

respondents (64%) showed higher levels of agreement.  Respondents without children (65%) and 

those attending the park almost every day (69%) were also more likely to express higher levels of 

agreement towards community involvement in the park.  

Residents of Shalford (72%), Worplesdon (71%), Clandon and Horsley (69%), Stoke (66%) and 

Burpham (65%) were more agreeable with the idea of community involvement in the planning and 

running of Stoke Park, whereas those residing in Tillingbourne (56%), Stoughton (55%) and Ash 

South and Tongham (45%) were less enthusiastic about the thought of more community 

involvement. 

 

 

16% 

45% 

27% 

7% 0% 
4% 

Strongly
agree

Agree Neither Disagree Strongly
disagree

Don't know

To what extent do you agree or disagree local 
communities should be more involved in the planning 

and running of Stoke Park 

Page 134

Agenda item number: 5



 

 

95 
 

 

 

Under half of respondents (44%) said that if they were managing Stoke Park they would increase the 

community involvement in Stoke Park, 30% said they would improve or invest in it and just over a 

quarter (26%) said they would keep it as it is.  

Male respondents (49%) were more inclined to have said they would increase the community 

involvement in Stoke Park when compared to females (40%).  Those aged 16-24 (67%) and 25-34 

(50%) were more favourable of an increase in community involvement with those aged 45-54 (36%) 

and 55-64 (34%) less keen on there being an increase in community involvement.  

Nearly half (47%) of respondents with a disability felt there should be an improvement or 

investment in community involvement with only 29% seeing the need for an increased number.  

Respondents in education or training were more likely to want an increase in community 

involvement (66%), whereas those not currently working (28%) were considerably less likely to want 

an increase, but were, however, much more likely to want an improvement in community 

involvement (46%).  

Those visiting the park once a month (36%) were the least likely to have said they would increase 

community involvement if they were managing the park, whereas those visiting once every six 

months (64%) were the most likely to want an increase.  

Resident of Christchurch (37%), Westborough (36%) and Friary and St Nicolas (34%) tended to be 

more favourable of an improvement or investment in community involvement at Stoke Park, 

whereas residents of Ash South and Tongham (76%), Clandon and Horsley (64%), Tillingbourne 

(61%), Shalford (52%) and Worplesdon (50%) were more inclined to have said they would like to see 

an increased number.  

30% 

44% 

26% 

Improve / invest in Increase number Keep as it is

If you were managing Stoke Park, what would 
you improve, increase or maintain as they are? - 

Community involvement (Friends Group, 
volunteering, fundraising) 

Page 135

Agenda item number: 5



 

 

96 
 

 

 

Just over a quarter (26%) wanted to be further involved with Stoke Park.  Most of those wanting to 

be involved wanted to be involved in future consultations on the stages of the masterplan (23%), 

with 7% wanting to be a member of Friends Group and  5% willing to volunteer in Stoke Park.  

These groups were the most likely to have said they would be willing to be involved further: 

 Female respondents (28%) 

 Those aged 35-44 (29%), 45-54 (30%) and 55-64 (36%) 

 Self-employed respondents (32%) and those not currently working (31%) 

 BAME respondents (28%) 

 Those who visit Stoke Park almost every day (28%) or once or twice a week (29%)  

 Residents of Holy Trinity (39%), Christchurch (36%), Friary and St Nicolas, Burpham (29%) 

and Merrow (28%) 

The following groups more frequently said they did not wish to be involved further: 

 Male respondents (77%) 

 Those aged 16-24 (94%), 25-34 (79%) and 65 and over (77%) 

 Those in education or training (93%) and retired respondents (77%) 

 Those visiting the park once every six months (96%) 

 Residents of Ash South and Tongham (96%), Shalford (93%), Clandon and Horsley (91%), 

Send (90%), Tillingbourne (88%), Stoke (86%), Worplesdon (86%), Westborough (82%) and 

Onslow (78%) 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

5% 

7% 

23% 

74% 

Volunteering to work in Stoke Park e.g.
gardening

Member of Friends Group

Future consultations on the stages of the
masterplan

I do not wish to be involved

Would you be willing to be involved further through any of the 
following? 

Page 136

Agenda item number: 5



 

 

97 
 

 

4.13 The Role of Stoke Park Now and in to the Future 
 

 

Key Findings 

The vast majority (94%) of users felt Stoke Park makes Guildford a better 

place to live and work.  87% of non-users said it makes Guildford a better 

place  

Over nine-tenths felt the role of Stoke Park was as an area for young people 

to play (97%) and as an informal area for exercise (94%) 

Over three-quarters (76%) were aware of the woodlands and the walled 

garden 

Less than half were aware of the Japanese garden (45%), veteran parkland 

trees (43%), Memory Meadow (36%), WW2 tank trap defences (34%), model 

farm (21%) and Stoke Park Friends Group (13%) 

Over half wanted and improvement or investment in play areas (68%), 

catering facilities (60%) and car parks (55%) 

Three-fifths wanted an increased number of grass sports pitches 

Non-users showed low levels of awareness of heritage facilities (28%) and 

netball (23%) 

Contradictions & 

correlations 

Both users and non-users were in agreement that Stoke Park makes 

Guildford a better place 

Non-users were a fifth more likely to feel the quality and maintenance of the 

planting and gardens should be increased 

Nearly all (98%) non-users felt the standard of maintenance was important 

when visiting a park, however 44% felt this is something that could be 

improved upon at Stoke Park 

The non-users that were familiar with Stoke Park mentioned good 

maintenance/clean, improve parking and improve catering as 

improvements/investments they would like to see.  Parking and catering 

were also seen as areas for improvement amongst users 

Questions to be explored 

Would increasing the quality and maintenance of the planting and gardens 

encourage some of the non-users to visit the park? 

Would improving parking and catering facilities encourage non-users to visit 

the park? 

Would higher awareness of facilities at Stoke Park encourage people to 

either visit or visit more frequently? 

Page 137

Agenda item number: 5



 

 

98 
 

 

 

The vast majority (97%) were in agreement that the role of Stoke Park was as an area for children 

and young people to play, with over half that strongly agreed with this (57%).  Over nine-tenths 

(94%) said they thought the role of Stoke Park incorporated an area for informal exercise, with 

around half (49%) in strong agreement with this.   

Over four-fifths agreed that the role of Stoke Park was an area for quiet reflection and rest (87%), an 

area for local people to meet (87%), an area for greening the neighbourhood, reducing pollution and 

protecting the environment (84%) and to provide facilities for organised sport (82%).  Those in 

strong agreement exceeded three-tenths for each of these statements (32%, 35%, 41% and 31% 

respectively) with disagreement levels at or below 5% for all statements.  

Agreement levels were lower that Stoke Park should be an area for experiencing wildlife and having 

contact with nature, with just over half in agreement (57%) and less than a fifth in strong agreement 

(17%).  Those in disagreement that Stoke Park should be an area for experiencing wildlife was higher 

than any other aspect with 17% that felt this should not be the role of Stoke Park.  

The following groups consistently agreed more frequently: 

 Respondents aged 55-64 

15% 

17% 

23% 

31% 

32% 

35% 

36% 

41% 

49% 

57% 

9% 

40% 

54% 

51% 

55% 

53% 

42% 

43% 

45% 

40% 

22% 

25% 

15% 

9% 

8% 

9% 

14% 

11% 

5% 

2% 

1% 

17% 

6% 

5% 

4% 

3% 

4% 

3% 

1% 

53% 

2% 

3% 

3% 

1% 

1% 

3% 

2% 

Other

An area for experiencing wildlife and having contact
with nature

An area for events and activities (e.g. fitness classes)

To provide facilities for organised sports

An area for quiet reflection and rest

An area for local people to meet

To conserve the historic parkland landscape
including veteran trees and historic buildings and…

An area for greening the neighbourhood, reducing
pollution and protecting the environment

An area for informal exercise (e.g. dog walking,
family games)

An area for children and young people to play

To what extent do you agree or disagree that the following statements 
describe the role of Stoke Park?  

Strongly agree Agree Neither Disagree/strongly disagree Don't know

Page 138

Agenda item number: 5



 

 

99 
 

 

 Residents of Friary and St Nicolas and Shalford 

 

The following groups were less likely to have agreed with the statements on the role of Stoke Park: 

 Those not currently working 

 Respondents that visit the park once every six months 

 Residents of Ash South and Tongham and Tillingbourne 

 

To what extent do you agree or disagree that the following statements describe the role of 
Stoke Park? Please specify other 

Response Number Percentage 

An area  for leisure activities (e.g. skate park, model 
boating pond) 

7 44% 

I work in Stoke Park 2 13% 

Park run has a negative/positive effect 2 13% 

A pleasant area for Guildford/to be proud of 2 13% 

Play area needs improving/updating 1 6% 

An area for refreshments 1 6% 

Underutilised for camping 1 6% 

Wild wood 1 6% 

Allotments for residents 1 6% 

An area that could increase health 1 6% 

 

Of the respondents that stated other, nearly half (44%) said they thought the role of Stoke Park 

should include an area for leisure activities. 

 

 

 

Page 139

Agenda item number: 5



 

 

100 
 

 

 

Respondents showed the greatest level of awareness for the woodlands and walled garden within 

Stoke Park with over three-quarters (76% for both) aware of these.  Over half were aware of the 

Sensory Garden (58%) and access to the Wey Navigation towpath (54%) and Riverside Nature 

Reserve (53%) under the A3.  

Just under half were aware of the Japanese Garden (45%) and veteran parkland trees (43%), with 

around a third aware of Memory Meadow (36%) and the WW2 tank trap defences (34%).  

Awareness was low amongst respondents of the model farm (21%) and the Stoke Park Friends Group 

(13%).  

The following groups were more likely to be aware of features within Stoke Park: 

 Older respondents; those aged 45-54, 55-64 and 65 and over 

 Those in full-time employment, the self-employed and retired 

 Respondents with children 

 Those visiting Stoke Park once or twice a week 

 Residents of Christchurch,  Friary and St Nicolas, Holy Trinity and Stoke  

 

13% 

21% 

34% 

36% 

43% 

45% 

53% 

54% 

58% 

76% 

76% 

87% 

79% 

66% 

64% 

57% 

55% 

47% 

46% 

42% 

24% 

24% 

Stoke Park Friends Group

Model farm

WW2 tank trap defences

Memory Meadow / bee friendly bulb area

Veteran parkland trees

Japanese Garden

Access to Riverside Nature Reserve under the
A3

Access to the Wey Navigation towpath under
the A3

Sensory Garden

Walled garden

Woodlands

Are you aware of the following within Stoke Park?  

Yes No

Page 140

Agenda item number: 5



 

 

101 
 

 

The following were less likely to show awareness of features of Stoke Park: 

 Younger respondents: those aged 16-24 and 25-34 

 Those in in education or training and those not currently working 

 Respondents without children 

 Those visiting the park once every six months 

 Residents of Ash South and Tongham, Clandon and Horsley, Shalford and Worplesdon 

  

Page 141

Agenda item number: 5



 

 

102 
 

 

 

The vast majority (94%) were in agreement that Stoke Park makes Guildford a better place to live 

and work, with 60% that strongly agreed with this; only 1% felt that Stoke Park didn’t make 

Guildford a better place to live and work.  

Over three-quarters (81%) agreed that Stoke Park should be used for promoting health and 

wellbeing activities more with slightly fewer that agreed Stoke Park should play a role in protecting 

the environment (74%).  

6% 

14% 

14% 

16% 

17% 

18% 

23% 

29% 

31% 

60% 

18% 

25% 

29% 

45% 

46% 

40% 

39% 

52% 

43% 

34% 

37% 

28% 

30% 

27% 

22% 

26% 

21% 

13% 

18% 

4% 

35% 

28% 

23% 

7% 

13% 

12% 

12% 

4% 

4% 

4% 

4% 

3% 

4% 

2% 

3% 

5% 

2% 

4% 

1% 

The quality and maintenance of the planting and gardens
should be improved

Technological innovations would improve the visitor
experience (for example app / smartphone, digital

feedback)

There should be more events and activities

Local communities should be more involved in the
planning and running of Stoke Park

It would be helpful and interesting to have more
information about the history of Stoke Park (e.g. through

more signage)

There should be more areas for wildlife such as wildflower
meadows, more tree planting, bird nesting sites

Stoke Park should be better linked to other green spaces
to provide more routes for walking and cycling

Stoke Park should be used for promoting health and
wellbeing activities more (including organised sports)

There should be a role for Stoke Park in protecting the
environment, such as adapting to climate change and

reducing air pollution

Stoke Park makes Guildford a better place to live and work

To what extent do you agree or disagree with the following statements? 

Strongly agree Agree Neither Disagree/strongly disagree Don't know

Page 142

Agenda item number: 5



 

 

103 
 

 

Agreement was lower that there should be more events and activities (44%) and that technological 

innovations would improve the visitor experience (39%) with around a quarter in disagreement with 

these statements (23% and 28% respectively). 

Less than a quarter (24%) felt that the quality of the planting and the gardens should be improved. 

This was the only statement were more people were in disagreement than agreement, with over a 

third (35%) that felt there was no need for an improvement in the quality and the maintenance of 

the planting and gardens.  

 
To what extent do you agree or disagree with the following statements? 

Statement 
Users 

agreement 
Non-users 
agreement 

Difference  

Stoke Park makes Guildford a better place to live and 
work 

94% 87% +7% 

It would be helpful and interesting to have more 
information about the history of Stoke Park (e.g. 

through more signage) 
63% 60% +3% 

Stoke Park should be used for promoting health and 
wellbeing activities more (including organised sports) 

81% 79% +2% 

Technological innovations would improve the visitor 
experience (for example app / smartphone, digital 

feedback) 
39% 37% +2% 

Stoke Park should be better linked to other green 
spaces to provide more routes for walking and cycling 

63% 62% 0% 

There should be a role for Stoke Park in protecting the 
environment, such as adapting to climate change and 

reducing air pollution 
74% 79% -5% 

Local communities should be more involved in the 
planning and running of Stoke Park 

61% 67% -6% 

There should be more events and activities 44% 51% -8% 

There should be more areas for wildlife such as 
wildflower meadows, more tree planting, bird nesting 

sites 
59% 71% -12% 

The quality and maintenance of the planting and 
gardens should be improved 

24% 44% -20% 

 

Users of Stoke Park were just under a tenth (7%) more likely to have said that Stoke Park makes 

Guildford a better place to live and work when compared to non-users.  Users of the park were also 

more likely than non-users to have agreed that it would be helpful and interesting to have more 

information about the history of Stoke Park (+3%), that Stoke Park should be used for promoting 

health and wellbeing activities more (+2%) and technological innovations would improve the visitor 

experience (+2%).  

 

Page 143

Agenda item number: 5



 

 

104 
 

 

 

Non-users showed higher levels of agreement than users of Stoke Park towards five of the ten 

statements and these may help to understand some of the reasons which prevent non-users either 

using the park or using it more often than they currently do.   Non-users were a fifth more likely than 

users to agree that the quality and maintenance of the planting and gardens should be improved 

and over a tenth (12%) more likely to have said there should be more areas for wildlife.  

Non-users were also more likely than non-users to agree that there should be more events and 

activities in Stoke Park (+8%), that local communities should be more involved in the planning and 

running of the park (+6%) and there should be a role for Stoke Park in protecting the environment 

(+5%). 

 

Around two-thirds (66%) of respondents said they would improve or invest in play areas at Stoke 

Park if they were managing the park, with slightly less saying they would improve or invest in an 

‘other’ aspect of the park.  Over half said they would improve or invest in catering facilities (60%) 

and car parks (55%) whereas less than a third supported an improvement/investment in paths and 

30% 

32% 

33% 

34% 

35% 

36% 

36% 

38% 

38% 

41% 

43% 

48% 

55% 

60% 

64% 

68% 

44% 

46% 

51% 

47% 

40% 

42% 

60% 

47% 

34% 

43% 

37% 

23% 

25% 

20% 

24% 

23% 

26% 

22% 

16% 

19% 

25% 

23% 

4% 

15% 

27% 

17% 

20% 

29% 

21% 

19% 

12% 

9% 

Community involvement (Friends Group,…

Horticulture / plants / shrubs / flowers / quality of…

Paths and access

Heritage features

Tree planting

Events and events programming

Grass sports pitches (football / rugby / cricket /…

Artificial sports pitches (such as multi use games…

Organised activities to support people’s health … 

Technological innovations (e.g. apps / virtual…

Nature and wildlife

Quiet places to sit and picnic

Car parks (Nightingale Road and Lido Road)

Catering facilities

Other

Play area

If you were managing Stoke Park, what would you improve, increase or 
maintain as they are? 

Improve / invest in Increase number Keep as it is

Page 144

Agenda item number: 5



 

 

105 
 

 

access (33%), horticulture / plants / shrubs / flowers / quality of floral displays (32%) and community 

involvement (30%).  

Three-fifths of respondents wanted an increased number of grass sports pitches, with around half 

wanting an increased number of paths and access (51%), artificial sports pitches (47%) and heritage 

features (47%).  Less than a quarter said that if they were managing the park they would increase 

the number of car parks (25%), ‘other’ aspects (24%), play areas, quiet places to sit and picnic (23%) 

and catering facilities (20%).  

Less than a tenth said they would choose to keep the play area (9%) and the grass sports pitches as 

they are (4%), therefore indicating that these were the areas respondents thought needed the most 

attention, either in the form or improvement/investment or in increased numbers.   A quarter or 

more felt that quiet places to sit and picnic (29%), organised activities to support people’s health and 

wellbeing (27%), community involvement (26%) and tree planting (25%) should be kept as they are 

and did not require any improvements or an increase in number.  

The following groups were more inclined to opt for an improvement or investment in services: 

 Those aged 55-64 

 Respondents with a disability 

 Self-employed respondents 

 Those visiting Stoke Park once a month 

 Residents of Burpham, Christchurch, Holy Trinity, Stoke and Stoughton 

 

These groups were more likely to want an increase number of services: 

 Male respondents 

 Those aged 16-24 

 BAME respondents 

 Respondents in education or training 

 Respondents with children 

 Visitors to the park once every 6 months 

 Residents of Ash South and Tongham, Clandon and Horsley, Send, Shalford, Tillingbourne 

and Worplesdon 

 

The following were more likely to want the services keep as they currently are: 

 Those aged 45-54, 55-64 

 Respondents in full-time employment and respondents not currently working  

 Those visiting the park once a month 

 Residents of Burpham, Christchurch and Merrow 

  

Page 145

Agenda item number: 5



 

 

106 
 

 

If you were managing Stoke Park, what would you improve, increase or maintain as they are? 
Please specify other 

Response Number Percentage 

Skate park 27 33% 

Gym area/fitness equipment 10 12% 

More signage/information 7 8% 

Improve the ponds 6 7% 

Improve toilet facilities 6 7% 

Lighting 5 6% 

Cycle paths/track 5 6% 

 

Of those that stated ‘other’ a third said they would improve, increase or maintain the skate park if 

they were managing Stoke Park, with just over a tenth (12%) that said they would improve, increase 

or maintain the gym area/fitness equipment.  

  

Page 146

Agenda item number: 5



 

 

107 
 

 

 

Non-users of Stoke Park showed the greatest awareness of the children’s playground (87%) and the 

sports pitches (84%) at Stoke Park.  Over seven-tenths were also aware of the 52 hectares of open 

green space (81%), the paddling pool (77%) and tennis (70%).  

Awareness was over half for 13 of the 15 facilities at Stoke Park, with heritage features (28%) and 

netball (23%) the only 2 facilities with below 50% awareness from non-users. 

The following groups indicated higher levels of awareness of facilities at Stoke Park: 

 Those aged 45-54 and 55-64 

 Respondents in part-time employment 

 Residents of Christchurch, Merrow, Stoke, Stoughton and Westborough 

 

23% 

28% 

51% 

56% 

61% 

62% 

63% 

64% 

67% 

67% 

70% 

77% 

81% 

84% 

87% 

77% 

72% 

49% 

44% 

39% 

38% 

37% 

36% 

33% 

33% 

30% 

23% 

19% 

16% 

13% 

Netball

Heritage features

Fitness trail / trim trail

Skate park

Catering

Footpaths to other green spaces from
Stoke Park

Group activities and events

Mini golf

Model boating pond

Ornamental gardens

Tennis

Paddling pool

52 hectares of open green space

Sports pitches including football, rugby,
cricket, lacrosse

Children's playground

Are you aware of the following facilities available at Stoke 
park? 

Yes No

Page 147

Agenda item number: 5



 

 

108 
 

 

These groups tended to be less aware of the facilities available at Stoke Park: 

 Those aged 16-24, 35-44 and 65 and over 

 Self-employed respondents 

 Respondents with a disability 

 BAME respondents 

 Residents of Ash South and Tongham and Holy Trinity 

Page 148

Agenda item number: 5



 

 

109 
 

 

 

21% 

23% 

23% 

26% 

27% 

29% 

31% 

33% 

34% 

37% 

38% 

40% 

42% 

42% 

43% 

47% 

51% 

54% 

61% 

65% 

73% 

77% 

83% 

88% 

34% 

16% 

33% 

41% 

39% 

30% 

38% 

38% 

46% 

43% 

34% 

39% 

43% 

44% 

28% 

39% 

40% 

29% 

25% 

29% 

23% 

21% 

16% 

11% 

18% 

15% 

17% 

12% 

11% 

13% 

14% 

12% 

8% 

9% 

13% 

9% 

7% 

7% 

7% 

8% 

6% 

6% 

5% 

3% 

1% 

26% 

43% 

25% 

20% 

22% 

27% 

16% 

16% 

11% 

11% 

13% 

11% 

8% 

6% 

21% 

6% 

4% 

10% 

8% 

3% 

2% 

1% 

2% 

2% 

1% 

1% 

1% 

2% 

1% 

1% 

1% 

1% 

1% 

1% 

Changing rooms / pavilion

Heritage features

A visible staff presence

Sports facilities

Range of events

Catering

Opportunities for community to get involved

Playground

Amount of wildlife

Convenient location / within walking distance

Opportunity to be close to nature

Picnic / seating facilities

Information / directional signage

Car parking facilities

Range of flowers, shrubs and trees

Opportunity to enjoy peace and quiet

Control of dogs

Opportunity to enjoy attractive gardens or
landscaped setting

Condition of the footpaths

Toilets

General appearance of the park

Standard of maintenance

Control of undesirable activities e.g. vandalism,
graffiti, dog-fouling

Standard of cleanliness

Thinking about parks and spaces in general in Guildford. How important are 
the following to you when visiting a park or open space? 

Very important Fairly important Neither Not important Don't know

Page 149

Agenda item number: 5



 

 

110 
 

 

Nearly all respondents placed importance on the standard of cleanliness (99%), control of 

undesirable activities (98%), standard of maintenance (98%) and the general appearance of the park 

(97%) when visiting a park or open space.   Those that felt these factors were very important 

exceeded three-quarters for control of undesirable activities (88%), standard of cleanliness (83%) 

and standard of maintenance (77%) and was slightly below three-quarters for the general 

appearance of the park (73%).   

Respondents also placed a high level of importance on toilets (94%), condition of the footpath (90%), 

the opportunity to enjoy attractive gardens or landscaped setting (87%), control of dogs (86%), 

opportunity to enjoy peace and quiet (86%), range of flowers, shrubs and trees (84%) and car 

parking facilities (83%) when visiting a park or open spaces. 

Less than two-thirds felt that sports facilities (58%), a visible staff presence (56%), heritage features 

(55%) and changing rooms/pavilions (39%) were important when visiting a park or open space.  

These aspects all showed responses of not important at or above a quarter with 43% that felt 

changing rooms/pavilions were not important, 27% that felt sports facilities were not important, 

26% that felt heritage features were not important and 25% that said a visible staff presence was not 

important.  

The following respondents tended to more frequently say these factors were important to them 

when visiting a park or open space: 

 Female respondents 

 Those aged 65 and over 

 Retired respondents 

 Respondents with a disability 

 Residents of Ash South and Tongham, Friary and St Nicolas, Merrow, Stoke and 

Westborough  

 

These groups less frequently said these factors were important when visiting a park or open space: 

 Male respondents 

 Those aged 16-24 and 35-44 

 Self-employed respondents 

 BAME respondents 

 Respondents with children 

 Residents of Christchurch  

  

Page 150

Agenda item number: 5



 

 

111 
 

 

If you are familiar with Stoke Park, what future improvements and investments would you like 
to see in Stoke Park? 

Response Number Percentage 

Nothing/Keep it as it is 126 35% 

Don't know 37 10% 

Good maintenance/clean 35 10% 

Improve parking 34 10% 

Improve catering 28 8% 

More organised events/features 16 5% 

Improve toilet facilities 13 4% 

I am not familiar with Stoke park 12 3% 

Update play equipment 11 3% 

More seating (incl. under cover) 10 3% 

More activities for children/play areas 10 3% 

Increase planting of bushes/trees/flowers 9 3% 

 

Of the non-users that are familiar with Stoke Park, over a third (35%) said there were no 

improvements or investments they felt necessary and that it should be kept as it is. A further tenth 

said they did not know what improvements or investments they would like to see in Stoke Park.  

A tenth said they would improve the maintenance and cleanliness of the park or improve the 

parking. Slightly less (8%) that said they would make improvements or investments to the catering, 

with 5% saying they’d like more organised events/features and 4% saying they would like 

improvements made to the toilet facilities.  

Page 151

Agenda item number: 5



 

 

112 
 

 

 

The majority of respondents (87%) agreed that Stoke Park makes Guildford a better place to live, 

with nearly half (45%) that strongly agreed. Only 3% disagreed and therefore did not think that Stoke 

Park makes Guildford a better place to live.  

Over three-quarters agreed that Stoke Park should play a role in protecting the environment (79%) 

and that Stoke Park should be used for promoting health and wellbeing activities (79%), with just 

under three-quarters that felt there should be more areas for wildlife at Stoke Park (71%).  

Less than half (44%) felt that there was a need for the quality and maintenance of the planting and 

gardens to be improved, with just over a fifth (21%) that disagreed and did not see a need for this. 

9% 

13% 

17% 

18% 

19% 

19% 

29% 

30% 

34% 

45% 

28% 

31% 

43% 

44% 

33% 

48% 

50% 

41% 

45% 

42% 

23% 

23% 

23% 

20% 

21% 

19% 

13% 

15% 

12% 

7% 

32% 

21% 

15% 

12% 

21% 

7% 

5% 

12% 

6% 

3% 

8% 

12% 

1% 

6% 

8% 

7% 

4% 

2% 

3% 

3% 

Technological innovations would improve
the visitor experience (for example app /

smartphone, digital feedback)

The quality and maintenance of the planting
and gardens should be improved

It would be helpful and interesting to have
more information about the history of the

park (e.g. through more signage)

Stoke Park should be better linked to other
green spaces to provide more routes for

walking and cycling

There should be more events and activities

Local communities should be more involved
in the planning and running of the park

Stoke Park should be used for promoting
health and wellbeing activities more

(including organised sports)

There should be more areas for wildlife such
as wildflower meadows, more tree planting,

bird nesting sites

There should be a role for Stoke Park in
protecting the environment, such as

adapting to climate change and reducing…

Stoke Park makes Guildford a better place to
live and work

To what extent do you agree or disagree with the following 
statements? 

Strongly agree Agree Neither Disagree/strongly disagree Don't know

Page 152

Agenda item number: 5



 

 

113 
 

 

Just under a third (32%) felt that technological innovations would not enhance the visitor experience 

to the park, with 38% that agreed that technological innovations would improve the visitor 

experience.  

The following groups tended to be more agreeable towards these statements: 

 Those aged 55-64 

 Respondents with a disability 

 Respondents without children 

 Residents of Ash South and Tongham and Westborough  

These groups were generally less agreeable towards the statements: 

 Those aged 16-24 and 35-44 

 Respondents in part-time employment 

 Respondents with children 

 Residents of Friary and St Nicolas 

 

  

Page 153

Agenda item number: 5



 

 

114 
 

 

5.0 In-Depth Interviews 
 

As part of the Stoke Park Consultation, SMSR Ltd conducted interviews with a number of 

stakeholders and organisations intrinsically involved in the park and its future. This included key 

members of staff at the Wey Valley Indoor Bowling Club, The Spectrum Leisure Centre, Guildford 

Parkrun and the Guildford Shakespeare Company amongst others. 

Interviews of approximately 30 minutes were primarily conducted face to face and included a loose 

script which mirrored the themes in the main questionnaire. 

Much aligned with the findings within the qualitative research, it was apparent throughout the 

interviews that Stoke Park plays a prominent role in the borough, facilitating sporting and 

community activities that are intrinsically linked to its future and the wellbeing of Guildford. 

Stakeholders took the opportunity to focus on some aspects of the resource that could be improved 

including communication between the groups using the parks, the management of events and 

access. It was generally thought that there are opportunities for development, some in the form of 

minor changes that can have positive effects on the way the organisations and groups use the space. 

The impression that Stoke Park should be protected against overdevelopment was evident 

throughout the interviews. 

5.1 Car Parking 
Although it was recognised that there is ample parking around Stoke Park, it was thought that better 

management and positioning could improve access to the site. There is a perception that parking 

around Guildford College and Lido Road / bowls club / Wildwood can become congested compared 

to other facilities and that there is some degree of self-management of car parks from organisations: 

“Car park an issue around the bowling club and it has always been free – commuters 

are using the car parks and walk through the park together with college students. To 

improve the park – they need to improve access to the park which needs to be 

controlled.” 

“Guildford College uses the car park near the bowls club during the week and then the 

general public uses it at the weekend. If the spaces were just a little bigger – more 

cars could park.” 

“Any new facilities should bear car parking in mind, as I said one end is baron and is 

really congested (college end).” 

“Car parking is not an issue but perhaps does not lean itself to encouraging 

participation as most parking is away from key facilities within the park.  You have to 

plan your visit from that perspective.” 

“We police the car parking to avoid any problems and we marshal the events.” 

“At spectrum, there is confusion with parking due the park and ride. We actively 

discourage users to use the car park for Stoke Park and Spectrum has to manage the 

car park for the Council.” 

Page 154

Agenda item number: 5



 

 

115 
 

 

5.2 Catering 
One area of improvement that was almost unanimously mentioned related to catering facilities at 

Stoke Park. There was an impression that the current facilities were either inadequate or not well-

known to visitors of the park. Some suggestions of what improvements may look like were offered: 

“Catering wise they are missing a trick, not a lot here and when you have all these 

parents watching sports and standing around, they could and would spend money on 

coffees etc.” 

“There is a kiosk near the pool and a café at the bowling club but that does not look 

very welcoming. The park needs to draw people in and even just having the simple 

things like coffee would be a big help.” 

“The park would benefit from a continental style beer garden. People don’t seem to 

just be able to sit in the park and enjoy a beverage in the summer. Would be good to 

have an outlet that sells good coffee too.” 

“Catering facilities seem to shut down early so there may be an opportunity to stay 

open especially in the summer months.” 

“There is a lack of refreshments available in the park; there is nothing just a little 

kiosk.  We have been introduced to the café (Bowlers club) and they provide us with 

breakfast and we both benefit from this.” 

“They have the little café in stoke gardens which is a little kiosk and I don’t know if it 

is open all the time. There is room for a sit down café – the bowls club has a café that 

the Parkrun team run.” 

“The kiosk they have in Stoke gardens is quite basic – you just get a basic Nescafé. If 

you want to go on a cold winter’s day – there is no cover. There is no café nearby and 

they are in the town. I think that this is an area for improvement.” 

5.3 Facilities 
A key finding in the quantitative research phase was an appetite to develop the play facilities at 

Stoke Park. Some suggestions were put forward during the in-depth interviews regarding this 

aspect together but it was generally thought that play facilities were adequate. There was more of 

a call to review the location of facilities in general in the park which seemed to be at odds with 

access: 

“Paddling pool is fantastic as is the skateboard park. All the play equipment is in one 

place, its great and my kids have used it a lot of the years but if they had other play 

equipment or even adult facilities in other areas of the park it would encourage people to 

walk across to them and get people moving around the park more.” 

“The play facilities, although I am not an expert, seem to be abundant and well 

maintained.” 

Page 155

Agenda item number: 5



 

 

116 
 

 

“The park has a nice playground; it’s all pretty good really. I like a big open space.” 

 “Paddling pool and the lido are the major strength. The sensory garden isn’t that 

sensory – just has gravel with no sound and colour. Boasting lake needs repairing as it 

is leaking. Circuit which pumps the water around the park has been broken for a long 

time” 

“Better play facilities at other parks – Woking and Southwolds park. Much more fun 

and better facilities. Guildford BC are really good at making everything really good 

aside from the play facilities. The facilities are okay though.” 

“Wildwood working well. The location works against the club due to the lack of 
catchment area.” 

 
“The wildwood is a good concept in a bigger wood but it has ruined a nice little piece of 

wood. It doesn’t look very good and looks a bit tacky. I hope that they don’t go too 

commercial and sets the commissioning going forward.” 

“Stoke Park is great but it is quite fragmented.  Everything is condensed into one end 

and there are little pockets of isolation such as tennis court area.  Ultimately you have 

a big open space in the middle and because of this not as much is utilised.” 

“I just feel allocation of facilities could better spaced out; I would use Hyde Park as a 

really good example of this, it is better spaced out.” 

“The difficult bit comes from Guildford College and it shouldn’t have been built where it 

is. It blocks off the LIDO from the rest of the park. It would be better if it wasn’t there. It 

brings litter issues. People generally leave litter. The college haven’t made any friends 

and they have put a planning in to build student accommodation as they didn’t need it 

for resident students.” 

 

5.4 Accessibility 
When considering accessibility, a recurring concern was the condition of the ground in certain 

conditions and the effect it had on using the park, although it was acknowledged that there may be 

no fix for this issue. Thoughts were also provided on improved signage, paths and traffic: 

“The range is poor as it is clay but that cannot be helped. There was an incident at the 

County Show a couple of years ago when it rained and cars had to be pulled off.” 

“There are some issues with the ground at Stoke Park sometimes and some of the 

sports pitches and open areas can become saturated with water. Not a huge issue for 

us though.” 

“There are challenges, the park getting muddy for example; sometimes we would 

appreciate the parks department to be a bit more accommodating as we can’t use the 

Page 156

Agenda item number: 5



 

 

117 
 

 

paths.  A good example is they could start looking at putting mesh down when it is 

muddy or other possible solutions. ” 

“The park drains over the paths and it can get icy which is a challenge for us but I don’t 

know what else they can do.” 

“Signage could be improved with perhaps more brown signs to show where features of 

the park are located.” 

“Might be nice in the future to have signage provided, example given (warning 9am 

beware of runners).” 

“There could be some additional paths as some features are not that easy to walk to 

across the park. For example, to the model railway. More of a feature could be made of 

that end of the park.” 

It would be good if there was an all-weather path that goes behind the park. It would 

certainly very nice to have an all-weather track that runs around the perimeter of the 

car park.” 

“If you are walking or running around the park it is difficult to find a route that does not 

cross traffic. If you go from wildwood to the tennis court you have to go through the 

car park at the bowling club. 

“There is a path that runs past the river so it has got those good links. Access is okay – 

the downside is the parkway that is running through the northern edge of the park. It 

was built in the 1930’s and cannot be blocked off due to the traffic.” 

 

5.5 Safety 
Stoke Park was perceived as a safe area as Guildford is, in general. Any perceptions of crime and 

anti-social behaviour stem from isolated incidents or from major events held in the park: 

“Guildford is a safe town. Never had a problem with safety in the park. Even with the 

bonfire event and a lot of people are funneled through a small place but feels safe.” 

“I spend hundreds of hours in this park and it always feels very safe, this is not an issue at 

all at any time of the day.” 

“Safety doesn’t seem to be an issue although additional lighting may be required, as I 

mentioned earlier.” 

“Safe as houses in the park” 

 

“I think if you stay outside on the perimeter of the park, they are reasonably well lit, I 

think it is fine. I think it does feel like a safe park. I chose to walk through the park on the 

Page 157

Agenda item number: 5



 

 

118 
 

 

way to the pub and never felt unsafe. There is a congregation of youths around the 

woods near wildwood but it is not frequent. I have never had any concerns. 

“The funfair is detrimental. There are break-ins, fights and damage – the people it brings 

etc.” 

“ASB comes and goes, we have had car vandalism, a spate of drug using from cars.” 

“More rangers are required as people would feel more secure at night. Many people get 

up and leave litter so more staff would help.” 

“I would say dog dirt is an issue, not getting worse but it existed; which from my point of 

view is not good; my clients can stand in it!” 

“I think the park is under resourced; would like to see more wardens; especially in 

summer as that is when there tends to be more issues, for example students leaving 

litter, including broken glass, if they could sweep the park pre-run that would be very 

helpful, especially with regard the children’s run. “ 

 

5.6 Communication 
A key topic that was picked up on during each interview was the relationship between each 

organisation and Guildford Borough Council and further to this, the lack of a communication 

between stakeholders. Mixed levels of satisfaction were expressed towards Guildford Borough 

Council and the Parks and Countryside Team but agreed a more cohesive strategy for organisations 

using Stoke Park could be found: 

“Communication is great from the Council, especially the Parks and Countryside team. 

They also provide the park rangers who are really helpful and user friendly.” 

“We did have an issue with the council re: cancellations but we have a better 

relationship now.  That aid it could still be better; they could anticipate weather 

conditions better.  But in terms of events and when they are happening they are better 

at letting us know.” 

“The council do value what we do and they do support it but they don’t engage with it 

enough.  We speak to the Sports Development Officer and it does feature in the sports 

strategy but I don’t think they use the insight enough, lot of information and statistics 

generated and I am sure they could do more with this information.  The benefits of the 

run could be analysed more for things like improved community cohesion.” 

“Spectrum has close links with The Council. Spectrum has no influence over the events 

but wish they did. GBC work with Spectrum to work with the park management team 

to mitigate the events impact on Stoke Park and also Guildford Borough Council. The 

working relationship is good.” 

“Information provision is okay” 

Page 158

Agenda item number: 5



 

 

119 
 

 

“The management of the park changes all the time. No decision can be made quickly. 

Idea, then a number of committee meetings and then get an answer that states – ‘no, 

we can’t do that’. Simple ideas take forever to administer.” 

“As a key user of the park I do not have a relationship with the council, I don’t think 

there is many of them left, the management isn’t great, it needs a focus.  I see the dog 

warden but that is the only council personnel I ever see.  It seems fragmented and fairly 

light.” 

“I do not receive any communications from the park and I know the Park run team get 

frustrated around the lack of notice in terms of cancellations. Needs single 

ownership/point of contact, this would help improve communications and 

understanding.” 

“Relationships could be improved between stakeholders in the park to improve 

consultation and direction in the park.” 

 

5.7 Further Development 
When considering the future of Stoke Park, a sense of apprehension was expressed by some 

stakeholders who considered the design of the park to be fine as it is and that is should 

continue to fulfil its role as a wild and open space within Guildford. Others, in addition to 

aforementioned improvements, thought that the land could be better utilised and there are 

opportunities to assess the design of Stoke Park moving forward: 

“Wildwood was built on a bit of woodland that wasn’t used for anything so it is fine. 

It is not as busy as it might be. I haven’t been to the children’s playground so I can’t 

comment on it as my children are grown up. There’s a bit of woodland between the 

spectrum and the hotel. If that was developed it might enhance the park.” 

“The space in the middle is only used by dog owners, weekend sports and the park 

run. 95% the park is not being used.” 

“I think existing features need promoting more and a quiet area would be good, 

they have tried this but it has been hijacked a little.  The current space designated 

for this has lost its role really.” 

“There is an area near Burchatts Farm which is a little run down and could be 

improved. Seems to be a forgotten area. An arts hub could be created?” 

“The land here at the nursery could be better utilised, greenhouses are not being 

used, it could be another base for community clubs (Guildford scouts, us and others) 

but there is no other areas that I can think of that could be utilised.” 

“The South of the park is not used enough in general; it could be used and promoted 

more.” 

Page 159

Agenda item number: 5



 

 

120 
 

 

“The design of the park is great as it is; the tress, undulating and different and 

varied services existing within the park.” 

“I think the park has got a wide range of things and may not suit some people but 

others will. It is hard to be in Guildford and not appreciate Stoke Park. You can 

appreciate the flowers as you go past. It’s a nice place that people can enjoy and it’s 

not a place to be messed with.” 

“I think we have the balance is right. I would see it underdeveloped rather than 

overdeveloped. It is a lung for Guildford.” 

“The Park should look exactly the same. It was gifted to Guildford for the people to use a 
lung. There is a really nice atmosphere in the summer, where dog walkers can come and 

people with no gardens to play sports. If you haven’t got much money you go to Stoke Park 
and use the facilities. It is a resource for people of all backgrounds to enjoy.” 

 
“I just wouldn’t change it at all (the park). It’s just a lovely green space that’s quite 

undulating. It has some lovely trees in it that look great at this time of year. It’s a 

lovely open space that makes you feel that it is not in a town centre.” 

  

Page 160

Agenda item number: 5



 

 

121 
 

 

6.0 Appendix 

6.1 Users Questionnaire 

 

Page 161

Agenda item number: 5



 

 

122 
 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 162

Agenda item number: 5



 

 

123 
 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 163

Agenda item number: 5



 

 

124 
 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 164

Agenda item number: 5



 

 

125 
 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 165

Agenda item number: 5



 

 

126 
 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 166

Agenda item number: 5



 

 

127 
 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 167

Agenda item number: 5



 

 

128 
 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 168

Agenda item number: 5



 

 

129 
 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 169

Agenda item number: 5



 

 

130 
 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 170

Agenda item number: 5



 

 

131 
 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 171

Agenda item number: 5



 

 

132 
 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 172

Agenda item number: 5



 

 

133 
 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 173

Agenda item number: 5



 

 

134 
 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 174

Agenda item number: 5



 

 

135 
 

 

6.2 Non-Users Questionnaire 

 

 

 

Page 175

Agenda item number: 5



 

 

136 
 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 176

Agenda item number: 5



 

 

137 
 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 177

Agenda item number: 5



 

 

138 
 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 178

Agenda item number: 5



 

 

139 
 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 179

Agenda item number: 5



 

 

140 
 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 180

Agenda item number: 5



 

 

141 
 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 181

Agenda item number: 5



 

 

142 
 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 182

Agenda item number: 5



 

 

143 
 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 183

Agenda item number: 5



 

 

144 
 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 184

Agenda item number: 5



 

 

145 
 

 

 

Page 185

Agenda item number: 5



Stoke Park Masterplan 
 

 

Appendix 3   

Green Flag 

The Green Flag award is a national scheme run by the environmental charity Keep Britain Tidy. It recognises and rewards 

the very best green spaces, which are assessed according to eight strict criteria. These include sustainability, community 

involvement, horticultural standards and cleanliness - setting a benchmark of excellence in recreational green areas. They 

then provide a feedback report.  Below is 2018’s report for Stoke Park: 

 The combination of Summary Plan (2018-2028) and Management Plan (2018-2023) are really impressive.  

 Good systems in place covering the scale and complexity of the operation. Important to see training a priority for 

staff, and joint working with the local Police. Finally, important to have DPPOs in place.   

 Relevant inventories and systems recorded. 

 The use of software such as Orchard, Fulcrum etc. is very positive. 

 Different teams operate different systems/frequencies across the Park. However, the whole site was very clean, so 

in this case an informal approach works.  

 Good policies in place for water saving, use of green waste and energy reduction.   

 Developing wildlife corridors, dead wood habitats and regular ecology reports all looks positive.  

 The GBC website is good and the associated event listings add to the significant profile. 

 The Summary Plan is a great communication tool, particularly for the many partners. 

 We really liked the Key Facts sections. 

P
age 186

A
genda item

 num
ber: 5



Stoke Park Masterplan 
 

 

 The two documents provide an excellent direction and rationale for the strong operational performance, and will 

allow GBC to take the site forward.       

 The 2014 Stoke Park Review is a good document, contained within the Management Plan, and raises some 

challenging points for the Master Plan, such as the car parking, the treescape, or the best way to bring together the 

various disparate businesses and attractions. All challenges you would expect from a well-used, well-loved, and 

well-managed facility.  

 A good first impression on reaching the site. Clean and tidy with appropriate facilities and furnishings.  

 All key facilities were well maintained and where problems had been experienced (i.e. the Paddling Pool) the public 

were being kept informed of progress.  

 There were no signs of litter, graffiti or dog waste. A very clean site. 

 We liked the long grass areas, the mixed recycling bins and the fact that the site was self-sufficient in green waste. 

 Good work with the wooded margins and the impressive tree collection. 

 The Park’s older features, such as paddling and boating pools and Japanese Garden were all being cared for. Not a 

straightforward task. And the new tennis courts within the Walled Garden was an innovative idea 

 There were Friends, clubs, users and partner businesses at every point. A truly busy site. 

 Good on-site information on the various options and areas. Greatly helped by social media. 

 Great work from the management team. 

 The full ‘in-house’ delivery of grounds maintenance is unusual these days but when it works, it is impressive.   

 So nice to meet members of staff who have such long service. To clear 40 years and still be going strong is 

exceptional.   

 With the Master Plan to follow, soon this will help take the site forward. 

 As last year’s judge said…’A park with great potential going forward’….We agree.    

P
age 187

A
genda item

 num
ber: 5



Stoke Park Masterplan 
 

Appendix 4   

Proposed Masterplan Brief with Aligned Evidence Base  

 

Masterplan brief to improve visitor 

experience: 

 

1. Replace the small kiosk with a 

new park café with covered 

outdoor space and public toilets 

in a relevant and appropriate 

location 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Supporting evidence: 

 

 Only a third of users satisfied with the current offering 

 8 out of 10 users felt that catering facilities should be 

improved 

 Of the users who specified a lack of facilities as a 

reason why they do not visit Stoke Park more 

frequently, almost half said that café facilities should 

be improved 

 Current facilities were described as basic 

 A covered seating area and facilities open all year 

(both 73%) were seen as the main features that 

would encourage use of catering facilities 

 Respondents showed higher levels of dissatisfaction 

towards toilet facilities (27%) 

 Review and improve catering facilities Stoke Park Action 

Plan (Summary Management Plan) 

P
age 188

A
genda item

 num
ber: 5



Stoke Park Masterplan 
 

 

 

 

2. Play area – Refresh the existing 

play area including examination 

of size of play area, equipment, 

and facilities. Include options for 

additional play facilities and 

opportunities across Stoke Park 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 Over 68% said that they would choose to invest in the 

play area 

 71% said a playground was important when visiting a 

park or open space; 43% said it was very important 

 Two-thirds (66%) were satisfied with the play areas    

 

The contradiction between a high level of satisfaction 

with the current facilities and the numbers of 

respondents choosing to invest in the play area may 

be explained by the importance that visitors place on 

a good play area.  It may also reflect the high level of 

satisfaction with the paddling pool, if assumed part of 

the park’s play facilities, as well as satisfaction with 

maintenance of the play area. 

          

P
age 189

A
genda item

 num
ber: 5



Stoke Park Masterplan 
 

 

3. Parking – examine how 

additional car parking can be 

provided to facilitate use of the 

site within the restrictions of the 

Surrey Act (1/12
th

 of the area of 

Stoke Park), taking into account 

any affects from the proposed 

Parking Order 

 

__________________________ 

 

4. Heritage – Consider how heritage 

assets can be found, conserved, 

enhanced, interpreted and 

explored 

 

 

 

 

 43% felt the availability of parking spaces was poor or 

very poor 

 Over half (55%) wanted to see an improvement or 

investment in car parks 

 Only 25% would like an increased number of car 

parks  

 

________________________________________ 

 

 79% want the park heritage features protected and 

enhanced (but only 34% think investment is needed) 

 Three-fifths (63%) said it would be helpful and 

interesting to have more information on the history of 

Stoke Park 

 Half (47%) said they would increase the number of 

P
age 190

A
genda item

 num
ber: 5



Stoke Park Masterplan 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

____________________________ 

 

5. Hard Infrastructure – examine the 

accessibility of the park including 

footpaths, signage, seating and 

drainage for the park and to 

wider environs 

 

 

 

heritage features (presumably reflecting the desire to 

improve the visitor experience) 

 

 Awareness of the park’s heritage features was 

relatively low.  Less than half were aware of the 

Japanese garden (45%), veteran parkland trees 

(43%), Memory Meadow (36%), WW2 tank trap 

defences (34%), model farm (21%) 

 Conserve and repair heritage features. Stoke Park Action 

Plan (Stoke Park Summary Management Plan) 

_______________________________________ 

 

 33% think the park footpaths should be invested 

in/improved, half wanted an increased number 

 20% are dissatisfied with the picnic and seating 

opportunities in the park 

 “Underground plans for water and drainage that was 

installed probably during the 1930s have never been 

found. Water leaks therefore present a challenge to 

identify and resolve. Replacement of these services 

P
age 191

A
genda item

 num
ber: 5



Stoke Park Masterplan 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

6. Nature and Wildlife – examine 

the opportunities for wildlife and 

nature for the park and links to 

other green spaces 

 

 

 

 

is highly likely to be required as one of the outcomes 

of the Masterplan.” Stoke Park management plan 2018-2023 

 

 Green Flag criteria: ‘The overall impression for any 

member of the community approaching and entering 

the Park should be positive and inviting, regardless of 

the purpose for which they are visiting’. 

_____________________________________________ 

 

 59% want more areas for nature and wildlife 

 40% would like more trees 

 43% want improvement/investment in nature and 

wildlife, 37% want an increased number 

 Various actions for conservation within the Stoke 

Park Summary Management plan and Ecology 

Surveys 

 

 

P
age 192

A
genda item

 num
ber: 5



Stoke Park Masterplan 
 

 

7. Parks Assets – consider the 

Stoke Park assets and provide 

options and proposals that 

contribute to the park and to the 

Council’s corporate objectives 

and strategies including Home 

Farm, Stoke Park Nursery, 

Greenark and disused pavilions. 

______________________________ 

 

Strategies to support the Masterplan: 

 

8. Parks Strategy - listed in the 

corporate plan for delivery in 

2021- A broader strategy to 

support overall service delivery 

including Stoke Park. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

_____________________________________________ 

 

Supporting evidence: 

 

 Over three-quarters of visitors (79%) visit Stoke Park 

more than any other park or open space 

 Non-users - Around three-quarters (74%) had visited 

a park or open space other than Stoke park in the last 

year 

 

P
age 193

A
genda item

 num
ber: 5



Stoke Park Masterplan 
 

 

 

9. Pitch and Sports/Playing Pitch 

Strategy - listed in the corporate 

plan for delivery in 2021. This will 

be used to assess pitch provision 

and delivery across the borough 

including Stoke Park. 

 

 

10. Parks Events Policy and Strategy 

- listed in the corporate plan for 

delivery in 2021.  This will be 

used to inform how we enable 

events and where they should 

occur across the Council’s parks 

and open spaces. 

 

 

 

 

 82% felt the role of Stoke Park was to provide 

facilities for organised sport 

 60% want increased number of grass and artificial 

sports pitches 

 Over half were satisfied with the range of sports & 

clubs, the sports pitches/greens and tennis courts 

(note: the topography of Stoke Park means pitches 

are not flat, which tends to be preferred)  

 

 

 Less than half (44%) thought there should be more 

events and activities 

 78% would like outdoor theatre, large screen cinema 

and small/informal/free music events, along with 

health and wellbeing activities (82%) in the annual 

events programme 

 

P
age 194

A
genda item

 num
ber: 5



Stoke Park Masterplan 
 

 

 

11. Day to Day Management: 

 

 

“Our vision for Stoke Park is to 

conserve its historic parkland 

character and develop a vibrant 

destination park through a culture of 

excellence and good recreational 

opportunities.” Stoke Park 

management plan 2018-2023 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 Refer to Stoke Park management plan and summary 

plan (both available by request) 

 

 61% dissatisfied with the marketing of the park – 
improve online marketing  
 

 50% of non-users are more likely to visit because of 
the Green Flag award – continue to promote and 
engage in Green Flag 
 

 26% would like more community involvement with the 
park and forums for organisations – Development of 
stakeholder engagement and the existing friends of 
Stoke Park group  
 

 Develop a Stoke Park Parkland Trees and Woodland 
Management Plan 
 

 Stoke Park centenary celebrations in 2025 

P
age 195

A
genda item

 num
ber: 5



T
his page is intentionally left blank



UPDATE / PROGRESS WITH MATTERS PREVIOUSLY CONSIDERED BY THE PLACE-MAKING AND INNOVATION EAB 
 

 

Date of 
Meeting 

 

Item Lead Officer Lead Councillor Action Agreed Progress to Date 

04-Apr-16 The Future of 
Guildford 
Museum 

Peter O’Connell 
Director of 
Environment 
Jill Draper 
Heritage Manager 

Cllr Nikki Nelson-
Smith (previously 
Cllr Geoff Davis) 

The Board fully supported the 
recommendations for the 
Executive’s consideration on 19 
April 2016 and subject to its 
approval, looked forward to the 
reinvention and development of 
Guildford Museum as part of 
Guildford’s ‘Heritage Quarter’. 

The Executive noted the EAB’s 
comments and agreed: 
(1) To commission a feasibility and 
costing report for the proposed new 
build extension to the current 
Museum buildings and approved 
the vision of developing an updated 
and exciting museum offering at 
that site. 
(2) To transfer £240,000 from the 
provisional capital programme 
(ED18(p) Museum and Castle 
Development scheme to the 
approved capital programme to 
carry out the work referred to in 
paragraph (1) above. 
(3) To authorise the Director of 
Environment, in consultation with 
the Lead Councillor for Economic 
Development, Heritage and 
Tourism: 
(i) to establish a Development 
Group, consisting of internal 
representatives and external 
partners, to assist in the delivery of 
improvements to the Museum; and 
(ii) to develop a fundraising 
strategy and related fundraising 
committee with a view to identifying 
and securing external grants and 
funding for improvements to the 
Museum. 
 
(4) To request the Museum 
Working Group to review and make 

P
age 197

A
genda item

 num
ber: 6



recommendations on the future of 
the Victorian Schoolroom, including 
the possible sale of 39½ Castle 
Street, should the Schoolroom be 
discontinued. 
 
(5) To approve the Action Plan and 
request the Museum Working 
Group to continue its work to 
deliver the Action Plan. 
 
The item was brought back to the 
Board on 9 April 2018 when it 
agreed that the Museum should be 
wider than Guildford in appeal in 
the interests of viability and that it 
should be centred on Guildford 
consisting of the various themes 
put forward including the creativity 
and innovation strands. 
 

13-Apr-16 Proposed 
Submission: 
Local Plan: 
Strategy and 
Sites 

Stuart Harrison 
Planning Policy 
Manager 

Cllr Paul Spooner The Board agreed to submit the 
following comments to the 
Executive: 
 
(1) To consider the Board’s 
overwhelming concern about the 
lack of adequate infrastructure to 
support planned development 
particularly in its rural areas.  
Sufficient infrastructure should be 
delivered when needed to support 
the cumulative impact of 
development in the future, in 
particular for sites that are too 
small to provide their own 
infrastructure directly themselves, 
but which cumulatively would 
have an impact. 
 
(2) To give assurance and 

At its special meeting on 11 May 
2016, the Executive noted the 
EAB’s comments and 
recommended to full Council that 
the draft Local Plan: strategy and 
sites document be approved for 
public consultation, subject to:• the 
removal of site allocation policy 
A43 Land around Burnt Common 
warehouse, London Road, Send, 
and • replacement of site allocation 
policy A43 with a new site to the 
east of Burnt Common Lane, south 
of Portsmouth Road, and north of 
the A3 known as Garlick’s Arch, 
Send Marsh/Burnt Common and 
Ripley. 
 

P
age 198

A
genda item

 num
ber: 6



guarantee that infrastructure 
improvements would be delivered 
in time to support planned growth. 
 
(3) To consider reviewing the 
methodology employed in the 
Green Belt and Countryside 
Study, specifically in relation to 
deciding between, low, medium 
and high sensitivity areas.  This 
would ensure that it was 
defensible when examined by the 
Secretary of State. 
 
(4) To support the strongest 
worded affordable housing policy 
we can have within the remit of 
sustainable development. 
 
(5) To safeguard green spaces 
and green approaches in 
Guildford Town and its 
surrounding countryside so to 
enhance the quality of life for all. 
 
(6) To review whether a higher 
windfall assumption is justified. 
 

23-May-16 Implications for 
Guildford of the 
Surrey 
Infrastructure 
Study 

Tracey Coleman 
Director of 
Planning and 
Regeneration 

Cllr Matt Furniss The Board acknowledged that the 
Surrey Infrastructure Study had 
provided a useful framework to 
look at the infrastructural 
challenges that faced Guildford 
whilst also acknowledging the 
number of caveats that existed.  
The Board also recognised the 
significant work that had already 
been undertaken to bridge 
funding gaps and looked forward 
to the development and 
implementation of Guildford’s 

On 21 November 2017 full Council 
considered the Infrastructure Plan 
and approved the draft Local Plan: 
Strategy and Sites document for 
submission to the Secretary of 
State for the purpose of proceeding 
to and through the Examination in 
Public process. 

P
age 199

A
genda item

 num
ber: 6



Infrastructure Plan overall. 
 

11-Jul-16 Stoke Park 
Masterplan 

Paul Stacey 
Parks and 
Landscape 
Manager 

Cllr David Bilbé 
(previously Cllr 
Richard 
Billington) 

The Board fully endorsed the 
formation of a project board.  The 
Parks and Landscape Manager 
would be invited back to the 
Borough, Economy and 
Infrastructure meeting in a year’s 
time to look at setting up a project 
board and how to take this 
forward. 
 

The Board will invite back Paul 
Stacey to a meeting in 
approximately one year for an 
update on the establishment of a 
project board.  The Masterplan is 
being considered by the EAB at its 
meeting on 15 October 2018. 
 

31-Oct-16 Multi-Use Sports 
and 
Entertainment 
Facility 

Jonathan Sewell 
Leisure Services 
Manager 

Cllr Iseult Roche 
(previously Cllr 
Richard 
Billington) 

For information item.  The Board 
made a number of comments for 
the Lead Councillor to consider. 

A viability study and public 
consultation programme to be 
developed. 
10/11/17 update from Jonathan 
Sewell: The item that went to the 
EAB covered two linked items; the 
above and “complete the 
refurbishment of Guildford 
Spectrum including the roof, the air 
handling system and other 
improvements”. The new facility 
was secondary to undertaking the 
necessary maintenance so that a 
window of opportunity was created 
to plan and progress a replacement 
for the Spectrum. An alternate 
scheme has been developed and 
contractors procured. Progress in 
key aspects:- 
• Work underway for the revised 
roof maintenance by over roofing 
the pools and applying a liquid 
plastic treatment to the other roofs 
to eliminate/reduce water ingress. 
Drip trays installed at various 
locations around the building to 
deal with leaks from the internal 
gutters. This work is nearly 
finished. Work being undertaken by 

P
age 200

A
genda item

 num
ber: 6



Southern Industrial Roofing is 
programmed to be finished by 
December 23. 
•Steelwork repairs in the Pools Hall 
are almost complete. Contractors 
are completing final tasks in the 
Pools Hall, including additional 
repairs identified as a result of 
increased access. Repair 
programme has been extensive 
and all structural steelwork has 
been painted, roof purlins and 
some other areas normally difficult 
to access cleaned.  Final repairs 
and snagging have been delayed 
by some maintenance Freedom 
Leisure have commissioned the 
contractors to do at the same time 
and unfortunately their work has 
over run resulting in the Leisure 
pool being closed longer than the 
original programme. Leisure Pool is 
due to reopen 25 November 
following completion of the 
Freedom Leisure works. 
• Repairs to smoke vents are 
ongoing with scaffold at various 
corridor locations around the 
building.  This work is scheduled to 
be completed by December 20 
however, we are trying to push the 
contractors to an earlier completion 
date. These works are not affecting 
the customer’s ability to use the 
facilities. 
• The Air Handling Unit in the 
Leisure Pool has been through an 
initial phase of upgrades. The 
upgrades are split into two possible 
phases, if the initial phase achieves 
the target air flow the second 

P
age 201

A
genda item

 num
ber: 6



phase of upgrades will not be 
necessary. If the second phase is 
necessary it can be done without 
impacting on the customer. 
• The project works will cost less 
than £3m to complete (excludes 
the revenue impact of the closures 
which is likely to be circa £280k) 
and has been geared to a minimum 
ten year life span for the building. 
• Our project closed the 
competition, the dive and the 
teaching pools for a period of four 
weeks from 7th August. 
Subsequent restrictions on access 
to the Dive pool has been due to 
Freedom Leisure works to the dive 
boards and platforms. Our project 
closed the Leisure Pool for 46 days 
from September 4th, subsequent 
periods of closure of the Leisure 
Pool has been due to Freedom 
Leisure maintenance works. There 
have been some other minor 
impacts on customer access due to 
our projects, however these have 
been insignificant. 
• There has been some 
background research on potential 
inclusion of facilities in a new 
facility, however the work on this 
will not commence in earnest until 
this maintenance programme is 
complete. This is as per the paper 
presented to the EAB. 

09-Jan-17 M25 Junction 
10/A3 Wisley 
Interchange 
Consultation 

Graham Brown 
Atkins Local and 
Hugh Coakley 
Highways Agency 

Cllr Matt Furniss The Board made a number of 
recommendations to be submitted 
as part of the initial consultation. 

The proposed timeline included a 
period of non-statutory public 
consultation on 16 Feb 2017 and a 
preferred route announcement in 
August 2017.  The statutory public 
consultation took place from 

P
age 202

A
genda item

 num
ber: 6



October 2017 – February 2018.  A 
DCO application proposed in July 
2018 with construction anticipated 
to start in March 2020 and opened 
to traffic in March 2023. 
 
The Board welcomed further input 
at a later stage. 
 

20-Apr-17 Proposed 
Submission 
(Local Plan) 

Tracey Coleman Cllr Paul Spooner The Board recommended that the 
draft Local Plan as submitted to 
the Board, be approved for formal 
public consultation for a period of 
six weeks beginning 9 June 2017 
– 24 July 2017 subject to one 
amendment. 

The Local Plan was taken to the 
Executive on 16 May 2017 and 
incorporated the Board’s 
comments. 
 

13-Sep-17 Bike Share 
Scheme 

Rob Curtis 
Major Transport 
Planner 

Cllr Matt Furniss The Board: 
• supported undertaking a 
feasibility study for a bikeshare 
scheme; 
• felt it was important that if there 
were different bikeshare schemes 
in Guildford that they be 
compatible, although not 
necessarily the same provider; 
• supported traditional docking 
over free-floating but felt the 
feasibility study could examine 
both; 
• felt options for the capital and 
revenue costs be examined, 
including a capital-free scheme; 
• advised the locations of docking 
stations should not be confined to 
the town centre; infrastructure 
improvements were important to 
the scheme. 
 
Suggested: 
• the BID and other retailers be 

The Bike Share Scheme will be the 
subject of a future EAB briefing.  
The Innovation Board has 
suggested that the scheme is 
combined with that of the 
University of Surrey. 

P
age 203

A
genda item

 num
ber: 6



consulted over the proposed 
scheme; 
• opportunities to link the bike 
share scheme to other corporate 
ambitions; and  
• any legal or liability implications 
from introducing a public bike 
share scheme. 
 

13-Sep-17 Electric Cars Kevin McKee 
Parking Services 
Manager 

Cllr Gordon 
Jackson 

Board members suggested the 
development of an app for an 
electrical charging reservation 
system. 
 

Autonomous and connected cars 
are amongst the innovation 
projects being considered by the 
Innovation Strategy Board. 

16-Oct-17 Residential 
Extensions and 
Alterations 
Supplementary 
Planning 
Document (SPD) 

 

Meave Faulkner 
Design and 
Conservation 
Team leader 

Cllr Paul Spooner The Design and Conservation 
Team Leader agreed to look 
again at proposed timescales.  
and to discuss the Board's 
concerns with officers. 
The Lead Councillor for Housing 
and Environment agreed to speak 
to the Lead Councillor for 
Planning and Regeneration to 
determine whether additional 
resources could be put into place 
to ensure that the design guide, 
including the residential 
extensions guidance, was 
complete by the time the new 
Local Plan came into force. 
The Board expressed an urgent 
wish to have a task group, so that 
elected members could have 
input into the process. 
 

The Task Group, entitled the 
Planning Policy and Housing 
Delivery Board, was established in 
November 2017 and has met on 
several occasions. 
 
The EAB considered the outcomes 
of the consultation exercise relating 
to the SPD at its meeting on 10 
September 2018 and made the 
following points which were noted / 
agreed: 

The reference to Neighbourhood 
Plans on page 4 of the SPD would 
be highlighted and strengthened 
including identification of the areas 
with such Plans in place. 

Although dark skies were not a 
planning issue, a further SPD being 
prepared would address light 
spillage. Individual situations and 
areas would dictate acceptability. 

Alternatives to the 45 degree 
guide applied to windows serving 
habitable rooms would be added to 
the document. 

P
age 204

A
genda item

 num
ber: 6



An explanation of balcony roof 
lights, which would generally be 
resisted owing to their impact on 
privacy, would be added to the 
document. 

Photographs in the document 
would be referenced and enlarged 
in the interests of clarity. 

Developers were encouraged to 
provide larger sized garages in 
new developments to house bins 
etc. 

The boundary treatment section 
on page 38 would be expanded on 
the subject of fence height and 
style. 
 

19-Feb-17 What can be 
done to speed up 
housing delivery 
in Guildford? 
 

Tim Dawes 
Planning 
Development 
Manager and 
Nick Molyneux 
Housing 
Development 
Manager 
 

Cllr Philip Brooker The Board agreed to set up a 
Task Group comprised of four 
members from the Borough EAB.  
The Task Group, whose role has 
now been absorbed into the new 
Planning Policy and Housing 
Delivery Board, will assist that 
Board in identifying quick wins to 
speed up housing delivery in 
Guildford. 
 

20/02/2018 Email sent to members 
of Borough EAB to confirm their 
interest in the Task Group. 
 
The Masterplan is being 
considered by the EAB at its 
meeting on 15 October 2018. 

 

P
age 205

A
genda item

 num
ber: 6



T
his page is intentionally left blank



EXECUTIVE ADVISORY BOARD WORK PROGRAMME 
 

Corporate Plan items are intended to give the EABs an early opportunity to consider major policies or projects. 
 

PLACE-MAKING AND INNOVATION EAB 
15 OCTOBER 2018 

Item Additional information Corporate Plan 
Priority 

Relevant 
Councillor(s) 

Lead officer Target 
completion 

Stoke Park Masterplan 

(Item moved from 
September meeting) 
 

First taken to the Board July 2016. Request 
to return in approximately 1 year. 

 

Yes Cllr David Bilbé Paul Stacey, Parks and 
Landscape Manager 

2020 

What can we do to 
speed up housing 
delivery? 
(Item moved from 
September meeting) 

 

Detailed discussion covering lobbying of 
developers and monitoring their 
development projections; additional training 
to Planning Committee members about 
development likely to win on appeal; review 
pre-application processes; review planning 
conditions; use of modular (pre-fab) 
buildings; and self-build. 
 

Yes Cllr Philip 
Brooker 

Tim Dawes 
Planning Development 
Manager 
 

 

18 FEBRUARY 2019 

Item Additional information Corporate Plan 
Priority 

Relevant 
Councillor(s) 

Lead officer Target 
completion 

E Cluster Strategy / 
Digital Games Industry 

 

To explore the development of a bespoke 
business plan to support the Gaming 
Industry in Guildford. 

Yes Cllr Gordon 
Jackson 

Chris Burchell, Local 
Economy Manager 
 

 

08 APRIL 2019 

Item Additional information Corporate Plan 
Priority 

Relevant 
Councillor(s) 

Lead officer Target 
completion 

      

 
 
 
 
 

P
age 207

A
genda item

 num
ber: 7



EXECUTIVE ADVISORY BOARD WORK PROGRAMME 
 

Unscheduled items 
 

Place Making and Innovation EAB 

Item Additional information Corporate Plan 
Priority? 

Relevant Lead 
Councillor(s) 

Lead officer Target 
completion  

Internal ‘Smart’ Project 
Innovation Strands 

Suggested by the Innovation Strategy 
Board on 10 April 2018. 

Yes Various Chris Burchell, Local 
Economy Manager 

 

Implications for 
Guildford of the ‘Surrey 
Infrastructure Study’ 

 

To receive an update on the programme 
and detail of work undertaken once the 
Local Plan has been approved. 
 

Yes Cllr Matt Furniss Tracey Coleman 
Director of Planning and 
Regeneration 

 

Tourism 

 

Suggested at the EAB / O&S Work 
Programme meeting on 3 September 2018. 
 

No Cllr Nikki Nelson-
Smith 

Diana Roberts 
Marketing and Tourism 
Development Manager 

 

Future Use of 
Foxenden Deep Shelter 

On 10 September 2018 the Board indicated 
its support for the Executive Shareholder 
and Trustee Committee to authorise the 
undertaking of a public consultation 
concerning the removal of the restrictive 
covenants and the grant of a lease of the 
Shelter and wished to have input into the 
potential alternative future uses of the 
Shelter, possibly including a heritage 
element. 
 

No Cllr Nigel 
Manning 

Alex Duggan 
Property Surveyor 

 

Future Plans and 
Progress on the 
Regeneration of 
Guildford Town Centre 
 

Agreed at the Executive Advisory Board on 
10 September 2018. 

Yes Cllr Paul 
Spooner / Cllr 
Geoff Davis 

Tracey Coleman 
Director of Planning and 
Regeneration 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 208

A
genda item

 num
ber: 7



EXECUTIVE ADVISORY BOARD WORK PROGRAMME 
 

Briefings 
 
Place Making and Innovation Executive Advisory Board 

Item Additional information Corporate Plan 
Priority 

Relevant 
Councillor(s) 

Lead officer Target 
completion 

A331 Road Junction 
Improvement Scheme 

 

To receive an update on the A331 
Improvements Project. 

Yes Cllr Matt Furniss Tracey Coleman 
Director of Planning and 
Regeneration 

 

Bike Share Scheme Update to the Borough EAB on the Bike 
Share Scheme (suggest the scheme is 
combined with that of UoS). 

Yes Cllr Matt Furniss Rob Curtis 
Transport Strategy 
Project Manager 
 

 

ICT Strategy Suggested at the Work Programming 
meeting on 12 June 2018 to explore future 
ICT working options, linking with the 
Innovation Strategy. 
 

 Cllr Matt Furniss Adrian Hudson 
ICT Manager 

 

 
 

P
age 209

A
genda item

 num
ber: 7



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	4 To Report on the Findings of the Planning Policy and Housing Delivery Board Sub Group
	Item 4 (1) - 180719 - Planning - Housing Board Minutes - DRAFT (2)
	Item 4 (2) - Appeal data for Housing and policy delivery board Septyember 2018 (2)

	5 Stoke Park Masterplan
	Item 5 - Stoke Park EAB Summary Report  15 October 2018
	Item 5 - Cover Crocus
	Item 5 (1) - Appendix 1 - Discover Stoke Park
	Item 5 (2a) - Appendix 2a - Stoke Park consultation
	Item 5 (2b) - Appendix 2b - GBC Stoke Park Consultation Report 2017-18
	Item 5 (3) - Appendix 3 - Green Flag report
	Item 5 (4) - Appendix 4 - Masterplan Brief with Evidence Base

	6 Progress with Items Previously Considered by the EAB
	7 EAB Work Programme

